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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2017
Or
o

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission File Number 000-50194

HMS HOLDINGS CORP.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization)

11-3656261
(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

5615 High Point Drive, Irving, TX
(Address of principal executive offices)

75038
(Zip Code)

(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code)
(214) 453-3000
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such
reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x
No o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every
Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during
the preceding 12 months (or for shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). x Yes o No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller
reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” “smaller
reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):
Large accelerated filer x

Accelerated filer o

Non-accelerated filer o
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Smaller reporting company o
Emerging growth company o

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for
complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes o

No x

As of May 31, 2017, there were approximately 83,909,845 shares of the registrant’s common stock (par value $0.01 per share)
outstanding.
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Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations
2016 Form 10-K
ACA
ACO
ADR
ALJ
ASC
ASO
CHIP
CMS
CMS NHE Projections
CMS Reserve
COSO
DMD
DRA
DSO
ERISA
Exchange Act
FASB
FFS
HIPAA
HITECH
IRS
LIBOR
Medicare Advantage
MMIS
PBM
PHI
PI
R&D Credits
RAC
RFI
RFP
SEC
Securities Act
Section 199 Deduction
SG&A
TPL
U.S. GAAP
VHA
Credit Agreement

2006 Stock Plan
2011 HDI Plan
2016 Omnibus Plan
401(k) Plan

Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016
Patient Protections and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010
Accountable Care Organizations
Additional Documentation Request
Administrative Law Judges
Accounting Standards Codification
Administrative Service Only
Children's Health Insurance Program
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services National Health Expenditures
Estimated liability for appeals associated with our contract with CMS
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
Domestic Manufacturing Deduction
Deficit Reduction Act of 2005
Days Sales Outstanding
Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
Financial Accounting Standards Board
Fee For Services
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996
Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
U.S Internal Revenue Service
Intercontinental Exchange London Interbank Offered Rate
Medicaid and Medicare managed care
Medicaid Management Information Systems
Pharmacy Benefit Managers
Protected health information
Payment Integrity
Research and Development Tax Credits
Recovery Audit Contractor
Request for information
Request for proposals
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
Securities Act of 1933, as amended
U.S. Production activities deduction
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Third-party liability
United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
Veterans Health Administration
The Credit Agreement dated December 16, 2011 among HMS Holdings Corp., the Guarantor Party
thereto, the Lenders party thereto and Citibank, N.A. as Administrative Agent, as amended and restated
in its entirety by the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of May 3, 2013 among HMS
Holdings Corp., the Guarantor Party thereto, the Lenders party thereto and Citibank, N. A. as
Administrative Agent, as amended
HMS Holdings Corp. Fourth Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Plan
HDI Holdings, Inc. Amended 2011 Stock Option and Stock Issuance Plan
HMS Holdings Corp. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan
HMS Holdings Corp. 401(k) Plan
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of HMS Holdings Corp. (together with its subsidiaries “HMS,” the “Company,” “we,” “our”
or “us”) contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
From time to time, we also provide forward-looking statements in other materials we release to the public, as well as oral forwardlooking statements. Such statements give our current expectations or forecasts of future events; they do not relate strictly to
historical or current facts.
We have tried, wherever possible, to identify such statements by using words such as “aim,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “forecast,” “intend,” “likely,” “may,” “plan,” “project,” “seek,” “target,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” and
similar expressions and references to guidance, although some forward-looking statements may be expressed differently. In
particular, these include statements relating to future actions, business plans, objectives and prospects, future operating or financial
performance or results of current and anticipated services, the benefits and synergies to be obtained from completed and future
acquisitions, the future performance of companies we have acquired, sufficiency of our appeals reserves, the future effect of different
accounting determinations or remediation activities, our ability to successfully remediate material weaknesses in our internal
control over financial reporting, our future expenses, interest rates and financial results, and the impact of changes to U.S.
healthcare legislation or healthcare spending affecting Medicare, Medicaid or other publicly funded or subsidized health programs.
Forward-looking statements are not guarantees and involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Actual
results may differ materially from past results and forward-looking statements if known or unknown risks or uncertainties
materialize, or if underlying assumptions prove inaccurate. These risks and uncertainties include, among other things:
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

our ability to execute our business plans or growth strategy;
our ability to innovate, develop or implement new or enhanced solutions or services;
the nature of investment and acquisition opportunities we are pursuing, and the successful execution of such investments and
acquisitions;
our ability to successfully integrate acquired businesses and realize synergies;
variations in our results of operations;
our ability to accurately forecast the revenue under our contracts and solutions;
our ability to protect our systems from damage, interruption or breach, and to maintain effective information and technology
systems and networks;
our ability to protect our intellectual property rights, proprietary technology, information processes, and know-how;
significant competition for our solutions and services;
our failure to maintain a high level of customer retention or the unexpected reduction in scope or termination of key
contracts with major customers;
customer dissatisfaction, our non-compliance with contractual provisions or regulatory requirements;
our failure to meet performance standards triggering significant costs or liabilities under our contracts;
our inability to manage our relationships with information and data sources and suppliers;
reliance on sub-contractors and other third party providers and parties to perform services;
our ability to continue to secure contracts and favorable contract terms through the competitive bidding process and to
prevail in protests or challenges to contract awards;
pending or threatened litigation;
unfavorable outcomes in legal proceedings;
our success in attracting qualified employees and members of our management team;
our ability to generate sufficient cash to cover our interest and principal payments under our credit facility or to borrow or
use credit;
unexpected changes in our effective tax rates;
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§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

unanticipated increases in the number or amount of claims for which we are self-insured;
changes in the U.S. healthcare environment or healthcare financing system, including regulatory, budgetary or political
actions that affect procurement practices and healthcare spending;
our failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations governing individual privacy and information security or to
protect such information from theft and misuse;
negative results of government or customer reviews, audits or investigations;
state or federal limitations related to outsourcing or certain government programs or functions;
restrictions on bidding or performing certain work due to perceived conflicts of interests;
the market price of our common stock and lack of dividend payments; and
anti-takeover provisions in our corporate governance documents.

These and other risks are discussed under the headings “Part I, Item 1. Business,” “Part I . Item 1A, Risk Factors ,” “Part II, Item
7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and “Part II, Item 7A. Quantitative
and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,” of our 2016 Form 10-K and in other documents we file with the SEC.
Any forward-looking statements made by us in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q speak only as of the date on which they are
made. We undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise, except as may be required by law. We caution readers not to place undue reliance upon any of these forwardlooking statements. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects in our Form 10-Q and
Form 8-K reports and our other filings with the SEC.
Market and Industry Data
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains market, industry and government data and forecasts that have been obtained from
publicly available information, various industry publications and other published industry sources. We have not independently
verified the information and cannot make any representation as to the accuracy or completeness of such information. None of the
reports and other materials of third party sources referred to in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q were prepared for use in, or in
connection with, this Quarterly Report.
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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
HMS HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $9,985 and $10,772, at March 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, respectively
Prepaid expenses
Income tax receivable
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Deferred financing costs, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Estimated liability for appeals
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Revolving credit facility
Net deferred tax liabilities
Deferred rent
Other liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Shareholders' equity:
Preferred stock -- $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued
Common stock -- $0.01 par value; 175,000,000 shares authorized; 96,299,517 shares
issued and 83,885,439 shares outstanding at March 31, 2017; 95,966,852 shares issued
and 83,552,774 shares outstanding at December 31, 2016
Capital in excess of par value
Retained earnings
Treasury stock, at cost: 12,414,078 shares at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016

March 31,
2017
(unaudited)
$

168,289

$

166,604
16,376
4,088
568
355,925
93,176
379,716
33,470
2,269
2,566
867,122

$

Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

$

38,593
31,544
70,137

$

175,999

$

173,582
13,699
3,354
1,001
367,635
92,167
379,716
37,797
2,790
2,650
882,755

$

59,402
30,755
90,157

197,796
22,965
5,265
10,127
236,153
306,290

197,796
22,717
5,427
10,048
235,988
326,145

—

—

959
347,805
327,552
(115,484)

959
345,025
326,110
(115,484)

560,832

556,610

867,122

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,
2016

$

882,755

HMS HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
(unaudited)

Revenue
Cost of services:
Compensation
Data processing
Occupancy
Direct project expenses
Other operating expenses
Amortization of acquisition related software and intangible assets
Total cost of services
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income
Basic income per common share:
Net income per common share -- basic
Diluted income per common share:
Net income per common share -- diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic
Diluted

$

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016
113,733 $
119,758

$

48,920
9,783
3,547
10,443
7,203
6,286
86,182
23,608
109,790
3,943
(2,286)
155
1,812
370
1,442 $

$

0.02

$

0.05

$

0.02

$

0.05

83,617
85,580

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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46,401
9,624
3,627
14,483
5,776
7,013
86,924
22,925
109,849
9,909
(2,091)
47
7,865
3,305
4,560

84,033
84,479

HMS HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except share amounts)
(unaudited)
Common Stock

Balance at December 31, 2016
Net income
Stock-based compensation
expense
Exercise of stock options
Vesting of restricted stock units,
net of shares withheld for
employee tax
Balance at March 31, 2017

Treasury Stock

Capital in
# of Shares
Excess of Par Retained
Issued
Par Value
Value
Earnings
95,966,852 $
959 $
345,025 $ 326,110
1,442

Total
Shareholders'
# of Shares Amount
Equity
12,414,078 $ (115,484) $
556,610
1,442

677

-

5,386
2

-

-

-

5,386
2

331,988

-

(2,608)

-

-

-

(2,608)

96,299,517 $

959 $

347,805 $ 327,552

12,414,078 $ (115,484) $

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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560,832

HMS HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016
Operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Stock-based compensation expense
Deferred income taxes
Loss on disposal of assets
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Other assets
Income taxes receivable / (payable)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Estimated liability for appeals
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Purchases of land, property and equipment
Investment in capitalized software
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Payments of tax withholdings on behalf of employees for net-share settlement for stockbased compensation
Payments on capital lease obligations
Net cash used in financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

1,442

$

4,560

6,235
4,327
521
5,386
248
-

6,577
5,043
521
4,240
1,308
10

6,978
(2,677)
433
84
(734)
(19,646)
789
3,386

3,350
(2,362)
328
51
(3,589)
(16,963)
(2,465)
609

(6,282)
(2,206)
(8,488)

(570)
(1,185)
(1,755)

2

26

(2,608)
(2)
(2,608)
(7,710)

(1,002)
(37)
(1,013)
(2,159)

$

175,999
168,289

$

145,610
143,451

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for interest

$
$

734
1,686

$
$

5,052
1,446

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:
Change in balance of accrued property and equipment purchases

$

(1,244) $

122

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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HMS HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2017 and 2016
(unaudited)
1.

Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Business
HMS is a leading provider of cost containment solutions in the U.S. healthcare marketplace. Using innovative technology as well as
extensive data services and powerful analytics, the Company delivers coordination of benefits, payment integrity, and health
management and engagement solutions through its operating subsidiaries to help healthcare payers improve performance and
outcomes. The Company is managed and operates as one business segment with a single management team that reports to the Chief
Executive Officer. The Company serves state Medicaid programs, commercial health plans, federal government health agencies,
government and private employers, child support agencies, and other healthcare payers and sponsors. Together the various services
help the Company’s customers recover improper payments; prevent future improper payments; reduce fraud, waste and abuse; better
manage the care that members receive; and ensure regulatory compliance.
The consolidated financial statements and notes herein are unaudited. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and
notes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. These statements include all adjustments (consisting of normal
recurring accruals) that management considers necessary to present a fair statement of the Company’s results of operations, financial
position and cash flows. The results reported in these unaudited consolidated financial statements should not be regarded as
necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for the entire year. It is suggested that these unaudited consolidated financial
statements be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2016 which were filed with the SEC as part of the 2016 Form 10-K. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016
included herein was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by U.S. GAAP.
The preparation of the Company’s unaudited consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, primarily accounts receivable, intangible assets, fixed assets,
accrued expenses, estimated liability for appeals, the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the unaudited consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. The Company’s actual results
could differ from those estimates.
These unaudited consolidated financial statements include HMS accounts and transactions and those of the Company’s wholly
owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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(b) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
There have been no material changes to the Company’s significant accounting policies that are referenced in the 2016 Form 10-K.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee
Share-Based Payment Accountin g, (“ASU 2016-09”) that changes the accounting for certain aspects of share-based payments to
employees. The new guidance requires excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies to be recorded in the income statement when stock
awards vest or are settled. In addition, cash flows related to excess tax benefits will no longer be separately classified as a financing
activity apart from other income tax cash flows. The standard also allows Companies to repurchase more of an employee’s vesting
shares for tax withholding purposes without triggering liability accounting, clarifies that all cash payments made to tax authorities on
an employee’s behalf for withheld shares should be presented as a financing activity on the cash flows statement and provides an
accounting policy election to account for forfeitures as they occur. ASU 2016-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within such annual reporting periods with early adoption permitted. The
Company elected to early adopt the new guidance in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2016 which requires us to reflect any
adjustments as of January 1, 2016, the beginning of the annual period that includes the interim period of adoption. The primary
impact of adoption was the recognition of excess tax benefits in the provision for income taxes rather than paid-in capital for all
periods in fiscal year 2016. Additional amendments to the accounting for income taxes and minimum statutory withholding tax
requirements had no impact to retained earnings as of January 1, 2016, where the cumulative effect of these changes are required to
be recorded. The Company elected to continue to estimate forfeitures expected to occur to determine the amount of compensation
cost to be recognized in each period. The Company elected to apply the presentation requirements for cash flows related to excess
tax benefits retrospectively to all periods presented which resulted in an increase to both net cash from operations and net cash used
in financing of $0.01 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. Adoption of the new standard resulted in the recognition of
net excess tax benefits in the provision for income taxes rather than paid-in capital of $0.1 million for the three months ended March
31, 2016. The presentation requirements for cash flows related to employee taxes paid for withheld shares had no impact to any of
the periods presented on the consolidated statements of cash flow since such cash flows have historically been presented as a
financing activity.
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes
(“ASU 2015-17”). ASU 2015-17 simplifies the current presentation of separately classifying deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities as current and noncurrent in a classified balance sheet by requiring companies to present them as noncurrent. ASU 201517, as amended, is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within such
annual reporting periods with early adoption permitted. The Company elected to early adopt the new guidance in the fourth quarter
of fiscal year 2016. The Company elected to apply the presentation requirements for the balance sheet retrospectively to all periods
presented which resulted in a decrease to total current assets and total long term liabilities of $7.5 million at December 31, 2016.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (“ASU 2014-09”), which is the
new comprehensive revenue recognition standard that will supersede all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP.
The FASB has recently issued several amendments to the standard, including: principal versus agent considerations; clarification on
accounting for licenses of intellectual property and identifying performance obligations; narrow scope-improvements and practical
expedients; and technical corrections and improvements. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2017, including interim periods within such annual reporting periods with early adoption permitted. The Company
does not plan to early adopt this guidance and therefore will adopt on January 1, 2018. The guidance permits two methods of
adoption: retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented (full retrospective method), or retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initially applying the guidance recognized at the date of initial application (modified retrospective method). The Company is
in the process of determining the adoption method but preliminarily expects to use the modified retrospective method. The Company,
with the assistance of external consultants, has developed and is currently following a preliminary implementation plan. One major
element of this plan involves reviewing historical contracts to quantify the impact that adoption will have on the Company’s
operations. Depending on the results of the Company’s review, there could be material changes to the timing and recognition of
revenues and certain associated expenses. The Company expects to complete the review of historical contracts and the overall
assessment process, including selecting a transition plan and an assessment of the overall impact to the results of operations by the
end of the third quarter of 2017.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”). ASU 2016-02 will require most lessees to
recognize a majority of the Company’s leases on the balance sheet, which will increase reported assets and liabilities. ASU 2016-02
is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018 including interim periods within such annual reporting
periods with early adoption permitted. The Company has not early adopted this guidance and is currently evaluating the impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statements of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts
and Cash Payments (“ASU 2016-15”) . The amendment clarifies where certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and
classified in the statement of cash flows. Current guidance does not include specific guidance on the eight classification issues
presented in the amendments, which are intended to reduce diversity in practice with respect to classification and presentation of
such cash receipts and payments. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and
for interim reporting periods within such annual periods. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on the Company’s
financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805) – Clarifying the Definition of a Business
(“ASU 2017-01”). ASU 2017-01 finalizes previous proposals regarding shareholder concerns that the definition of a business is
applied too broadly. The guidance assists entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions of
assets or of businesses. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim
periods within those periods. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on the Company’s financial statements of adopting
this guidance.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment ( “ASU 2017-04”). This amendment simplifies the manner in which an entity is required to test for goodwill impairment
by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Step 2 measures goodwill impairment loss by comparing the implied fair
value of a reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. The amendment simplifies this approach by having
the entity (1) perform its annual or interim goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying
amount, and (2) recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair
value, with the understanding that the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.
The amendment is effective for public entities that are SEC filers prospectively for their annual, or any interim, goodwill impairment
tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for all entities for interim or annual goodwill
impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on the
Company’s financial statements of adopting this guidance.
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In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) – Scope of Modification
Accounting (“ASU 2017-09”). ASU 2017-09 finalizes previous proposals regarding the complexity around share-based payment
awards for modifications. The amendment simplifies the terms or conditions for applying modification accounting unless all of the
following are satisfied: (1) the fair value (or calculated value or intrinsic value, if such an alternative measurement method is used) of
the modified award is the same as the fair value (or calculated value or intrinsic value, if such an alternative measurement method is
used) of the original award immediately before the original award is modified; (2) the vesting conditions of the modified award are
the same as the vesting conditions of the original award immediately before the original award is modified; and (3) the classification
of the modified award as an equity instrument or as a liability instrument is the same as the classification of the original award
immediately before the original award is modified. The amendment is effective for public entities that are SEC filers for annual and
interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in any interim period, for
reporting periods for which financial statements have not yet been issued. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on the
Company’s financial statements of adopting this guidance.
Other new pronouncements issued but not effective until after March 31, 2017, if any, are not expected to have a material impact on
the Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity.
2.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance

The Company’s accounts receivable, net, consisted of the following (in thousands) :
March 31,
2017
$
176,589
(9,985)
$
166,604

Accounts receivable
Allowance
Accounts receivable, net

December 31,
2016
$
184,354
(10,772)
$
173,582

A summary of the activity in the allowance was as follows (in thousands) :
March 31,
2017
$
10,772
4,038
(4,825)
$
9,985

Balance--beginning of period
Provision
Charge-offs
Recoveries
Balance--end of period
3.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets consisted of the following ( in thousands, except for useful life ):
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Gross
Carrying
Amount
March 31, 2017
Customer relationships
Trade name
Intellectual Property
Restrictive covenants
Total

$

$

December 31, 2016
Customer relationships
Trade name
Intellectual Property
Restrictive covenants
Total

$

$

Accumulated Net Carrying
Amortization
Amount

103,090
15,936
2,100
133
121,259

$

103,090
15,936
2,100
133
121,259

$

$

$

Useful Life
(in years)

(75,549) $
(11,969)
(245)
(26)
(87,789) $

27,541
3,967
1,855
107
33,470

5
3
3
3

-

10
5
7
5

(71,914) $
(11,393)
(140)
(15)
(83,462) $

31,176
4,543
1,960
118
37,797

5
3
3
3

-

10
5
7
5

Amortization expense of intangible assets is expected to approximate the following (in thousands):
Year ending December 31,
Remainder of 2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Thereafter

$

12,979
16,685
2,245
791
463
307

For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 amortization expense related to intangible assets was $4.3 million and $5.0
million, respectively.
4.

Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands) :
March 31,
2017
$
9,399
11,686
17,508
$
38,593

Accounts payable, trade
Accrued compensation and other
Accrued operating expenses
Total accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
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December 31,
2016
$
13,847
28,507
17,048
$
59,402

5.

Income Taxes

The Company’s effective tax rate decreased to 20.4% for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from 42.0% for the three months
ended March 31, 2016. The decrease in the effective tax rate, for the three months ended March 31, 2017, is primarily due to discrete
stock option excess tax benefits, partially offset by interest on unrecognized tax benefits. Excluding these discrete items, our annual
effective tax rate would approximate 36.8%.
Included in Other Liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, are the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits of approximately
$7.6 million and $7.4 million, as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, (net of the federal benefit for state issues)
that, if recognized, would favorably affect the Company’s future effective tax rate. Also included in Other Liabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, are accrued liabilities for interest expense and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits of $0.7
million and $0.6 million as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. HMS includes interest expense and penalties in
the provision for income taxes in the unaudited Consolidated Statements of Income. The amount of interest expense (net of federal
and state income tax benefits) and penalties in the unaudited Consolidated Statements of Income for the three months ended March
31, 2017 and 2016 was $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively. The Company believes it is reasonably possible that the amount
of unrecognized tax benefits may decrease by $1.0 million over the next twelve months, due to the expiration of the statute of
limitations in various state jurisdictions.
HMS files income tax returns with the U.S. Federal government and various state and local jurisdictions. HMS is no longer subject to
U.S. Federal income tax examinations for years before 2012. The Internal Revenue Service notified HMS that years 2013 and 2014
have been selected for audit. HMS operates in a number of state and local jurisdictions, most of which have never audited the
Company’s records. Accordingly, HMS is subject to state and local income tax examinations based upon the various statutes of
limitations in each jurisdiction. HMS recently closed an ongoing audit with the State of New York by accepting immaterial
assessments.
6.

Estimated Liability For Appeals

The Company provides services under contracts that contain various fee structures, including contingency fee and fixed fee
arrangements. Revenue is recognized when a contract exists, services have been provided to the customer, the fee is fixed and
determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. In addition, the Company has contracts with the federal government which are
generally cost-plus or time and material based. Revenue on cost-plus contracts is recognized based on costs incurred plus the
negotiated fee earned. Revenue on time and materials contracts is recognized based on hours worked and expenses incurred.
Under the Company’s Medicare RAC contract with the CMS, held by the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary HealthDataInsights,
Inc. (“HDI”) and certain contracts for commercial health plan customers, HMS recognizes revenue when claims are sent to the
customer for offset against future claims payments. Providers and health plan customers have the right to appeal a claim and may
pursue additional appeals if the initial appeal is found in favor of the customer. HMS accrues an estimated liability for appeals based
on the amount of revenue that is subject to appeals, closures or other adjustments and which HMS estimates are probable of being
returned to providers following a successful appeal. The Company’s estimates are based on the Company’s historical experience
with appeals. The estimated liability for appeals represents the Company’s estimate of the potential amount of repayments related to
appeals of claims, closures and other adjustments for which revenue was previously collected.
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A summary of the activity in the Estimated liability for appeals was as follows (in thousands) :
March 31,
2017
$
11,126
(521)
$
10,605

Balance--beginning of period
Provision
Appeals found in providers favor
Balance--end of period

The above chart represents the CMS estimated reserve liability only. The liability for appeals is an offset to revenue to the
Company’s unaudited Consolidated Statements of Income. The total liability for appeals balance of $31.5 million and $30.8 million
as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, includes $17.9 million and $17.3 million of CMS liabilities,
respectively, which represents findings which have been adjudicated in favor of providers and $10.6 million and $11.1 million,
respectively, of CMS liabilities which represents an estimate of findings that are probable of being returned to providers following a
successful appeal.
7.

Credit Agreement

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, no principal payments were made against the Company’s revolving credit
facility. The $197.8 million principal balance of the revolving credit facility is due in May 2018. The Company has commenced
discussions to extend or refinance the revolving credit facility.
The Credit Agreement provides for an initial $500 million revolving credit facility, and, under specified circumstances, the revolving
credit facility can be increased or one or more incremental term loan facilities can be added, provided that the incremental credit
facilities do not exceed in the aggregate the sum of (a) $75 million plus (b) an additional amount not less than $25 million, so long as
the total secured leverage ratio, calculated giving pro forma effect to the requested incremental borrowing and other customary and
appropriate pro forma adjustment events, including any permitted acquisitions, is no greater than 2.5:1.0. The Company’s obligations
and any amounts due under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company’s material 100% owned subsidiaries and secured
by a security interest in all or substantially all of the Company’s and the Company’s subsidiaries’ physical assets.
The Credit Agreement requires the Company to comply with certain principal financial covenants and other covenants, including a
maximum consolidated leverage ratio at 3.25:1.00 and a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.00:1.00.
The interest rates applicable to the revolving credit facility are, at the Company’s option, either:
a) the LIBOR multiplied by the statutory reserve rate plus an interest margin ranging from 1.50% to 2.25% based on the
Company’s consolidated leverage ratio, or
b) a base rate (which is equal to the greatest of (i) Citibank’s prime rate, (ii) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50% and (iii)
the one-month LIBOR plus 1.00% plus an interest margin ranging from 0.50% to 1.25% based on the Company’s
consolidated leverage ratio.
HMS pays an unused commitment fee on the revolving credit facility during the term of the Credit Agreement ranging from 0.375%
to 0.50% per annum based on the consolidated leverage ratio.
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Interest expense and the commitment fees on the unused portion of the Company’s revolving credit facility were as follows ( in
thousands ):

Interest expense
Commitment fees

$
$

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016
1,374
$
1,178
378
$
378

As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2016, the unamortized balance of deferred origination fees and debt issuance costs were
$2.3 million and $2.8 million, respectively, recorded in Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. For both the three month
periods ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, HMS amortized $0.5 million of interest expense related to the Company’s deferred
origination fees and debt issue costs.
Although HMS expects that operating cash flows will continue to be a primary source of liquidity for the Company’s operating
needs, the revolving credit facility may be used for general corporate purposes, including, but not limited to acquisitions, if
necessary.
As part of the Company’s contractual agreement with a customer, HMS has an outstanding irrevocable letter of credit for $3.0
million, which HMS established against the revolving credit facility. On May 1, 2017, the expiration date of the letter of credit was
extended to April 26, 2018.
As previously disclosed, on March 8, 2017, Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement was executed which amended, among other
things, the Company’s requirement to furnish to Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders party to the Credit
Agreement, financial statements and other information within 90 days of the fiscal year-end to 180 days for the fiscal year-ended
December 31, 2016. These financial statements include the audited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of income,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries.
As of March 31, 2017, the Company was in compliance with all terms of the Credit Agreement.
8. Earnings Per Share
Basic income per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during
the period. Diluted income per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares and
dilutive common share equivalents outstanding during the period. The Company’s dilutive common share equivalents consist of
stock options and restricted stock units.
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The following table reconciles the basic to diluted weighted average common shares outstanding using the treasury stock method (in
thousands, except per share amounts) :

Net income

$

Weighted average common shares outstanding-basic
Plus: net effect of dilutive stock options and restricted stock units
Weighted average common shares outstanding-diluted
Net income per common share-basic
Net income per common share-diluted

$
$

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016
1,442
$
4,560
83,617
1,963
85,580
0.02
0.02

$
$

84,033
446
84,479
0.05
0.05

For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, 2,106,397 and 4,321,528 stock options, respectively, were not included in the
diluted earnings per share calculation because the effect would have been anti-dilutive. For the three months ended March 31, 2017
and 2016, restricted stock units representing 42,056 and 99,461 shares of common stock, respectively, were not included in the
diluted earnings per share calculation because the effect would have been anti-dilutive.
9.

Stock-Based Compensation

(a) Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Total stock-based compensation expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income related to the Company’s long-term
incentive award plans was as follows (in thousands) :

Cost of services-compensation
Selling, general and administrative
Total

$
$

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016
2,040
$
1,931
3,346
2,309
5,386
$
4,240

(b) Stock Options
Stock-based compensation expense related to stock options was approximately $2.1 million and $2.0 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Presented below is a summary of stock option activity for the three months ended March 31, 2017 ( in thousands except for weighted
average exercise price and weighted average remaining contractual terms ):
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Terms

Weighted
Number
Average
of
Exercise
Options
Price
5,191 $
17.35
1
2.71
(52)
18.88
(16)
24.87
5,124
17.32

Outstanding balance at December 31, 2016
Granted
Exercised
Forfeitures
Expired
Outstanding balance at March 31, 2017
Expected to vest at March 31, 2017
Exercisable at March 31, 2017

1,540
2,920

$

15.01
18.99

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

4.76

$

20,130

5.52
4.21

$

8,431
8,231

The weighted-average grant date fair value per share of the stock options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2016 was
$5.45. No stock options were issued during the three months ended March 31, 2017. HMS estimated the fair value of each stock
option grant on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model and weighted–average assumptions set forth in the
following table:
Three Months
Ended March 31,
2017
2016
―
―
―
1.20%
―
43.89%
―
4.9

Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected life (years)

During the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company issued 677 and 9,975 shares, respectively, of the Company’s
common stock upon the exercise of outstanding stock options and received proceeds of $1,836 and $26,425, respectively. The total
intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was $10,903 and $100,815,
respectively.
As of March 31, 2017, there was approximately $10.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options
outstanding, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.11 years.
Excess tax benefit from the exercise of stock options for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was $0.4 million and
$0.01 million, respectively.
(c) Restricted Stock Units
Stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock units was $3.3 million and $2.2 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Presented below is a summary of restricted stock units activity for the three months ended March 31, 2017 (in thousands, except for
weighted average grant date fair value per unit):
Number of
Units
1,413
4
(332)
(140)
(28)
917

Outstanding balance at December 31, 2016
Granted
Vesting of restricted stock units, net of units withheld for taxes
Units withheld for taxes
Forfeitures
Outstanding balance at March 31, 2017

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value per Unit
$
16.44
20.33
16.27
16.27
17.99
$
16.51

As of March 31, 2017, 761,178 restricted stock units remained unvested and there was approximately $10.4 million of unrecognized
compensation cost related to restricted stock units, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average vesting period of
1.11 years.
10.

Commitments and Contingencies

Dennis Demetre and Lori Lewis : In July 2012, Dennis Demetre and Lori Lewis (the “Plaintiffs”), filed an action in the Supreme
Court of the State of New York against HMS Holdings Corp., claiming an undetermined amount of damages alleging that various
actions by HMS unlawfully deprived the Plaintiffs of the acquisition earn-out portion of the purchase price for Allied Management
Group Special Investigation Unit (“AMG”) under the applicable Stock Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) and that HMS had breached
certain contractual provisions under the SPA. The Plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint with two causes of action for breach
of contract and one cause of action for breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. HMS asserted a counterclaim
against Plaintiffs for breach of contract based on contractual indemnification costs, including attorneys’ fees arising out of the
Company’s defense of AMG in Kern Health Systems v. AMG, Dennis Demetre and Lori Lewis (the “California Action”) , which are
recoverable under the SPA . Mediation took place in September 2014 but the matter was not resolved. In June 2016, Kern Health
Systems and AMG entered into a settlement agreement that resolved all claims in the California Action .
In January 2016, HMS moved for summary judgment on its counterclaim for breach of contract and for summary judgment on the
Plaintiffs’ breach of contract causes of action against HMS (HMS did not move for summary judgment on Plaintiffs’ breach of
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claim). The motions were argued on June 22, 2016. A decision on the motions has
not yet been issued by the Court and a trial date has not been set. HMS continues to believe that the Plaintiffs’ claims are without
merit and will continue to vigorously defend against them.
Shareholder Proceedings : On March 3, 2017, a putative securities class action was filed in the Federal District Court for the District
of New Jersey, entitled Danahar v. HMS Holdings Corp., et al . The complaint names the Company, its Chief Executive Officer, and
its Chief Financial Officer as defendants and arises out of the Company’s disclosure on March 2, 2017 that the filing of its 2016
Form 10-K would be delayed in order to permit the Company to complete the Company’s previously disclosed review of its
Estimated liability for appeals and related internal control over financial reporting, and that the Company’s auditor had informed the
Company that it had identified what it believed was a material weakness in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
related to the CMS reserves. The complaint alleges that the Company’s Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2015 and its
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the period January 1, 2016 to September 30, 2016 were false and misleading for failing to
disclose the matters set forth above. On May 19, 2017, the New Jersey District Court granted the defendants’ motion to transfer the
action to the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas. The action is at its early stages, and the Company has
not yet responded to the complaint.
20

From time to time, HMS may be subject to investigations, legal proceedings and other disputes arising in the ordinary course of the
Company’s business, including but not limited to regulatory audits, billing and contractual disputes, employment-related matters and
post-closing disputes related to acquisitions. Due to the Company’s contractual relationships, including those with federal and state
government entities, HMS’s operations, billing and business practices are subject to scrutiny and audit by those entities and other
multiple agencies and levels of government, as well as to frequent transitions and changes in the personnel responsible for oversight
of the Company’s contractual performance. HMS may have contractual disputes with its customers arising from differing
interpretations of contractual provisions that define the Company’s rights, obligations, scope of work or terms of payment, and with
associated claims of liability for inaccurate or improper billing for reimbursement of contract fees, or for sanctions or damages for
alleged performance deficiencies. Resolution of such disputes may involve litigation or may require that HMS accept some amount
of loss or liability in order to avoid customer abrasion, negative marketplace perceptions and other disadvantageous results that could
affect the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
HMS records accruals for outstanding legal matters when it believes it is probable that a loss will be incurred and the amount can be
reasonably estimated. The Company evaluates, on a quarterly basis, developments in legal matters that could affect the amount of
any accrual and developments that would make a loss contingency both probable and reasonably estimable. If a loss contingency is
not both probable and estimable, HMS does not establish an accrued liability .
11.

Subsequent Events

(a) Eliza Holding Acquisition
As previously disclosed, on April 17, 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of Eliza Holding Corp. for a cash purchase price
of approximately $172.0 million, after adjustments for working capital, cash, transaction expenses and indebtedness. The acquisition
was funded with available liquidity, consisting of approximately 75% cash on hand and approximately 25% of borrowings under the
Company’s revolving credit facility. The purchase price is subject to certain post-closing purchase price adjustments.
(b) Annual Grants to Employees
On April 26, 2017, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved stock option and restricted stock unit awards of
up to $16.6 million. The awards generally will vest over three years and will be issued three business days subsequent to the filing of
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
In connection with the preparation of these unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements, an evaluation of subsequent events was
performed through the date of issuance and, other than the events above, there were no other events that have occurred that would
require adjustments to the financial statements or disclosure.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis should be read in conjunction with the other sections of this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q, including the unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements, related Notes and other financial information appearing
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, and with our 2016 Form 10-K.
Business Overview
HMS is a leading provider of cost containment solutions in the U.S. healthcare marketplace. Using innovative technology as well as
extensive data services and powerful analytics, we deliver coordination of benefits, payment integrity, and health management and
engagement solutions through our operating subsidiaries to help healthcare payers improve performance and outcomes. We are
managed and operate as one business segment with a single management team that reports to the Chief Executive Officer. We serve
state Medicaid programs, commercial health plans, federal government health agencies, government and private employers, child
support agencies, and other healthcare payers and sponsors. Together our various services help our customers recover improper
payments; prevent future improper payments; reduce fraud, waste and abuse; better manage the care that members receive; and
ensure regulatory compliance.
§
§
§

We serve 46 state Medicaid programs and the District of Columbia, CMS and the VHA;
We provide services to approximately 300 health plans in support of their multiple lines of business, including Medicaid
managed care, Medicare Advantage and group and individual health; and
We also serve as a sub-contractor for certain business outsourcing and technology firms.

Critical Accounting Policies
Since the date of our 2016 Form 10-K, there have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies. Refer to the items
disclosed as our Critical Accounting Policies in Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and Note 1 – “Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in our Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8 of our 2016 Form 10-K.
SUMMARY OF OPERATING RESULTS
Selected Operating Performance and Other Significant Items for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2017
§
§
§
§
§
§

Revenue decreased $6.0 million, or 5.0% from the same quarter in 2016
Operating income decreased $6.0 million, or 60.2% from the same quarter in 2016
Net income decreased $3.2 million, or 68.4% from the same quarter in 2016
Diluted earnings per share decreased $0.03 or 60% from the same quarter in 2016
Shareholders’ equity increased $4.2 million since December 31, 2016
First quarter 2017 cash flow from operations was $3.4 million
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Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2017 to March 31, 2016
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain items in our unaudited Consolidated Statements of Income expressed
as a percentage of revenue:

Revenue
Cost of services:
Compensation
Data processing
Occupancy
Direct project expenses
Other operating expenses
Amortization of acquisition related software and intangible assets
Total cost of services
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016
100%
100%
43.0
8.6
3.1
9.2
6.4
5.5
75.8
20.7
96.5
3.5
(2.0)
0.1
1.6
0.3
1.3%

38.7
8.0
3.0
12.1
4.8
5.9
72.5
19.1
91.6
8.3
(1.7)
0.0
6.6
2.8
3.8%

Revenue
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017 revenue was $113.7 million, a decrease of $6.0 million or 5.0% compared to prior
year revenue of $119.8 million. The decrease was primarily due to no new Medicare RAC claims being processed under the HDI
Medicare RAC contract as a result of the contract’s expiration in July 2016, however an administrative extension for certain appeal
work was executed through January 2018. This decrease was partially offset by a slight increase in state government and commercial
health plan revenue.
Total Cost of Services
Total cost of services consists of compensation, data processing, occupancy, direct project expenses, other operating expenses, and
amortization of acquisition related software and intangible assets.
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, total cost of services as a percentage of revenue was 75.8% compared to 72.5% for
the three months ended March 31, 2016. Total cost of services for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was $86.2 million, a
decrease of $0.7 million compared to $86.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. This change resulted primarily from
increases in compensation costs, data processing costs and other operating expenses. These increases were partially offset by
decreases in occupancy costs, direct project expenses and amortization of certain intangible assets.
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Compensation
Compensation expense is primarily composed of salaries and wages, which include overtime, health benefits, stock option expense,
performance awards, commissions, employers share of FICA and fringe benefits.
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, compensation expense as a percentage of revenue was 43.0% compared to 38.7%
for the three months ended March 31, 2016. Compensation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was $48.9 million,
an increase of $2.5 million compared to $46.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. This increase resulted from a $4.4
million total increase in salaries and stock-based compensation expense. These increases were partially offset by decreases in fringe
benefits and net variable compensation.
Data Processing
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, data processing expense as a percentage of revenue was 8.6% compared to 8.0% for
the three months ended March 31, 2016. Data processing expense for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was $9.8 million, an
increase of $0.2 million compared to $9.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. This change resulted primarily from a
$1.8 million increase in equipment maintenance and software maintenance costs. This increase was partially offset by a $1.7 million
total decrease in data costs, depreciation expense and software expense.
Occupancy
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, occupancy expenses as a percentage of revenue was 3.1% compared to 3.0% for the
three months ended March 31, 2016. Occupancy expense was $3.5 million, a decrease of $0.1 million compared to $3.6 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2016. This slight decrease was primarily a result of decreases in rental costs, utilities, and
depreciation expenses.
Direct Project Expenses
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, direct project expenses as a percentage of revenue was 9.2% compared to 12.1% for
the three months ended March 31, 2016. Direct project expenses were $10.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, a
decrease of $4.1 million, compared to $14.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. The decrease was primarily due to a
$4.5 million decrease in sub-contractor fees, chart fees and data costs.
Other Operating Expenses
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, other operating expenses as a percentage of revenue was 6.4% compared to 4.8% for
the three months ended March 31, 2016. Other operating expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2017 were $7.2 million, an
increase of $1.4 million compared to $5.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. This increase primarily resulted from
a $3.7 million total increase in sub-contractor fees, travel and entertainment, and consulting project expenses. These increases were
partially offset by a $2.2 million decrease in temporary staffing. Additionally, during the quarter ended March 31, 2017, transaction
costs related to a potential acquisition were $1.3 million.
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Amortization of Acquisition Related Software and Intangible Assets
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, amortization of acquisition related software and intangibles as a percentage of
revenue was 5.5% compared to 5.9% for the three months ended March 31, 2016. Amortization of acquisition related software and
intangible assets for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was $6.3 million, a decrease of $0.7 million compared to $7.0 million
for the three months ended March 31, 2016. This decrease related to certain intangibles becoming fully amortized.
Selling, General and Administrative expenses
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, SG&A expense as a percentage of revenue was 20.7% compared to 19.1% for the
three months ended March 31, 2016. SG&A expense for the first quarter of 2017 was $23.6 million, an increase of $0.7 million
compared to $22.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. Increases were comprised of compensation expense,
professional fees and consulting fees. These increases were partially offset by a reduction in legal fees.
Operating Income
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
Operating income for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was $3.9 million, a decrease of $6.0 million, or 60.2% compared to
operating income of $9.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016.
Interest Expense
Interest expense represents interest on borrowings under our revolving credit facility, amortization of deferred financing costs,
commitment fees for our revolving credit facility and issuance fees for our letter of credit.
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017 interest expense was $2.3 million, an increase of $0.2 million compared to $2.1
million for the same period in the prior year. This increase resulted from an increase in the variable interest rate on our outstanding
debt. Amortization of deferred financing costs of $0.5 million in both periods is included within interest expense.
Income Taxes
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017 we recorded income tax expense of $0.4 million, a decrease of $2.9 million
compared to $3.3 million for the same period in 2016. Net income before taxes of $1.8 million decreased $6.1 million, compared to
$7.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. Additionally, our effective tax rate decreased to 20.4% for the three months
ended March 31, 2017 compared to 42.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2016. The decrease in the effective tax rate for the
period ended March 31, 2017, compared to March 31, 2016, is primarily due to a $0.4 million excess tax benefit related to stock
option exercises recognized from the adoption of ASU 2016-09 in December 2016, partially offset by a $0.1 million tax expense
related to interest on unrecognized tax benefits. The differences between the federal statutory rate and our effective tax rate are state
taxes, unrecognized tax benefits and permanent differences including the U.S. production activities deduction and research and
development tax credits.
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Net Income
Three Months Ended – 2017 vs. 2016
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, net income was $1.4 million which represents a $3.2 million decrease compared to
net income of $4.6 million for the same period in 2016.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following tables should be read in conjunction with the unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes included
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Our cash and cash equivalents, working capital and available borrowings under our credit facility (based upon the borrowing base
and financial covenants in our Credit Agreement) were as follows:
March 31,
2017
$
168,289
$
285,788
$
157,809

(In thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital
Available borrowings under credit facility

December 31,
2016
$
175,999
$
277,478
$
183,913

A summary of our cash flows was as follows:

(In thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

$
$

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016
3,386
$
609
(8,488)
(1,755)
(2,608)
(1,013)
(7,710) $
(2,159)

Our principal source of cash has been our cash flow from operations and our $500 million five-year revolving credit facility. Other
sources of cash include proceeds from exercise of stock options and tax benefits associated with stock option exercises. The primary
uses of cash are compensation expenses, data processing, direct project costs and SG&A expenses and acquisitions. As previously
disclosed, on April 17, 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of Eliza Holding Corp. for a cash purchase price of
approximately $172.0 million, after adjustments for working capital, cash, transaction expenses and indebtedness. The acquisition
was funded with available liquidity, consisting of approximately 75% cash on hand and approximately 25% of borrowings under the
Company’s revolving credit facility. The purchase price is subject to certain post-closing purchase price adjustments.
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We believe that expected cash flows from operations, available cash and cash equivalents, and funds available under our revolving
credit facility will be sufficient to meet our liquidity requirements for the following year, which include:
§
§
§
§
§

the working capital requirements of our operations;
investments in our business;
business development activities;
repurchases of common stock; and
repayment of our revolving credit facility.

Any projections of future earnings and cash flows are subject to substantial uncertainty. We may need to access debt and equity
markets in the future if unforeseen costs or opportunities arise, to fund acquisitions or to repay indebtedness under the Credit
Agreement, which matures in May 2018. If we need to obtain new debt or equity financing in the future, the terms and availability of
such financing may be impacted by economic and financial market conditions as well as our financial condition and results of
operations at the time we seek additional financing.
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was $3.4 million, an increase of $2.8 million as
compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $0.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. The increase in
operating cash flow is primarily attributable to accounts receivable and decreases in amortization of certain intangibles, partially
offset by a decrease in net income.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was $8.5 million, a $6.7 million increase compared
to net cash used in investing activities of $1.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. The increase primarily related to
an increase in purchases of property and equipment and investment in capitalized software.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was $2.6 million, a $1.6 million increase compared
to net cash used in financing activities of $1.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. This increase was primarily
related to the payment of tax withholdings on behalf of employees for net-share settlement for stock-based compensation.
Contractual Obligations
There have been no material changes in our contractual obligations as presented in our 2016 Form 10-K except as disclosed in Note
11 – “Subsequent Events” in our Notes to the unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
See “Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements” in Note 1 of the unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
There have been no material changes to the market risks discussed in Item 7A to Part II of our 2016 Form 10-K.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
We are responsible for maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that
are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated
and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to
allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures,
management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the costbenefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act, management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2017.
Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were not effective because of the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, as described in
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting in Item 9A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2016, which continue to exist at March 31, 2017.
During the preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements for 2016, we identified material weaknesses in our internal
control over financial reporting. We did not maintain an effective control environment based on lack of established reporting lines
and defined authorities and responsibilities for financial reporting at our wholly owned subsidiary, HDI, and did not have an
effective risk assessment process on a periodic basis to assess the effects of changes in business operations and turnover of our
employees that significantly impact our financial processes and internal control over financial reporting related to (i) our Estimated
liability for appeals associated with our contract with CMS (the “CMS Reserve”) and (ii) the valuation of our accounts receivable
allowance (the “Allowance”). As a result, we did not design and implement effective process level control activities, specifically
management review controls over the measurement and disclosure of the CMS Reserve and the Allowance and controls over the
completeness and accuracy of data used to calculate the CMS Reserve and the Allowance.
To remediate the material weaknesses described above, we have redesigned the review controls over both the CMS Reserve and the
Allowance, and have refined the calculations utilized, including additional controls over the completeness and accuracy of data used,
to determine the CMS Reserve and the Allowance. We have also enhanced the use of higher level compensating controls in the near
term to monitor the design and operating effectiveness of the revised controls and calculation of the liability related to the CMS
Reserve and of the estimate of our Allowance. Our enhanced calculations and review procedures were in place during the first
quarter of 2017; however, we cannot verify that the material weaknesses have been fully remediated until the applicable remedial
controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating
effectively. Except as noted above, there have been no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2017, that has materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
28

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
The information set forth under the caption “Commitments and Contingencies” in Note 10 of the Notes to the unaudited
Consolidated Financial Statements of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
In addition to the information set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the risks that are discussed in the 2016 Form 10-K,
under the headings “Part I, Item 1. Business,” “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” and “Part II, Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk,” should be carefully considered as such risks could materially affect the Company’s business,
financial conditions or future results. There has been no material change in the Company’s risk factors from those described in the
2016 Form 10-K .
These risks are not the only risks facing the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to the Company or that
it currently deems to be immaterial also may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or future
results.
Item 5. Other Information
The Board of Directors has set the date of our 2017 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “2017 Annual Meeting”) as August 21,
2017. Because the date of the 2017 Annual Meeting has been changed by more than 30 days from the date of our previous annual
meeting of shareholders, the Company has established a new deadline for the receipt of shareholder proposals intended to be
included in our proxy materials for the 2017 Annual Meeting pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act (“Rule 14a-8”).
Shareholders of the Company who wish to have a proposal considered for inclusion in the Company’s proxy materials for the 2017
Annual Meeting pursuant to Rule 14a-8 must ensure that such proposal is received in writing at our principal executive offices
located at 5615 High Point Drive, Irving, Texas 75038, Attention: Meredith W. Bjorck, no later than June 16, 2017, which we have
determined to be a reasonable time before we begin to print and mail our proxy materials. Any such proposal must also comply with
the requirements of Rule 14a-8 to be eligible for inclusion in our proxy materials.
With regard to any proposal by a shareholder not seeking to have such proposal included in the proxy statement, but seeking to have
such proposal considered at the 2017 Annual Meeting or seeking to nominate a candidate for director at the 2017 Annual Meeting,
the deadline for timely notice as set forth in on page 9 of our proxy statement for our 2016 Annual Meeting of Shareholders has not
changed since, pursuant to our Bylaws, the date of our 2017 Annual Meeting has not been delayed by more than 60 calendar days,
from the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting.
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Item 6. Exhibits
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC, the Company has filed, furnished or incorporated by reference the documents
referenced in the accompanying Index to Exhibits as exhibits to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The Exhibits include
agreements to which the Company is a party or has a beneficial interest. The agreements have been filed to provide investors with
information regarding their respective terms. The agreements are not intended to provide any other actual information about the
Company or its business or operations. In particular, the assertions embodied in any representations, warranties, and covenants
contained in the agreements may be subject to qualifications with respect to knowledge and materiality different from those
applicable to investors and may be qualified by information in confidential disclosure schedules not included with the exhibits. These
disclosure schedules may contain information that modifies, qualifies and creates exceptions to the representations, warranties and
covenants set forth in the agreements. Moreover, certain representations, warranties, and covenants in the agreements may have been
used for the purpose of allocating risk between parties, rather than establishing matters as facts. In addition, information concerning
the subject matter of the representations, warranties and covenants may have changed after the date of the respective agreement,
which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in the Company’s public disclosures. Accordingly, investors should
not rely on the representations, warranties and covenants in the agreements as characterizations of the actual state of facts about the
Company or its business or operations on the date hereof.
(a) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number
2.1†*

Description
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 10, 2017, by and among the HMS Holdings Corp., Echo Acquisition
Sub, Inc., Eliza Holding Corp., and Parthenon Investors III, L.P., solely in its capacity as the representative for
equity holders of Eliza Holding Corp.

3.1

Conformed copy of Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended through July 9, 2015 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-50194) as filed with the SEC
on August 10, 2015)

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company dated May 4, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000- 50194) as filed with the SEC on May 5, 2016)

10.1*

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated March 8, 2017, among HMS Holdings
Corp., the Guarantors Party thereto, the Lenders party thereto and Citibank, N.A. as Administrative Agent

31.1*

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of HMS Holdings Corp., as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002

31.2*

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of HMS Holdings Corp., as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002

32.1**

Section 1350 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of HMS Holdings Corp., as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2**

Section 1350 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of HMS Holdings Corp., as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101.INS*
101.SCH*
101.CAL*
101.DEF*
101.LAB*
101.PRE*

† Certain schedules and similar attachments to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The
Company agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or similar attachment to the SEC upon request.
* Filed herewith
** Furnished herewith
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Date:

June 6, 2017

HMS HOLDINGS CORP.
By: /s/ WILLIAM C. LUCIA
William C. Lucia
President and Chief Executive Officer and Duly
Authorized Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
By: /s/ JEFFREY S. SHERMAN
Jeffrey S. Sherman
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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HMS Holdings Corp. and Subsidiaries
Exhibit Index
Exhibit
Number
2.1†*

Description
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 10, 2017, by and among the HMS Holdings Corp., Echo Acquisition
Sub, Inc., Eliza Holding Corp., and Parthenon Investors III, L.P., solely in its capacity as the representative for
equity holders of Eliza Holding Corp.

3.1

Conformed copy of Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended through July 9, 2015 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-50194) as filed with the SEC
on August 10, 2015)

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company dated May 4, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000- 50194) as filed with the SEC on May 5, 2016)

10.1*

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated March 8, 2017, among HMS Holdings
Corp., the Guarantors Party thereto, the Lenders party thereto and Citibank, N.A. as Administrative Agent

31.1*

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of HMS Holdings Corp., as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002

31.2*

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of HMS Holdings Corp., as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002

32.1**

Section 1350 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of HMS Holdings Corp., as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2**

Section 1350 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of HMS Holdings Corp., as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101.INS*
101.SCH*
101.CAL*
101.DEF*
101.LAB*
101.PRE*

__________________________

† Certain schedules and similar attachments to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The
Company agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or similar attachment to the SEC upon request.
*Filed herewith
** Furnished herewith
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER
This Agreement and Plan of Merger (this " Agreement ") is dated as of March 10, 2017 by and among HMS Holdings Corp., a Delaware corporation (" Parent "),
Echo Acquisition Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (" Merger Sub "), Eliza Holding Corp., a Delaware
corporation (the " Company "), and Parthenon Investors III, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, solely in its capacity as Representative of the Equityholders ("
Representative "). Each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company is referred to herein as a " Party ."
RECITALS
Parent desires to acquire the Company and has formed Merger Sub which is to be merged with and into the Company with the Company continuing as the
Surviving Corporation (" Merger ").
Each of the respective board of directors of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company has (i) determined that the entry into, and terms of, this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereby are advisable and in the best interest of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company and their respective stockholders and (ii) approved, in
all respects, this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger, all upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein
(collectively, the " Board Actions ").
Immediately prior to the consummation of the Merger, Eliza SPV LLC (" SPV "), a Delaware limited liability company and holder of 75,726 Shares (" SPV Shares
"), 2,095 shares of Series A 7.5% Redeemable Preferred Stock of the Company (" Series A Shares ") and 30,000 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock of
the Company (" Series B Shares "), will merge with and into the Company (the " SPV Merger ") pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger to be entered into by
and between SPV and the Company (the " SPV Merger Agreement "), whereby (i) the Company will continue as the surviving corporation and (ii) all of the SPV
Shares, Series A Shares and Series B Shares will be cancelled in exchange for cash and Shares newly issued to the members of SPV.
The board of directors of each of the Company and Merger Sub have recommended acceptance of the Merger and adoption of this Agreement by their respective
stockholders, in accordance with the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (" DGCL ") and, substantially concurrently with the execution and delivery
hereof, stockholders of the Company representing 94.0% or more of the shares of common stock of the Company entitled to vote (including Series B Shares voting
on an as-converted basis) have, by written consent under Section 228 of the DGCL and the organizational documents of the Company, adopted this Agreement and
the SPV Merger Agreement with the same force and effect as if such actions had been taken at a duly called and held meeting of the stockholders of the Company
authorized to vote and to take such actions, which consent has been certified and delivered to Parent (" Stockholder Approval "). The members of SPV have
approved the SPV Merger Agreement and the SPV Merger.
AGREEMENT
Now, therefore, in consideration of the foregoing and of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements herein contained and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties and Representative, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree
as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
Section 1.1

Definitions . When used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them below.

" 2015 Audited Financial Statements " means the audited consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015 and the related consolidated statements of
operations, consolidated statements of redeemable and convertible preferred stock and stockholders ' equity and consolidated statements of cash flows of the
Company Group for the fiscal year then ended.
" 2016 Unaudited Financial Statements " means the Latest Balance Sheet and the related consolidated statements of operations, consolidated statements of
redeemable and convertible preferred stock and stockholders ' equity and consolidated statements of cash flows of the Company Group for the fiscal year then
ended.
" Acquisition Date " means June 22, 2011.
" Action " means any legal claim, cause of action, complaint, demand, litigation, suit, arbitration, legal proceeding (whether civil, criminal, administrative
or appellate proceeding) or hearing heard by or before or brought under the direction of any Governmental Entity.
" Adjustment Escrow Amount " means $750,000 to be held by Escrow Agent solely for the purpose of satisfying any amounts payable to Parent pursuant
to Section 2.5(e) .
" Adjustment Time " means 12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on the Closing Date.
" Advisory Services Agreement " means that certain Advisory Services Agreement, dated as of June 22, 2011, by and among the Company, Eliza Corp.,
PCP, L.P. and SPV, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time to the extent permitted thereunder.
" Affiliate " of any Person means any Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with such Person; where "control,"
as used with respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such
Person; provided that, in no event shall (i) the Company or either Company Subsidiary be considered an Affiliate of any portfolio company of any investment fund
affiliated with or managed by PCP, L.P. or (ii) any portfolio company of any investment fund affiliated with PCP, L.P. be considered an Affiliate of the Company
or either Company Subsidiary.
" Agents " of any Person means such Person's directors, managers, officers, employees, agents, accountants, attorneys, consultants, professional advisors
or other representatives.
" Aggregate Exercise Price " means the aggregate Exercise Price for all Shares issuable upon the exercise of all Vested Options.
" Ancillary Documents " means the Escrow Agreement, the SPV Merger Agreement and the Advisory Services Agreement Termination Agreement.
" Ancillary IP Rights " means all of the following with respect to any Intellectual Property: (a) income, royalties, damages, and payments due or payable
(including damages and payments for past or future infringements, misappropriations, or other violations thereof); (b) rights to sue for past, present and future
infringements, misappropriations, or other violations thereof; (c) corresponding rights that, now or hereafter, may be secured throughout the world; and (d) copies
and tangible embodiments of any such Intellectual Property.
" Antitrust Authorities " means the Federal Trade Commission, the Antitrust Division of the U.S. Department of Justice, the attorneys general of the
several states of the U.S. and any other Governmental Entity, including foreign Governmental Entities, having jurisdiction with respect to the transactions
contemplated hereby pursuant to applicable Antitrust Laws.
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" Antitrust Laws " means the U.S. Sherman Act, the U.S. Clayton Act, the HSR Act, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission Act, and all other federal, state
and foreign statutes, rules, regulations, Orders, decrees, administrative and judicial doctrines and other Laws designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate
actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization, lessening of competition or restraint of trade.
" Business " means the business of developing, selling and servicing (a) any products or services offered by the Company or the Company Subsidiaries on
or prior to the Closing Date; (b) any products or services in development by the Company or the Company Subsidiaries on or prior to the Closing Date; and (c) any
products or services derived or based, in whole or in part, on the products or services referenced in the foregoing clauses (a) and (b) .
" Business Day " means any day except Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which commercial banks are required or authorized to close in New York,
New York.
" Cap " means $850,000.
" Cash " means all cash and cash equivalents of the Company Group as of the Adjustment Time and determined in accordance with the Company
Accounting Principles. For purposes of clarity, Cash shall, without duplication, (i) include inbound wires in transit and checks deposited by the Company Group
but not yet cleared; and (ii) exclude outbound wires in transit and checks issued by the Company Group but not yet cleared, in each case, prior to the Adjustment
Time and to the extent not included as a current liability in Working Capital. For the avoidance of doubt, Cash shall not include any amounts to be paid on the
Closing Date by the Company Group in the SPV Merger to the extent not included as a current liability in Working Capital.
" Closing Merger Consideration " means an aggregate amount equal to (i) the Initial Purchase Price, (ii) minus the Expense Holdback Amount, (iii) minus
the Adjustment Escrow Amount, (iv) minus the Indemnity Escrow Amount, (v) solely to the extent the matter set forth on Schedule 6.2(a) is not resolved and all
claims related thereto satisfied or released prior to the Closing, minus the Special Indemnity Escrow Amount.
" Closing Per Share Merger Consideration " means (i) the sum of (x) the Closing Merger Consideration and (y) the Aggregate Exercise Price divided by
(ii) the sum of (x) the aggregate number of Shares outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time and (y) the aggregate number of Shares issuable upon
the exercise of all Vested Options.
" Code " means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986.
" Company Accounting Principles " means GAAP applying the accounting methods, policies, principles, practices and procedures, with consistent
classifications, judgments and estimation methodologies, in each case, used by the Company Group in preparation of the Latest Balance Sheet. In addition, the
rules, limitations and exceptions to GAAP set forth on the Working Capital Schedule in Annex C shall be applied in determining Estimated Working Capital and
Final Working Capital.
" Company Group " means the Company and the Company Subsidiaries and, where applicable, any of the Company or either Company Subsidiary. For
purposes of clarity, from and after the Effective Time the Company Group shall mean the Surviving Corporation and its subsidiaries.
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" Company IP " means all Intellectual Property that is owned by the Company Group.
" Company Knowledge Parties " means: (i) John Shagoury (Chief Executive Officer); (ii) Lucas Merrow (Chief Technology Officer); (iii) Ralph Perfetto
(Chief Analytics Officer); (iv) Mark Beucler (Chief Financial Officer); (v) Paula Reynolds (Vice President of Human Resources); (vi) Chris Couch (Senior Vice
President of Service Delivery); (vii) John Puopolo (Senior Vice President of Engineering); (viii) solely with respect to Section 3.17 (Customers and Suppliers), Bill
Meehan (Senior Vice President of Sales) and Ian Waters (Senior Vice President of Sales); and (ix) solely with respect to Section 3.14 (Intellectual Property Rights),
Kimberly Snow (Director of Compliance, Privacy Officer).
" Company Person " means any of the Company Group, any Affiliate thereof and any director, manager, officer, employee or Agent of any of the
foregoing.
" Company Subsidiary " means each of Operating Company and ElizaLive.
" Contracts " means all contracts, agreements (including employment agreements and non-competition agreements), personal property leases, Licenses
and to the Knowledge of the Company any other legally binding commitments or undertakings of any nature.
" Data Security Requirements " means the following, in each case to the extent relating to any sensitive or confidential information, including Personal
Information, or any matters relating to data privacy, protection, or security or the access, collection, use, processing, storage, sharing, distribution, transfer,
disclosure, destruction, or disposal or any Personal Information: (a) applicable Laws (including, for the avoidance of doubt, HIPAA) and any related security
breach notification requirements; (b) the Company Group's own respective rules, policies, and procedures; (c) industry standards applicable to the industries in
which the Company Group operates; and (d) Contracts to which the Company Group is bound.
" Deal Documents " means this Agreement and any agreement entered into in connection herewith or related hereto (including all prior drafts thereof).
" ElizaLive " means ElizaLive, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
" Enterprise Value " means $170,000,000.
" Environmental Laws " means all applicable Laws concerning pollution or protection of the environment as enacted prior to and in effect as of the date
hereof.
" Equityholders " means, collectively, the Stockholders and the Option Holders.
" Escrow Agent " means SunTrust Bank, or any successor escrow agent appointed pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement.
" Escrow Agreement " means the Escrow Agreement to be entered into by Parent, Representative and Escrow Agent at the Closing, substantially in the
form attached hereto as Exhibit 1 .
" Escrow Amount " means, collectively, the Adjustment Escrow Amount, the Indemnity Escrow Amount and, solely to the extent the matter set forth on
Schedule 6.2(a) is not resolved and all claims related thereto satisfied or released prior to the Closing, the Special Indemnity Escrow Amount.
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" Exercise Price " means the exercise price per Share of the Shares issuable upon the exercise of each Option, as set forth in the applicable agreement
pursuant to which such Option was granted and as reflected opposite each Option as set forth on Schedule 3.3(a)-1 .
" Expense Holdback Amount " means $2,500,000 to be held by Representative to satisfy any fees, costs or expenses incurred by Representative in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and by the Ancillary Documents, including with respect to any dispute over the purchase price adjustment
pursuant to Section 2.5 or fulfilling its obligations hereunder.
" Final Purchase Price " means an aggregate amount equal to (i) the Enterprise Value, (ii) plus the Final Cash, (iii) plus the amount, if any, that Final
Working Capital is greater than Target Working Capital, (iv) minus the amount, if any, that Final Working Capital is less than Target Working Capital, (v) minus
the Final Indebtedness, (vi) minus the Final Transaction Expenses.
" Fraud " means actual, knowing and intentional common law fraud with respect to the representations and warranties in Article III (as such
representations and warranties are qualified by the Schedules) and any certificate or representation delivered by or on behalf of the Company pursuant to this
Agreement. For purposes of clarity, Fraud shall require that a Company Knowledge Party had Knowledge that a representation set forth in Article III , as such
representation is qualified by the Schedules, was not true when made, such Company Knowledge Party intended for Parent to rely to its detriment on such
representation and Parent in fact relied to its detriment on such representation.
" GAAP " means U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied.
" Governmental Entity " means any government or political subdivision or regulatory authority, whether federal, state, or local, or any agency or
instrumentality of any such government or political subdivision or regulatory authority, or any federal, state or local court or legally binding arbitrator.
" Government Contract " means any Contract between the Company or a Company Subsidiary, on the one hand, and any Governmental Entity, on the
other hand other than Contracts incidental to doing business in a jurisdiction.
" Healthcare Laws " means any federal, state, or local statute or regulation applying to any Person involved in the provision or administration of healthcare
products or services by reason of the nature of their businesses, including but not limited to: Title XVIII of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1395-1395kkk-1
(the Medicare statute), including specifically, the Ethics in Patient Referrals Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn; Title XIX of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C.
§§ 1396-1396w-5 (the Medicaid statute); the Federal Health Care Program Anti-Kickback Statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b); the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C.
§§ 3729-3733; the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3801-3812; the Anti-Kickback Act of 1986, 41 U.S.C. §§ 8701-8707; the Civil Monetary
Penalties Law, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1320a-7a; Criminal Penalties for Acts Involving Federal Health Care Programs, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b; Mail and Wire Fraud and Other
Fraud Offenses, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341-1351; False Statements Relating to Health Care Matters, 18 U.S.C. § 1035; Health Care Fraud, 18 U.S.C. § 1347 and § 1349;
the Exclusion Laws, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7 and § 1320c-5; the Healthcare Information Laws; the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No. 111-148,
124 Stat. 119 (2010) (as amended by Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, Pub. L. 111-152, 124 Stat. 1029 (2010)); the Federal Food, Drug and
Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. §§ 301 et seq.); any implementing regulations or program guidance that has the force of law and any similar state Laws and any state
regulations or program guidance that has the force of law concerning fee-splitting, kickbacks, corporate practice of medicine, disclosure of ownership, false claims,
survey, certification, licensure, civil monetary penalties, self-referrals, or privacy and/or security of personal information, including state data breach notification
Laws and state social security number protection Laws and regulations.
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" HSR Act " means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.
" Indebtedness " means, without duplication, and including any amounts assumed from SPV in the SPV Merger (i) all indebtedness of the Company
Group for borrowed money (including all accrued interest thereon and any prepayment, breakage or similar charges payable in connection with the discharge of
such indebtedness at Closing); (ii) all indebtedness of the Company Group evidenced by any note, bond, mortgage or other debt instrument; and (iii) all capitalized
lease obligations of the Company Group.
" Indebtedness for Borrowed Money " means, in aggregate, the Indebtedness of the Company Group described in clauses (i) and (ii) of the definition of
Indebtedness, which, pursuant to Section 2.3(b)(xii)(1) , shall be paid in full by Parent on behalf of the Company Group at the Closing.
" Indemnity Escrow Amount " means $1,700,000 to be held for the purpose of securing any amounts payable to Parent pursuant to Section 6.2(a) .
" Initial Purchase Price " means an aggregate amount equal to (i) Enterprise Value, (ii) plus the Estimated Cash, (iii) plus the amount if any, that Estimated
Working Capital is greater than Target Working Capital, (iv) minus the amount, if any, that Estimated Working Capital is less than Target Working Capital, (v)
minus the Estimated Indebtedness, (vi) minus the Estimated Transaction Expenses.
" Intellectual Property " means any and all of the following in any jurisdiction throughout the world and all rights in, arising out of, or associated
therewith: (a) patents, utility models, and applications therefor, and all reissues, divisions, re-examinations, renewals, extensions, provisionals, continuations and
continuations-in-part thereof, and any results of any inter partes review proceedings, post grant review proceedings, opposition, nullification, supplemental
examination proceedings and extensions thereof, and equivalent or similar rights anywhere in the world in inventions and discoveries, including invention
disclosures (whether or not patentable and whether or not reduced to practice); (b) all trade secrets, inventions (whether or not patentable and whether or not
reduced to practice), and other rights in know-how and confidential or proprietary information recognized under applicable Law as "trade secrets"; (c) all mask
works, works of authorship and copyrights, data, databases, designs, registrations and applications therefor, and all other rights corresponding thereto (including
moral rights), throughout the world; (d) all rights in domain names, social media accounts, blogs, and similar Company online presence, and applications and
registrations thereof; (e) Trademarks; (f) rights in Software; (g) rights of publicity, personality, identification, or similar personal or group attributes; (h) any
similar, corresponding, or equivalent rights to any of the foregoing and any other intellectual property or proprietary rights throughout the world; and (i) all
Ancillary IP Rights.
" Intellectual Property Registrations " means the following Company IP that is subject to any issuance, registration, recordation or application or other
filing by, to or with any Governmental Entity or authorized private registrar in any jurisdiction (a) Trademarks, (b) domain names, (c) copyrights, and (d) patents
and pending applications for any of the foregoing.
" Knowledge " as used in "to the Knowledge of Company" or phrases of similar import, means the actual conscious knowledge of a Company Knowledge
Party.
" Latest Balance Sheet " means the unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016.
" Latest Balance Sheet Date " means December 31, 2016.
" Law " means any applicable federal, state or local law, statute, code, ordinance, regulation, Order or rule.
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" Leased Real Property " means all leasehold or subleasehold estates and other rights to use or occupy any land, buildings, structures, improvements,
fixtures or other interest in real property held by the Company Group.
" License " means any license or sublicense Contract.
" Liens " means any lien, pledge, or other security interest.
" Losses " means actual losses, damages, judgments, Taxes, interest, penalties, fines, awards, costs and expenses (including reasonable and documented
attorneys' fees incurred in connection with the foregoing).
" Material Adverse Effect " means any event, circumstance or state of facts that, individually or in the aggregate, has, or would reasonably be expected to
have, a material adverse effect upon the business, assets, liabilities, properties, results of operations or financial condition of the Company Group, taken as a whole,
or the ability of the Company Group to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided , however, that none of the following will
constitute a Material Adverse Effect, or will be considered in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred: (i) changes that are the result of factors
generally affecting the industries or markets in which the Company Group operates; (ii) changes, effects or circumstances arising out of the announcement or
disclosure of the transactions contemplated hereby, including: (A) losses or threatened losses of, or any adverse change in the relationship with, employees,
customers, vendors, distributors, resellers, financing sources, licensors, licensees or other commercial relations of the Company Group or (B) litigation or other
administrative proceedings by any Person with respect to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby; (iii) changes in Law or GAAP or the
interpretation thereof; (iv) failure by the Company Group to achieve any periodic earnings, revenue, expense, sales or other estimated projection, forecast or budget
prior to the Closing (it being understood that the underlying facts giving rise to such failure may be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse
Effect has occurred (to the extent not otherwise excluded by any other clause herein)); (v) changes that are the result of economic factors affecting the national,
regional or world economy or financial markets; (vi) changes in the financial, banking or securities markets; (vii) earthquakes, hurricanes, tsunamis, tornados,
floods, mudslides, fires or other disasters or acts of god or any other force majeure events; (viii) political or social conditions, including those in any jurisdiction in
which the Company Group conducts business; (ix) engagement by the U.S. in hostilities or the escalation thereof or the occurrence or the escalation of any military
or terrorist attack upon the U.S. or any U.S. territories, possessions or diplomatic or consular offices or upon any U.S. military installation, equipment or personnel;
or (x) consequences arising from Parent's compliance with its obligations under Section 5.3 or the application of Antitrust Laws (including any Action or judgment
arising under Antitrust Laws) to the transactions contemplated hereby; provided, that, in the cases of clauses (i) , (iii) , (v) , (vi) , (vii) , (viii) or (ix) , any such
development, effect, event, change, occurrence or circumstance may constitute a Material Adverse Effect and may be taken into consideration in determining
whether there has been a Material Adverse Effect in the event such development, effect, event, change, occurrence or circumstance adversely effects, or would
reasonably be expected to adversely affect the Company Group, taken as a whole, in a disproportionate manner relative to the other participants in the industries in
which they operate and, to the extent taken into account in accordance with this exception, shall only be taken into account to the extent of such disproportionate
manner relative to the other participants in the industries in which they operate.
" Merger Consideration " means an aggregate amount equal to (i) Closing Merger Consideration, (ii) plus any Excess Amount, Adjustment Escrow
Amount, Indemnity Escrow Amount, Expense Holdback Amount and, solely to the extent the matter set forth on Schedule 6.2(a) is not resolved and all claims
related thereto satisfied or released prior to the Closing, Special Indemnity Escrow Amount, that is ultimately payable to the Equityholders pursuant to Section
2.5(d) , Section 2.5(e) , Section 6.2(e) or Section 6.2(n) .
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" Operating Company " means Eliza Corporation, a Delaware corporation.
" Option " means each outstanding option to acquire Shares granted under an Option Plan as of immediately prior to the Effective Time.
" Option Holder " means a holder of Options as set forth on Annex A and as may be updated by written notice to Parent prior to the Closing to reflect any
expiration, cancelation or termination of any Options at or prior to the Effective Time or any issuance of any Options prior to the Effective Time, in each case,
pursuant to the terms of the applicable Option Plan and agreement governing such Option.
" Option Plans " means the Eliza Holding Corp. 2011 Stock Option Plan and the Eliza Holding Corp. 2012 Stock Option Plan.
" Order " means any order, judgment, injunction, award, decree, ruling, charge, writ, assessment, or arbitration award of any court of law of competent
jurisdiction or any legally binding requirement of any Governmental Entity.
" Ordinary Course of Business " means the conduct of the Business by the Company Group in accordance with the Company Group's customs, practices
and procedures and, to the extent applicable, consistent with past practices.
" Out-of-the-Money Option " means any portion of an Option in which the Exercise Price per Share underlying such Option is greater than the Closing Per
Share Merger Consideration.
" Parent Person " means any of Parent, the Merger Sub, any Affiliates thereof and any director, manager, officer, employee or Agent of any of the
foregoing.
" Paying Agent " means SRS Acquiom LLC.
" Permits " means any license, permit, registration, product registration, approval, certificate, authorization, certificate of occupancy, authority,
qualification or similar document or authority that has been issued or granted by any Governmental Entity, or any franchise of or from any Governmental Entity or
from an accreditation organization that is required by Law or by Contract for the operation of the Company or either Company Subsidiary or the Business.
" Per Share Merger Consideration " means (i) the sum of (x) the Merger Consideration and (y) the Aggregate Exercise Price divided by (ii) the sum of (x)
the aggregate number of Shares outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time and (y) the aggregate number of Shares issuable upon the exercise of all
Vested Options.
" Permitted Liens " means (i) Liens securing obligations under capital leases; (ii) statutory Liens in favor of vendors of goods for which payment is not yet
due or delinquent; (iii) mechanics', materialmen's, workmen's, repairmen's, landlord's, warehousemen's, carrier's and other similar Liens arising or incurred in the
Ordinary Course of Business which are not yet due and payable or which are being contested in good faith; (iv) Liens in respect of pledges or deposits under
workers' compensation Laws or similar legislation, unemployment insurance or other types of social security; (v) all matters of record; (vi) licenses of Intellectual
Property; and (vii) those Liens set forth on the Permitted Liens Schedule attached hereto as Annex B .
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" Person " means any natural person, sole proprietorship, partnership, joint venture, trust, unincorporated association, corporation, limited liability
company, entity or Governmental Entity.
" Personal Information " means any data or other information that alone or in combination with other information that is publicly available or is held or
controlled by the Company Group, that can be reasonably used to specifically identify an individual or a specific device, or that is otherwise protected by or subject
to any applicable data protection, privacy, security, or other similar Laws, including any security breach notification requirements.
" Post-Closing Tax Period " means any taxable period beginning after the Closing Date and, with respect to any Straddle Period, the portion of such
Straddle Period beginning after the Closing Date.
" Pre-Closing Straddle Period " means the portion of any Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date.
" Pre-Closing Tax Period " means any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date.
" R&W Policy " means the insurance policy in respect of breaches of representations and warranties procured by Parent in connection with the execution
of this Agreement, the form of which is included with the conditional binder attached hereto as Exhibit 2 .
" Sale Materials " means (i) all emails and other communications from or among any Company Persons concerning, related to or in respect of the sale
process, the Deal Documents, the assets, liabilities, operations, prospects and condition of the Company Group and its businesses as related to the foregoing, and
any other matter relating to any of the foregoing (whether or not such email or other communication is entitled to any attorney-client or other privilege) and (ii) all
documents created by or on behalf of any Company Person in connection with, in preparation for, related to or arising out of the sale process, any prior sale
processes, the Deal Documents and the subject matter hereof and thereof, and excluding for the sake of clarity this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents, but, in
each case, not any prior drafts thereof.
" Securities Act " means the Securities Act of 1933.
" Share " means an issued and outstanding share of the Company's common stock, par value of $0.01 per share.
" Software " means computer programs (whether in source code, or mark-up language form), whether embodied in software, firmware, or otherwise,
including software compilations, algorithms, software implementations of algorithms, software tool sets, compilers, and software models and methodologies, and
translation, ported versions, and modifications of any of the foregoing.
" Solvent " means, with respect to any Person, that (i) the property and assets of such Person, at a present fair saleable valuation, exceeds the sum of its
debts (including contingent and unliquidated debts); (ii) the present fair saleable value of the property and of such Person exceeds the amount that will be required
to pay such Person's probable liabilities on its existing debts as they become absolute and matured; (iii) such Person shall not have an unreasonably small amount of
capital to carry on its business; and (iv) such Person will be able to pay its liabilities, as of such date, including contingent and other liabilities, as they mature. For
purposes of this definition, "not have an unreasonably small amount of capital for the operation of the businesses in which it is engaged or proposed to be engaged"
and "able to pay its liabilities, as of such date, including contingent and other liabilities, as they mature" means that such Person will be able to generate enough
cash from operations, asset dispositions or refinancing, or a combination thereof, to meet its obligations as they become due.
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" Special Indemnity Escrow " means, solely to the extent the matter set forth on Schedule 6.2(a) is not resolved and all claims related thereto satisfied or
released prior to the Closing, the escrow to be deposited with the Escrow Agent for the purpose of satisfying any amounts payable in connection with the matter
described in Schedule 6.2(a) pursuant to Section 6.2(e) .
" Special Indemnity Escrow Amount " means $600,000.
" Stockholders " means, collectively, the holders of Shares after giving full effect to the SPV Merger, as set forth on Annex A .
" Stockholders Agreement " means the Stockholders Agreement, dated as of June 22, 2011, by and among the Company, SPV and the other Persons
named therein, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time to the extent permitted thereunder.
" Straddle Period " means any taxable period (or portion thereof) beginning on or before and ending after the Closing Date.
" Target Working Capital " means $1,500,000.
" Taxes " means all taxes, levies or similar governmental charges including all federal, state, local and foreign income, corporation, gross receipts, valueadded, goods and services, license, franchise, profits, capital gains, capital stock, transfer, sales, use, occupation, property, ad valorem , excise, severance,
unclaimed property (escheat liability), windfall profits, stamp, license, payroll, withholding, social security and other taxes (whether payable directly or by
withholding and whether or not requiring the filing of a Tax Return), and all estimated taxes, additions to tax, and penalties and interest imposed thereon or with
respect thereto.
" Tax Return " means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, information return or other document (including any related or supporting
estimates, elections, schedules, statements or information) filed or required to be filed in connection with the determination, assessment or collection of any Tax or
the administration of any Laws or administrative requirements relating to any Tax.
" Trademarks " means, collectively, trademarks, service marks and trade dress, trade names, logos, slogans, trademark and service mark registrations, and
other indicia of origin, and all goodwill associated therewith.
" Transaction Expenses " means (i) the fees and expenses (including expense reimbursement obligations) of Kirkland & Ellis LLP, William Blair &
Company, L.L.C., Financial Technology Partners LP and FTP Securities LLC and any other third party advisor, in each case, incurred by or on behalf of the
Company Group through Closing (including amounts, if any, payable to any such advisor from the Adjustment Escrow Amount or the Excess Amount upon
determination of the Final Purchase Price) in respect of the sale process and the negotiation of this Agreement and the other agreements contemplated hereby, (ii)
(x) any transaction bonuses and similar compensatory payments triggered by the Merger and payable to employees of the Company or either Company Subsidiary
at or upon the consummation of the Closing and (y) to the extent such amounts would not otherwise be withheld by the Company or either Company Subsidiary in
the ordinary course for the calendar year 2017, the employer portion of payroll taxes to be paid by the Company Group with respect to such payments or with
respect to any payments to Option Holders pursuant to this Agreement, in each case, to the extent such amounts are not included as current liabilities in Working
Capital and (iii) any fees payable to PCP, L.P. pursuant to the Advisory Services Agreement; provided that, in no event shall Transaction Expenses include any: (A)
fees, costs or expenses initiated or otherwise incurred at the request of Parent or any of its Affiliates or Agents; (B) fees, costs or expenses related to any financing
activities in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby; or (C) legal, consulting or other third party advisor fees, costs or expenses incurred in the
Ordinary Course of Business and not related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents.
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" Transaction Tax Deductions " means the sum of the total losses or deductions, which are deductible for U.S. federal income tax purposes, resulting from
or attributable to: (i) Transaction Expenses; (ii) other transaction costs of any of the Company Group arising from, incurred in connection with or incident to this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby that are paid on or prior to the Closing Date or included in the computation of the Final Working Capital; (iii)
fees, expenses and interest (including amounts treated as interest for Tax purposes and any breakage fees) incurred by the Company Group, and any unamortized
deferred financing costs, with respect to the payment of Indebtedness in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (whether paid prior to, on
or after the Closing); and (iv) to the extent not included in clause (i), the vesting, cancelation or exercise of any Option (or any portion thereof) in connection with
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, whether prior to, on or after Closing.
" Treasury Regulations " means the regulations promulgated under the Code by the U.S. Department of the Treasury.
" Unvested Option " means any portion of an Option that has not vested as of immediately prior to the Effective Time.
" Vested Option " means any portion of an Option, other than any Out-of-the-Money Option, that has vested as of immediately prior to the Effective Time.
" WARN Act " means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988 and any similar or related Law.
" Working Capital " means: (i) the consolidated current assets (excluding Cash, current and deferred income Tax assets and the unbilled revenue and
uninvoiced revenue) of the Company Group set forth on the Working Capital Schedule; minus (ii) the consolidated current liabilities (excluding Indebtedness,
Transaction Expenses and current and deferred income Tax liabilities) of the Company Group set forth on the Working Capital Schedule, in each case, determined
as of the Adjustment Time and in accordance with the Company Accounting Principles, provided that for the avoidance of doubt current liabilities in Estimated
Working Capital and Final Working Capital shall include all liabilities related to the annual merit increases in salaries awarded to employees of the Company
Group in 2017, including the retrospective applicability of such increases as of January 1, 2017. The Working Capital Schedule sets forth (A) the balance sheet
accounts in respect of current assets and current liabilities that shall be the exclusive accounts used for purposes of determining Estimated Working Capital and
Final Working Capital, (B) an illustrative calculation of Working Capital as of the Latest Balance Sheet Date using such balance sheet accounts and (C) certain
rules, limitations and exceptions to GAAP to be applied in determining Estimated Working Capital and Final Working Capital.
ARTICLE II
MERGER
Section 2.1

Merger . Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing:

(a)
The Merger will be consummated by the filing of a certificate of merger in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 3 with
the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the " Company Merger Certificate ") in accordance with DGCL. Upon such filing, Merger Sub shall be merged with
and into the Company, the separate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and the Company shall continue as the surviving corporation under the Laws of the State of
Delaware (" Surviving Corporation "). The date and time when the Merger becomes effective pursuant to the filing of the Company Merger Certificate is
hereinafter referred to as the " Effective Time ."
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(b)

At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any further action by any other Person:

(i)
all the properties, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company and Merger Sub shall vest in the Surviving
Corporation and all debts, liabilities, obligations and duties of the Company and Merger Sub shall become debts, liabilities, obligations and
duties of the Surviving Corporation;
(ii)
(A) the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated as of the Effective Time to
be identical to the certificate of incorporation of Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to such time and (B) the bylaws of the Surviving
Corporation shall be amended and restated as of the Effective Time to be identical to the bylaws of Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to
such time, in each case, other than changing the name of the Surviving Corporation;
(iii)
(A) the directors of Merger Sub at the Effective Time shall be the directors of the Surviving Corporation and (B) the officers
of Merger Sub at the Effective Time shall be the officers of the Surviving Corporation, in each case, until successors are duly elected or
appointed in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation and the DGCL;
(iv)
each share of common stock of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be
converted into and become one validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of common stock of the Surviving Corporation;
(v)
each Share and all rights in respect thereof shall forthwith cease to exist and be converted into and represent the right to
receive, upon delivery of a duly-executed and completed letter of transmittal in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 4 (" Letter of Transmittal "),
the Per Share Merger Consideration;
(vi)
each Vested Option shall be canceled in accordance with the applicable Option Plan and the agreement governing such
Vested Option and cease to exist and each Option Holder thereof shall, upon delivery of a duly-executed option cancelation acknowledgment in
the form attached hereto as Exhibit 5 (" OCA "), be entitled to receive an aggregate amount in cash equal to (A)(x) the Per Share Merger
Consideration (y) multiplied by the aggregate number of Shares issuable upon the exercise of such Vested Option (B) minus the aggregate
Exercise Price of such Shares; and
(vii)
each Unvested Option and each Out-of-the-Money Option shall be canceled in accordance with the applicable Option Plan
and the agreement governing such Option and cease to exist without any consideration paid to the holder thereof.
(c)
At and after the Effective Time, (a) each Stockholder shall cease to have any rights as a stockholder of the Company, except as
otherwise required by applicable Law and except for the right of each Stockholder to deliver a duly executed and completed Letter of Transmittal in exchange for
payment of the portion of the Merger Consideration such Stockholder is entitled to pursuant to this Agreement in the manner and at the times set forth herein and
(b) no transfer of Shares shall be made on the transfer books of the Surviving Corporation. Immediately after the Effective Time the stock ledger of the Company
shall be closed.
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Section 2.2
Pre-Closing Deliveries . At least three business days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall prepare and deliver to Parent a
statement prepared by the chief executive officer of the Company (" Estimated Closing Statement ") setting forth the Company's good faith estimate of: (i) Cash ("
Estimated Cash "), (ii) Working Capital (" Estimated Working Capital "), (iii) the aggregate amount of Indebtedness (" Estimated Indebtedness "), (iv) the
aggregate amount of Transaction Expenses (" Estimated Transaction Expenses "), (v) the calculation of the Initial Purchase Price and Closing Per Share Merger
Consideration based on such estimates and (vi) the aggregate amount that each Equityholder will be entitled to receive at Closing; which, in respect of each
Stockholder, shall be equal to the Closing Per Share Merger Consideration multiplied by the number of Shares held by such Stockholder and, in respect of each
Option Holder, shall be equal to (A) the Closing Per Share Merger Consideration multiplied by the aggregate number of Shares issuable upon the exercise of each
Vested Option held by such Option Holder minus (B) the aggregate Exercise Price of such Shares (" Equityholder Payment Schedule "). Parent shall have no
liability in respect of the calculations set forth on the Equityholder Payment Schedule. Upon delivery of the Estimated Closing Statement (and the calculations set
forth therein), Parent shall notify the Company of any comments it has to the Estimated Closing Statement or the calculations set forth therein. If Parent has any
such comments, the Company shall consider in good faith any such comments; provided that the failure of the Company to include any comments proposed by
Parent, or the acceptance by Parent of the Estimated Closing Statement, shall not constitute an acknowledgement by Parent of the accuracy of the Estimated
Closing Statement (or the calculations set forth therein) for purposes of Section 2.5 .
Section 2.3

Closing Deliverables; Payments .

(a)
The closing of the transactions contemplated hereby (" Closing ") shall take place by conference call and by exchange of signature
pages by email or fax at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Time on (i) the second business day after the date on which the conditions set forth in Section 2.7 are satisfied or waived
(other than those conditions which by their terms are required to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions) or (ii) on
such other date as the Parties mutually agree in writing (the date upon which the Closing occurs, " Closing Date ").
(b)

At or prior to the Closing:

(i)
The Company shall file the certificate of merger for the SPV Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware
(the " SPV Merger Certificate ") and request that the Secretary of State provide evidence of such filing within 30 minutes of such filing.
(ii)
Following receipt of evidence of the SPV Merger Certificate filing, the Company shall file the Company Merger Certificate
for the Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and request that the Secretary of State provide evidence of such filing within
30 minutes of such filing.
(iii)
The Company shall deliver to Parent a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, signed by an authorized officer of the
Company, confirming that the conditions set forth in Section 2.7(b)(i) and Section 2.7(b)(ii) have been satisfied.
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(iv)
Parent shall deliver to the Company a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, signed by an authorized officer of Parent,
confirming that the conditions set forth in Section 2.7(c)(i) and Section 2.7(c)(ii) have been satisfied.
(v)
The Company shall deliver to Parent a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying that the Company is not (and has
not been at any time during the three-year period ending on the Closing Date) a U.S. real property holding corporation along with a draft of the
intended correspondence required to be sent to the IRS with respect to such certification.
(vi)

Parent shall deliver to Representative confirmation of the R&W Policy attached to Exhibit 2 .

(vii)
The Company shall deliver to Parent UCC-3 termination statements and any other instrument reasonably necessary to
terminate or discharge the Liens described on Schedule 2.3(b)(vii) .
(viii)

The Company shall deliver to Parent the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Representative.

(ix)

Parent shall deliver to the Company the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Parent.

(x)

The Company shall deliver to Parent the Advisory Services Agreement Termination Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 7

(xi)

The Company shall deliver an updated capitalization table pursuant to Section 5.16 .

.

(xii)
Parent shall pay to the Paying Agent the Aggregate Closing Payment, and instruct the Paying Agent to pay by wire transfer
of immediately available funds:
(1)
to the Company Group's lenders, the aggregate amount set forth in the payoff letters from such lenders in respect
of the Indebtedness for Borrowed Money;
(2)
to the payees set forth in the Estimated Closing Statement, the Transaction Expenses; provided that, in respect of
any such payments that constitute compensatory payments to employees, such payments shall be net of the applicable withholding
amounts pursuant to Section 2.4 ;
(3)
to each Stockholder, the aggregate Closing Per Share Merger Consideration that such Stockholder is entitled to
receive at Closing in respect of such Stockholder's Shares as set forth on the Estimated Closing Statement, upon delivery of a dulyexecuted and completed Letter of Transmittal;
(4)
to Operating Company, in respect of each Option Holder, the aggregate amount such Option Holder is entitled to
receive at Closing in respect of such Option Holder's Vested Options, as set forth on the Estimated Closing Statement, with such amount
to be paid to each such Option Holder by the Operating Company, net of the applicable withholding amounts pursuant to Section 2.4 ,
on or as soon as practicable after the Closing Date, upon delivery of a duly-executed and completed OCA;
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(5)

to the Escrow Agent, the Escrow Amount; and

(6)
to Representative, the Expense Holdback Amount (the aggregate amounts payable pursuant to clause (1) through
(6) , " Aggregate Closing Payment ").
The payments to be made pursuant to Section 2.3(b)(xii) shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts designated in writing by the
applicable payees as memorialized in the funds flow memorandum mutually agreed to by the Parties prior to the Effective Time (" Funds Flow ").
Section 2.4
Withholding . Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, Paying Agent and Operating Company, as applicable, shall be
entitled to deduct and withhold any Tax from any amounts payable under this Agreement to any Equityholder who is also an employee of Operating Company that
is treated as compensation for income tax purposes and is required to be withheld pursuant to any provision of Law. To the extent any amounts are withheld, such
amounts shall be promptly paid over to the applicable Governmental Entity and treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to such
Equityholders in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made by Paying Agent or Operating Company, as applicable.
Section 2.5
Determination of Purchase Price Adjustment . The Parties recognize the Estimated Closing Statement is being delivered to Parent prior
to the Closing Date and therefore the estimated amount of Cash, Working Capital, Indebtedness and Transaction Expenses included therein may be different than
the actual amount of such items were the determination of such items to occur on the Closing Date. Accordingly, this Section 2.5 sets forth the process by which
such estimates may be adjusted; provided that, in order to ensure that the adjustment of any such estimated item reflects an adjustment only between the estimate
thereof and the actual amount thereof, each of Cash, Working Capital, Indebtedness and Transaction Expenses shall be finally and solely determined by applying
the Company Accounting Principles (i.e., no accounting methods, policies, principles, practices, procedures, classifications, judgments or estimation methodologies
inconsistent with the Company Accounting Principles may be used by Parent (or, if applicable, the Accounting Firm) in calculating any such items, as the sole
purpose of the purchase price adjustment is to measure the difference, if any, between the estimate of an item and the actual amount of such item).
(a)
No later than 45 calendar days after the Closing Date, Parent shall deliver to Representative a statement (" Closing Statement ")
setting forth in reasonable detail Parent's good faith calculation of the following items (each, a " Closing Item "): (i) Cash (as finally determined pursuant to this
Section 2.5 , " Final Cash "), (ii) Working Capital (as finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.5 , " Final Working Capital "), (iii) the aggregate amount of
Indebtedness (as finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.5 , " Final Indebtedness "), (iv) the aggregate amount of Transaction Expenses (as finally determined
pursuant to this Section 2.5 , " Final Transaction Expenses ") and (v) the resulting calculation of the Final Purchase Price.
(b)
From and after Representative's receipt of the Closing Statement until the Closing Items are finally determined pursuant to this
Section 2.5 , Representative, its Affiliates and their respective Agents shall be permitted reasonable access to the Surviving Corporation, its subsidiaries and their
auditors, accountants, personnel, books and records and any other documents or information reasonably requested by Representative or such Agents (including the
information, data and work papers used by auditors or accountants that assisted in the preparation of the Closing Items).
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(c)
Representative shall have 30 calendar days after its receipt of the Closing Statement (" Review Period ") during which to review
Parent's calculation of the Closing Items. If Representative disputes any of the Closing Items, Representative shall notify Parent in writing of its objection to such
Closing Items within the Review Period, together with a description of the basis for and dollar amount of such disputed items (to the extent reasonably possible) (a
" Dispute Notice "). The Closing Items, as set forth in the Closing Statement, shall become final, conclusive and binding on the Parties unless Representative
delivers to Parent a Dispute Notice within the Review Period. If Representative delivers a Dispute Notice, any amounts on the Closing Statement not objected to by
Representative in the Dispute Notice shall be final, conclusive and binding on the Parties, and Parent and Representative shall, within 30 calendar days following
Parent's receipt of such Dispute Notice (" Resolution Period "), attempt in good faith to resolve their differences with respect to the matters set forth in the Dispute
Notice and any such written resolution shall be final, conclusive and binding on the Parties. If, at the conclusion of the Resolution Period, any amounts remain in
dispute, then each of Parent and Representative shall submit all items remaining in dispute to a nationally or regionally recognized accounting firm mutually
acceptable to Parent and Representative (" Accounting Firm ") for resolution by delivering within 10 calendar days after the expiration of the Resolution Period to
Accounting Firm their written position with respect to such items remaining in dispute. The fees and expenses of Accounting Firm pursuant to this Section 2.5(c)
shall be divided equally between Parent and Representative (it being understood that Representative shall be entitled to pay all such fees out of the Expense
Holdback Amount). Accounting Firm shall determine, based solely on the submissions by Representative and Parent, and not by independent review, only those
issues set forth in the Dispute Notice that remain in dispute and shall determine a value for any such disputed item which is equal to or between the final values
proposed by Parent and Representative in their respective submissions. Parent and Representative shall request that Accounting Firm make a decision with respect
to all disputed items within 10 business days after the submissions of Parent and Representative, and in any event as promptly as practicable. The final
determination with respect to all disputed items shall be set forth in a written statement by Accounting Firm delivered to Parent and Representative and shall be
final, conclusive and binding on Parent and Representative. Parent and Representative shall promptly execute any reasonable engagement letter requested by
Accounting Firm and shall each cooperate fully with Accounting Firm, including by providing the information, data and work papers used by each Party or
Representative to prepare or calculate the Closing Items, making its personnel and accountants available to explain any such information, data or work papers, so as
to enable Accounting Firm to make such determination as quickly and as accurately as practicable.
(d)
If the Final Purchase Price is greater than the Initial Purchase Price (such excess amount, " Excess Amount "), then, within two
business days after the Final Purchase Price is finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.5 , Parent shall pay the Paying Agent, by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to the account of Paying Agent, an aggregate amount equal to the Excess Amount and instruct the Paying Agent to pay to Equityholders the
aggregate portion of the Excess Amount that such Equityholders are entitled in accordance with Section 2.5(f) . Upon such payment of the Excess Amount by
Parent, Parent and Representative shall jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to disburse to the Paying Agent (for further payment to the Equityholders pursuant to
Section 2.5 ), by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account of the Paying Agent, an aggregate amount equal to the Adjustment Escrow Amount.
(e)
If the Final Purchase Price is less than the Initial Purchase Price (such shortfall amount, " Shortfall Amount "), Parent and
Representative shall, within two business days after the Final Purchase Price is finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.5 , jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to
disburse from the Adjustment Escrow Amount to Parent, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account of Parent, an amount equal to the lesser of
the Shortfall Amount and the Adjustment Escrow Amount (it being understood that in no event shall Parent be entitled to any amount pursuant to this Section
2.5(e) in excess of the Adjustment Escrow Amount). If the Shortfall Amount is less than the Adjustment Escrow Amount (such difference, the " Remaining Escrow
Amount "), then Parent and Representative shall, within two business days after the Final Purchase Price is finally determined pursuant to this Section 2.5 , jointly
instruct the Escrow Agent to disburse the Remaining Escrow Amount to Equityholders pursuant to Section 2.5(f) . Unless Representative determines otherwise, on
the 18-month anniversary of the Closing Date, Representative shall pay to the Paying Agent (for further payment to Equityholders pursuant to Section 2.5(f) ) an
aggregate amount equal to the remaining Expense Holdback Amount.
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(f)
All amounts payable to the Equityholders pursuant to this Section 2.5 shall be allocated among and paid to the Equityholders,
without interest, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the Equityholders' accounts set forth in the Funds Flow, as if such amounts had been included in
the Closing Merger Consideration; provided that, any amounts payable to Option Holders shall be paid to the Operating Company and the Operating Company
shall pay such amounts to the Option Holders net of the applicable withholding amount pursuant to Section 2.4 , in each case, as determined by Representative and
the Operating Company, and such applicable withholding amount shall be paid by the Operating Company to the applicable Governmental Entities in accordance
with applicable Law.
(g)

Any payments made pursuant to this Section 2.5 shall be deemed an adjustment to the Final Purchase Price.

Section 2.6
Notice to Stockholders and Option Holders . The Company shall, as promptly as reasonably practicable after the date hereof, deliver to
Stockholders by email or through the Paying Agent's online web portal (a) notice in accordance with applicable law notifying Stockholders of: (i) the Merger; (ii)
the Board Actions and recommendation to Stockholders; and (iii) the Stockholder Approval; and (b) the Letter of Transmittal. The Company shall, as promptly as
reasonably practicable after the date hereof, deliver by email or through the Paying Agent's online web portal to Option Holders an OCA and instructions for
completing, executing and submitting such OCA to the Paying Agent (on behalf of the Company). The Company shall afford Parent a reasonable opportunity to
review and comment upon the notice described in this Section 2.6 and shall consider in good faith Parent's comments thereto.
Section 2.7

Conditions to Closing .

(a)
Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party . The obligations of each Party to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby are
subject to the satisfaction, at or before the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions:
(i)
Injunctions; Illegality . There shall not be any applicable Law in effect that makes the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby illegal nor shall any Action be pending before any Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction and authority wherein an
unfavorable Order would (A) prevent the performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, (B)
declare unlawful the transactions contemplated hereby or (C) cause such transactions to be rescinded, and no Order by any Governmental Entity
of competent jurisdiction and authority shall have been issued that has the effect of any of the foregoing clauses (A) through (C).
(ii)
HSR Act and Other Antitrust Laws . Any waiting periods, filings or approvals under the HSR Act and any other Antitrust
Laws or regulations required under applicable Law to consummate the Merger shall have expired, been terminated, been made or been obtained.
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(iii)

Stockholder Approval . The Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained.

(b)
Conditions to the Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub . The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby are subject to the satisfaction or waiver by Parent on or prior to the Closing Date of the following further conditions:
(i)
Performance . The Company shall have complied in all material respects with the covenants set forth in Article V required
to be complied with by the Company on or prior to the Closing Date.
(ii)
Representations and Warranties . Other than the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 3.1(a)
and (c) (Due Organization), Section 3.2(a) (Authorization), Section 3.3(a) and (b) (Capitalization), Section 3.15 (Brokerage) (the " Fundamental
Representations "), the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Article III shall be true and correct on and as of the date
hereof and on and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such date (other than those made as of a specified date, which shall be true and
correct as of such specified date) (without giving effect to any limitation or qualification on any representation or warranty indicated by the
words Material Adverse Effect or material; provided that, such materiality read-out shall not apply to the representations and warranties
contained in Section 3.5 (Financial Statements), the first sentence of Section 3.7 (Absence of Certain Changes), the first sentence of Section
3.11(a) (Employee Benefit Plans) or the defined term " Material Contracts "), except to the extent such failure of the representations and
warranties to be so true and correct would not have a Material Adverse Effect. The Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct as of
the Closing Date (other than those made as of a specified date, which shall be true and correct as of such specified date), in each case, except for
de minimus inaccuracies or inaccuracies that are cured prior to the Closing.
(iii)
Closing Deliveries . The Company shall have delivered the items required to be delivered thereby pursuant to and in
accordance with Section 2.3 .
(iv)

SPV Merger . The SPV Merger shall have been completed.

(v)

No Material Adverse Effect . From the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Effect.

(c)
Conditions to the Obligations of the Company . The obligations of the Company to consummate the Merger are subject to the
satisfaction or waiver by the Company on or prior to the Closing Date of the following further conditions:
(i)
Performance . Parent shall have complied in all material respects with all covenants required by this Agreement to be
complied with by Parent on or prior to the Closing Date.
(ii)
Representations and Warranties . The representations and warranties of Parent contained in Article IV shall be true and
correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time (other than those
made at and as of a specified date, which shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of such specified date).

18

(iii)
Section 2.3 .

Closing Deliveries . Parent shall have delivered the items required to be delivered by it pursuant to and in accordance with

(d)
Frustration of Closing Conditions . No Party may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in this Section 2.7 to be satisfied if
such failure was caused by such Party's breach of this Agreement, including as a result of the failure to use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Closing to occur
as required by Section 5.1(b) and Section 5.3 .
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY
Except as set forth on the Schedules delivered in connection with this Agreement, the Company hereby represents and warrants to Parent as of the date of
this Agreement and as of the Closing as follows:
Section 3.1

Due Organization, Power and Qualification .

(a)
The Company and each Company Subsidiary was duly incorporated and is validly existing under the Laws of Delaware and each
has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to conduct its business in the manner in which its business is currently
being conducted. SPV was duly formed and is validly existing under the Laws of Delaware.
(b)
The Company and each Company Subsidiary is duly qualified to do business in good standing in each jurisdiction where the conduct
of the business of, or the character of the assets and properties owned, leased, or operated by, the Company or such Company Subsidiary, as the case may be,
requires such qualification, except in such jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
(c)
SPV was formed solely for the purpose of owning equity interests in the Company and except as set forth on Schedule 3.1(c) , has
not engaged in any business activities or conducted any operations, has not had any employees and has not incurred liabilities or obligations of any nature. SPV
does not have any assets other than cash, the SPV Shares, Series A Shares and Series B Shares. Except for the filing of the SPV Merger Certificate, no other
consents or approvals are required on the part of SPV to consummate the SPV Merger except for those consents or approvals that will be obtained prior to Closing.
(d)
The Company and Representative have delivered (i) duly executed copies of consents of the managing member of SPV and all of the
members of SPV adopting and approving the SPV Merger and the SPV Merger Agreement in accordance with applicable Law and the governing documents of
SPV and (ii) a fully executed copy of the SPV Merger Agreement. The Company has delivered or made available to Parent a true and correct copy of the certificate
of formation and limited liability company agreement, each as amended to date (other than as contemplated hereby), of SPV.
Section 3.2

Authorization; Charter Documents; Noncontravention .

(a)
The Company has the requisite corporate power and authority and has taken all corporate action necessary to execute and deliver
this Agreement and each of the Ancillary Documents to which it is a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby. This Agreement and the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and each of the Ancillary
Documents to which it is party has been approved by the board of directors of the Company in accordance with applicable Law, and this Agreement will be
submitted to the Stockholders for adoption thereby, in each case, in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Company and applicable
Law, and, except as contemplated herein and with respect to the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is party to, no other corporate proceedings on the part
of the Company are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents or to consummate the
transactions so contemplated. The board of directors of the Company has declared this Agreement and the Merger advisable and recommended that the
Stockholders approve this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a party and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The
Stockholder Approval and consent of SPV are the only votes or consents of the holders of any class or series of the Company's capital stock required to approve
and adopt this Agreement and the Ancillary Document and approve and consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby and by the
Ancillary Documents. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding
obligation of Parent and Merger Sub, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its
terms, except to the extent that its enforceability may be subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting
the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general equitable principles. When each Ancillary Document to which the Company is or will be party has
been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming that each Ancillary Document constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the other parties
thereto, each Ancillary Document will constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its
terms, except to the extent that its enforceability may be subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting
the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general equitable principles. The board of directors of the Company has approved the SPV Merger Agreement,
declared the SPV Merger advisable and recommended that the Stockholders approve the SPV Merger Agreement. Upon delivery to Parent, the Stockholder
Approval shall have been obtained in accordance with applicable Law and shall be effective to approve the Merger and the SPV Merger, and the certification of the
Company as to the Stockholder Approval shall be true and correct.
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(b)
The Company has delivered or made available to Parent a true and correct copy of the certificates of incorporation and by-laws, each
as amended to date (other than as contemplated hereby) of the Company and Company Subsidiaries (collectively, the " Charter Documents "). Neither the
Company nor either of the Company Subsidiaries is in violation of any of the provisions of the Charter Documents.
(c)
The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which it is a party, and
the consummation by the Company on the Closing Date of the Merger, the SPV Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby do and will not, directly or
indirectly, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, (i) conflict with, result in a breach of or violate any provisions of the Charter Documents or any
stockholders agreement of the Company (including the Stockholders Agreement), (ii) subject to Required Filings, require the consent, approval or authorization of,
any third party with respect to, or result in any material breach or material violation of or constitute a material default under, or give rise to the creation of any Lien
on any of the material assets, rights or properties of the Company Group under, or result in any material right of termination, cancellation, amendment or
acceleration under, any Material Contract, except as set forth on Schedule 3.2(c)(ii) or (iii) subject to Required Filings, contravene any Law or Order applicable to
the Company Group.
Section 3.3

Capitalization .

(a)
The capitalization of the Company, each Company Subsidiary, and SPV as of the date hereof is set forth on Schedule 3.3(a)-1 . As
of the date hereof, the authorized capital stock of the Company consists of (i) 19,800,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share (" Common
Stock ") and (ii) 200,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.01 per share, of which (x) 50,000 shares are designated as Series A 7.5% Redeemable
Preferred Stock (" Preferred Series A Stock "), 50,000 shares are designated as Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (" Preferred Series B Stock ") and 100,000
shares are undesignated. As of the date hereof, (i) 2,095 shares of Preferred Series A Stock are issued and outstanding, (ii) 30,000 shares of Preferred Series B
Stock are issued and outstanding, (iii) 4,649,816 shares of Common Stock are issued and outstanding and (iv) an aggregate of 1,971,932 shares of Common Stock
are issuable upon the exercise of outstanding Options issued pursuant to the Option Plans. Each Company Subsidiary is directly or indirectly wholly owned by the
Company. The capitalization of the Company as of immediately prior to Closing shall be set forth on Schedule 3.3(a)-1 delivered to Parent pursuant to Section 5.16
. All issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company and each Company Subsidiary, as applicable, and all shares of capital stock of the Company to
be issued in the SPV Merger have been duly authorized and validly issued and, to the extent applicable, are fully paid and non-assessable, and were not issued in
violation of any preemptive rights created by statute, the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of the Company or any agreement to which the Company is a party.
Except as set forth on Schedule 3.3(a)-1 and Schedule 3.11(a) , there are no outstanding obligations to issue equity securities and there are no outstanding or issued
(a) shares of capital stock, voting securities, options, warrants, subscription rights or other equity interests of the Company or either Company Subsidiary, (b)
securities of the Company or either Company Subsidiary convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of capital stock or voting securities of the Company or either
Company Subsidiary or (c) stock appreciation rights, phantom stock, profit interests, profit participation, distribution, dividend or other similar rights issued or
granted by the Company or either Company Subsidiary. The Company Subsidiaries are the only subsidiaries of the Company. Except as set forth on Schedule
3.3(a)-2 , the Company and the Company Subsidiaries do not own any equity or debt interests in any other entity.
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(b)
Except as set forth on Schedule 3.3(b) , neither the Company nor either Company Subsidiary is a party to any stockholders'
agreement, voting agreement, voting trust agreement, proxy, registration rights agreement or other similar agreement among any current Stockholders relating to
any capital stock or any securities of the Company or any Company Subsidiary or to representation on the board of directors of the Company or either Company
Subsidiary, in each case, to which the Company or any Company Subsidiary will be bound following the Closing. All capital stock of each of the Company
Subsidiaries are owned of record and beneficially by the Company or a Company Subsidiary free and clear of all Liens, equitable interests, purchase rights, right of
first offer or first refusal or tag along right, other than Permitted Liens and those arising under applicable securities laws and those Liens associated with
Indebtedness for Borrowed Money which will be released in connection with the payoff thereof as provided in this Agreement.
(c)
The acceleration of vesting of the Options, the cancellation and cash out of Vested Options and the cancellation of Out-of-theMoney Options described in this Agreement will not violate or breach the provisions of an Option Plan or the applicable award agreements with the Option
Holders. True and correct copies of the Option Plans have been provided or made available to Parent. The only Employee Benefit Plans under which any
outstanding options to acquire stock of the Company were issued are the Option Plans.
Section 3.4
Consents and Approvals . Assuming any filings required under the Antitrust Laws are made and any waiting periods thereunder have
been terminated or expired, no consent approval, or authorization, waiver or declaration of or filing or registration with or notification to any Governmental Entity,
which has not been received or made, is required with respect to the Company or either Company Subsidiary in connection with the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement and each Ancillary Document to which it is a party by the Company or the consummation by the Company of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby (including the SPV Merger), except for (a) the filing of the SPV Merger Certificate and the Company Merger Certificate and (b)
any other consents, approvals, waivers, authorizations, declarations, filings, registrations or notices which, if not made or obtained, would not, individually or in the
aggregate, materially interfere with, materially impair, or make illegal, the conduct of the Business of the Company Group as currently conducted (the filings
required under the Antitrust Laws and the consents, approvals, authorizations, waivers, declarations, filings, registrations and notices referred to in clauses (a) and
(b), " Required Filings ").
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Section 3.5
Financial Statements . Attached to Schedule 3.5 are the following financial statements (collectively, " Financial Statements "): (a) the
2015 Audited Financial Statements and (b) the 2016 Unaudited Financial Statements. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.5 or as otherwise noted therein and subject
to the absence of footnotes and year-end adjustments with respect to the 2016 Unaudited Financial Statements, the Financial Statements have been prepared based
upon the books and records of the Company Group and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company Group as of the respective
dates thereof and the operating results of the Company Group for the periods covered thereby, in each case, in conformity with GAAP.
Section 3.6
Undisclosed Liabilities . Other than liabilities (a) reflected or reserved against in the 2016 Unaudited Financial Statements, (b)
included in Working Capital, Indebtedness or Transaction Expenses, (c) incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business since the Latest Balance Sheet Date or (d)
under Contracts to which the Company Group is a party (other than liabilities for breach of any Contract), the Company and the Company Subsidiaries do not have
any material liabilities that would be required to be set forth on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP.
Section 3.7

Absence of Certain Changes .

(a)
Since March 31, 2016, except as set forth on Schedule 3.7 , to the Knowledge of the Company the business and operations of the
Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries have been conducted in the Ordinary Course of Business in all material respects and there has not been a Material
Adverse Effect.
(b)
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, from March 31, 2016 through the date hereof, except in the Ordinary Course of
Business, as contemplated by this Agreement or as set forth on Schedule 3.7 , to the Knowledge of the Company neither the Company nor either of the Company
Subsidiaries has done or committed to do any of the following:
(i)
issued, pledged, encumbered, redeemed, repurchased, split, combined, reclassified, recapitalized, adjusted, subdivided,
sold or disposed of any capital stock of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries;
(ii)
other than in respect of Series A Shares, set aside, declared or paid any dividend or other distribution in respect of any
shares of its capital stock;
(iii)
made any material change in any accounting principles, method of accounting or accounting practice of the Company or the
Company Subsidiaries, except as required by GAAP;
(iv)

incurred, assumed or guaranteed any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money or any capital lease obligations;

(v)

sold, assigned or transferred any material assets or material properties;
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(vi)
transferred, assigned or granted any license or sublicense of any material rights under or with respect to any Intellectual
Property owned or licensed by the Company or the Company Subsidiaries;
(vii)
adopted any plan of merger (other than as provided in this Agreement), consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or
dissolution or filed a petition in bankruptcy under any provisions of federal or state bankruptcy Law or consented to the filing of any bankruptcy
petition against it under any similar Law;
(viii)
other than pursuant to any existing Contract or Option Plan or in respect of amounts that will be included in Transaction
Expenses, (i) materially increased the salary, wages, severance or other compensation payable or to become payable to any current or former
executive officer or director of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries or (ii) granted any bonus to any current or former executive officer or
director of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries;
(ix)
made any capital expenditures or capital commitments therefor in amounts outstanding after Closing in excess of $200,000
individually or $500,000 in the aggregate,
(x)
leased any property or assets for an amount in excess of $200,000 payable after Closing, individually (for the entire term of
the lease, not including any option term);
(xi)
acquired any equity or debt securities or business of any Person or any division thereof (excluding equity or debt securities
of the Company Group), entered into any joint venture or partnership with any Person (other than the Company Group), or made or forgave any
material loan to or made any material investment in any Person (other than the Company Group);
(xii)
(i) made, changed or rescinded any material election relating to Taxes or amended any Tax Return, (ii) settled or
compromised any material Action, audit or examination relating to Taxes, (iii) entered into any closing agreement with respect to Taxes; or (iv)
taken any affirmative action to surrender any right to claim a material Tax refund; or (v) taken any action outside the Ordinary Course of
Business that would have the effect of increasing the Tax liability of Parent or the Company Group in respect of any Post-Closing Tax Period;
(xiii)
made any material change in the policies, practices or procedures of the Company with respect to collection of accounts
receivable, establishment of reserves for uncollectible accounts or accrual of accounts receivable or deferral of revenue;
(xiv)
made any material write-off or write-down of, or any determination to take a material write-off or write-down of, any assets
of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries;
(xv)

commenced, discontinued or terminated any line of business; or

(xvi)

to the Company's Knowledge, had any Lien, other than Permitted Liens, imposed upon its assets (tangible or intangible).
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Section 3.8
Compliance with Laws . Except as set forth on Schedule 3.8 and subject matters addressed by Section 3.11 , Section 3.12 , Section 3.13
and Section 3.20 or as otherwise explicitly stated in this Agreement, the operations of the Company Group are, and since the Acquisition Date have been, in
compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws and the Company Group has not received in the three years prior to the date hereof any written notice
from a Governmental Entity alleging or finding a material violation of any such Law. To the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor either of the
Company Subsidiaries is the subject of a pending or threatened investigation by any Governmental Entity regarding a potential violation of any Law.
Section 3.9
Permits . The Company Group holds all material Permits required for the ownership or use of its assets and properties and the current
conduct of its Business (including for the occupation and use of the Leased Real Property) and is in material compliance and has complied with all such Permits in
the three years prior to the date hereof. There is no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened termination, expiration, suspension or revocation of
any such Permits. The Company Group does not conduct business outside of the United States and does not have any assets, operations or employees outside of the
United States.
Section 3.10
Litigation . Except as set forth on Schedule 3.10 , there are no Actions pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened,
against the Company Group by any Person or before any Governmental Entity and the Company Group is not subject to any Order issued to the Company Group
by a Governmental Entity. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.10 , to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no Actions pending or threatened against any current
or former director, officer or fiduciary of the Company or either Company Subsidiary with respect to which the Company Group may be required to advance
expenses or provide indemnification to such Person under the governing documents of the Company Group, any indemnification agreement or applicable Law.
Section 3.11

Employee Benefit Plans .

(a)
Schedule 3.11(a) sets forth a list of each material "employee benefit plan" (as such term is defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (" ERISA ")) and each other material equity-based, retirement, profit sharing, bonus, incentive, severance, separation,
change in control, retention, deferred compensation, fringe benefit, vacation, paid time off, medical, dental, life or disability plan, program, policy or arrangement
which is maintained, sponsored or contributed to (or required to be contributed to) by the Company Group, or under which any member of the Company Group has
any liability or a written legally binding obligation (each, an " Employee Benefit Plan "). With respect to each Employee Benefit Plan, the Company has made
available to Parent copies of, as applicable: (i) the current plan document; (ii) the most recent summary plan description required to be provided to participants; (iii)
the most recent determination or opinion letter received from the Internal Revenue Service (" IRS ") for any Employee Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified
under Section 401(a) of the Code and (iv) the most recently filed Form 5500 annual report to the extent such report is required to be filed. Except as set forth on
Schedule 3.11(a) or as would not result in a material liability or material cost to the Company or either Company Subsidiary: (x) each Employee Benefit Plan has
been administered, funded and operated in compliance with applicable Law and in accordance with its terms; (y) no Action is pending or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan (other than routine claims for benefits and appeals of denied claims); and (z) there are no
investigations, audits or examinations pending by the Internal Revenue Service or the U.S. Department of Labor relating to any Employee Benefit Plan and no
Employee Benefit Plan is the subject of an examination or audit by the Internal Revenue Service or U.S. Department of Labor or the subject of an application or
filing under any voluntary compliance program sponsored by the Internal Revenue Service or U.S. Department of Labor (including the Employee Plans
Compliance Resolution System) and any correction required by a closing letter from or closing agreement with the Internal Revenue Service or U.S. Department of
Labor with respect to such voluntary compliance program application or filing has been made. Neither the Company nor either Company Subsidiary maintains or
contributes to any plan, program, policy, arrangement or agreement with respect to employees (or former employees) employed outside of the United States. All
benefits, contributions and premiums required to be made or paid with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan on or before the Closing Date have been timely made
or paid in accordance with the terms of such Employee Benefit Plan and all material benefits accrued and reserved under any unfunded Employee Benefit Plan
have been paid, accrued or otherwise adequately reserved in all material respects to the extent required by, and in accordance with, GAAP.
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(b)
Except as set forth on Schedule 3.11(b) or as required by Law, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not (i)
increase the amount of or result in the acceleration of time of payment, funding or vesting of compensation or benefits under any Employee Benefit Plan, (ii) limit
or restrict the right of the Company or any Company Subsidiary to amend or terminate any employment, severance, change in control, vacation, paid time off, sick
leave, or equity compensation agreement, plan, policy or arrangement for which the Company or any Company Subsidiary has any liability or legally binding
obligation, or (iii) require a "gross-up" or "parachute payment" to any "disqualified individual" within the meaning of Section 280G(c) of the Code.
(c)
Neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary is required to contribute to any "multiemployer plan" (as defined in Section
3(37) of ERISA), and no Employee Benefit Plan is subject to Title IV of ERISA. The Company does not have any liability under Title IV of ERISA as a result of
being treated as a single employer with another Person under Section 414 of the Code. Each Employee Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section
401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter from the IRS or is a prototype plan that is entitled to rely on an opinion letter issued by the IRS to
the prototype plan sponsor and nothing has occurred that would adversely affect the qualified status of any Employee Benefit Plan.
(d)
Each Employee Benefit Plan that is a "nonqualified deferred compensation plan" (as defined under Section 409A(d)(1) of the Code)
complies with and has been operated and administered in compliance with the applicable requirements of Section 409A of the Code and the regulations thereunder.
Neither the Company nor either Company Subsidiary has any obligation to gross up, indemnify or otherwise reimburse any individual for any excise taxes, interest
or penalties incurred under Section 409A of the Code.
(e)
Except as set forth on Schedule 3.11(e) , other than as required under ERISA or other applicable Law, no Employee Benefit Plan
provides post-termination or retiree welfare benefits to any individual for any reason, and to the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor either
Company Subsidiary has any obligation to provide an individual with post termination or retiree welfare benefits other than as required under applicable Law.
(f)
With respect to the Employee Benefit Plans, there has been no "prohibited transaction" (as such term is defined in Section 4975 of
the Code or Section 406 of ERISA) that would result in a material tax or penalty on the Company or either Company Subsidiary under Section 4975 of the Code or
Section 502(i) of ERISA.
(g)
Neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary sponsors, maintains or participates in any "multiple employer welfare
arrangement" within the meaning of Section 3(40) of ERISA.
(h)
Neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary has any written legally binding obligation to modify or amend any Employee
Benefit Plan (other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, consistent with past practices, or as required by Law or to retain the tax qualified status of such plan).
Neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary has any written legally binding obligation to establish any "employee benefit plan" (as defined in Section 3(3)
of ERISA).
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(i)
Each Option was granted with an exercise price per share determined in good faith by the board of directors of the Company to be
equal to or greater than the fair market value of the underlying Shares on the date of grant based on a reasonable valuation method presumed to result in a
reasonable valuation under Treasury Regulation section 1.409A-1(b)(5)(iv)(B)(2) and each Option has a grant date not earlier than the date on which the board of
directors of the Company actually awarded the Option.
(j)
The representations and warranties set forth in this Section 3.11 are the sole and exclusive representations and warranties in respect
of employee benefit matters and the Employee Benefit Plans.
Section 3.12

Labor Matters .

(a)
The Company Group is not a party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement relating to its employees. There are no
strikes, work stoppages, slowdowns or other material labor disputes pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company Group. To the
Knowledge of the Company, there are no ongoing or threatened union organizing activities with respect to employees of the Company or either Company
Subsidiary.
(b)
The Company Group is, and for the past three years has been, in material compliance with all applicable Laws respecting labor and
employment, including all Laws relating to labor relations, employment policies and practices, equal employment opportunities, fair employment practices,
employment discrimination, harassment, whistleblowing, union organization, retaliation, reasonable accommodation, disability rights or benefits, immigration,
wages, hours, overtime compensation, child labor, hiring, promotion and termination of employees and service providers, working conditions, meal and break
periods, privacy, health and safety, workers' compensation, leaves of absence and unemployment insurance.
(c)
Except as set forth in Schedule 3.12(c) or as would not result in material liability to the Company Group, for the past three years the
Company Group's employees (including, to the Knowledge of the Company, temporary, contingent or contract employees) have been correctly classified as exempt
or non-exempt pursuant to the federal Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") and all applicable state and/or local minimum wage and overtime Laws, have not had
unlawful deductions made from their compensation, have been paid in accordance with all applicable Laws with respect to the payment of minimum wage,
overtime, or any amount due as wages or employment compensation under the Law, and any applicable employment Contract, commission plan or agreement, and
bonus or incentive plan, and have been provided with all meal periods and rest breaks required by Law. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.12(c) , or as would not
result in material liability to the Company Group, the Company Group has for the past 3 years complied with all recordkeeping requirements of the FLSA and
applicable state or local minimum wage and overtime Laws.
(d)

To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company Group has no outstanding material liability under the WARN Act.

(e)
The Company has made available to Parent a complete list of all employees of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries, as of the
most-recent pay date immediately preceding the date hereof, including any employee who is on a leave of absence of any nature, paid or unpaid, authorized or
unauthorized, including for each such individual the following: (i) name; (ii) title or position (including whether full or part time); (iii) location; (iv) hire date; and
(v) designation as either exempt or non-exempt from the overtime requirements of the FLSA. The Company has made available to Parent accounts as of the date
hereof of the current base salary, commissions at 100% performance, bonus percentage and bonus type or commission provided to each such individual, which
accounts are complete and correct in all material respects. The Company has made available to Parent copies of each written employment or retention agreement
and each written agreement or plan with severance obligations applicable to each Company Employee. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.12(e)(ii) to the Knowledge
of the Company no employee (including temporary, contingent, or contract employees) has provided notice of intent to terminate his or her employment.
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(f)
The representations and warranties set forth in this Section 3.12 and Section 3.7 (to the extent relating to labor matters) are the sole
and exclusive representations and warranties in respect of labor matters.
Section 3.13
Tax Matters . Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13 , (a) in the period from the Acquisition Date to the date hereof the Company Group
has filed or caused to be filed all Tax Returns that it is required to file (taking into account any applicable extensions) and such Tax Returns are accurate in all
material respects, (b) in the period from the Acquisition Date to the date hereof, all Taxes of the Company Group (whether or not shown as due on any Tax Return)
required to be paid have been paid, (c) all Taxes that the Company Group is required by Law to withhold in connection with amounts paid to any third party have
been duly withheld and have been paid over to the proper authorities to the extent due and payable, (d) in the three years prior to the date hereof, the Company
Group has not received any written notice from a taxing authority that such an audit or examination is contemplated or pending which audit or examination is not
resolved, (e) the Company Group is not currently the subject of an audit or other examination by a Governmental Entity relating to the payment of Taxes and the
Company Group is not presently contesting any Tax applicable to it before any Governmental Entity, (f) in the three years prior to the date hereof, the Company
Group has not received a written claim from a Governmental Entity in a jurisdiction where the Company Group does not file Tax Returns that the Company Group
is subject to taxation by such jurisdiction, (g) the Company Group has not entered into a written agreement or waiver extending any statute of limitations relating to
the payment of Taxes of the Company Group, in each case, that has not expired, (h) the Company Group will not be required to include any item of income in, or
exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of any of the following: (i)
change in method of accounting of the Company Group for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date; (ii) "closing agreement" as described in Code
Section 7121 (or any similar provision of other applicable Law) executed by the Company Group on or prior to the Closing Date or (iii) installment sale or open
transaction disposition made, or prepaid amount received or deferred revenue accrued, by the Company on or prior to the Closing Date, (i) to the Knowledge of the
Company, every Person who currently provides or has provided service to the Company or either Company Subsidiary has been properly classified by the
Company and the Company Subsidiaries as an employee or independent contractor in compliance with all Laws, and (j) the Company is not, nor has been at any
relevant time, a "United States Real Property Holding Corporation" within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the Code. The representations and warranties in
Section 3.7 (to the extent relating to Taxes), Section 3.11 (to the extent relating to Taxes) and this Section 3.13 are the sole and exclusive representations and
warranties with respect to Taxes (the " Tax Representations ") in respect of the Company Group.
Section 3.14

Intellectual Property Rights .

(a)
The Company Group owns, or has a right to use, all Intellectual Property presently used in, or necessary for, the conduct of its
Business, as currently conducted, free and clear of all Liens or encumbrances (other than Permitted Liens). Each item of Intellectual Property owned or used by the
Company Group immediately prior to the Closing Date shall, be owned and available for use by the Company Group on the same terms and conditions immediately
after the Closing Date. Neither this Agreement nor any of the transactions contemplated hereby will result in a termination (or a right to terminate) or other change
in the rights of the Company Group with respect to any third party Intellectual Property.
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(b)
Schedule 3.14(b) sets forth a complete list of all Intellectual Property Registrations. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.14(b) , all such
Intellectual Property Registrations have been duly maintained, are valid, subsisting (or, in the case of applications, applied for and active) and, to the Knowledge of
the Company, are enforceable.
(c)
In the last five years: (i) the Company Group has not received any written claim contesting the validity, enforceability,
registerability, patentability, scope, or ownership of any Company IP; and (ii) there have been no claims brought or otherwise threatened in writing or otherwise by
or against Company Group alleging infringement, misappropriation, dilution, or other violation of Intellectual Property of any third party, or a third party offer to
take a license to Intellectual Property. To the Knowledge of the Company, no third party is infringing, misappropriating, diluting, or otherwise violating any
Company IP.
(d)
Neither the Company IP nor the conduct of the Business by the Company Group currently infringes, misappropriates, dilutes or
otherwise violates, or has, in the past three years infringed, misappropriated, diluted, or otherwise violated, the Intellectual Property of any third party.
(e)
The Company Group has taken steps commercially reasonable under the circumstances to maintain and protect all of the Company
IP. Each current and former employee, consultant, and contractor that has contributed to the development of any Company IP has entered into a valid and
enforceable written agreement granting a present assignment to Company Group of all Intellectual Property created, conceived, or developed by such Person or
entity within the scope of such Person or entity's duties to or engagement by the Company Group and prohibiting such Person or entity from using or disclosing
trade secrets or confidential information of Company Group. To the Knowledge of the Company, no such Person or entity is in violation of any such agreement.
(f)
Except as set forth on Schedule 3.14(f) , the Company Group has not granted an exclusive license with respect to any Company IP,
nor is any Company IP subject to the retention of any exclusive rights or joint ownership, any compulsory license, or any restrictions on its enforceability. Except
as set forth on Schedule 3.14(f) , the Company Group has not licensed, sublicensed or otherwise granted any right or permission to use any Company IP to any
third party.
(g)
Schedule 3.14(g) sets forth all license or royalty Contracts with respect to any Intellectual Property to which the Company Group is
a party: (i) as a licensor or otherwise receives royalties (other than licenses granted to customers in the Ordinary Course of Business); and (ii) as a licensee or
otherwise pays royalties relating to commercially available off the shelf software that has a total replacement cost of more than $75,000 (each Contract in Schedule
3.14(g) , in addition to all unscheduled licenses applicable to software incorporated into the proprietary Software of the Company, excluding Open Source
Software, a “ License Agreement ”). Each License Agreement is binding on the Company or the Company Subsidiary party thereto and, except to the extent
enforceability may be subject to or limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors'
rights generally and by general equitable principles, neither the Company Group nor any other party thereto is in default under or in violation of any License
Agreement and to the Knowledge of the Company, the Company Group has not received any written notice from another party to such Contracts indicating such
party's intention to terminate any License Agreement.
(h)
None of the Company IP has been developed using any funding from a Governmental Entity that, as part of that funding, requires or
could reasonably be expected to require any compulsory licensing or other diminution in Intellectual Property protection, licensing, enforcement, or transfer rights
as part of its funding terms (whether pursuant to the applicable Contract or applicable Law) and the Company Group has not participated in any standards setting
organizations that require as a condition of participation FRAND Intellectual Property licensing or otherwise condition any of the Company's patents.
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(i)
The material source code for the Software owed by the Company Group has been maintained as a trade secret of the Company
Group. To the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company Group nor any Person or entity acting on its behalf has (i) disclosed or delivered, or has any
obligation (with or without the passage of time or giving of notice) to disclose or deliver, to any Person or entity, (ii) permitted the disclosure or delivery, or has
any obligation (with or without the passage of time or giving of notice) to permit the disclosure or delivery, to any escrow agent or other third party of, or (iii)
licensed or otherwise made available, or has any obligation (with or without the passage of time or giving of notice) to license or otherwise make available, any
material source code of the Software owned by the Company Group (other than, in the case of each of (i) through (iii), in connection with the transactions
contemplated hereby, or with respect to any employees and independent contractors operating for the Company Group's benefit at the time of such disclosure,
delivery, licensing, or making available and that were, at such time, subject to a written confidentiality agreement including reasonable protections of such source
code).
(j)
To the Knowledge of the Company, there are no bugs, defects, or errors in any Software owned by the Company Group or used in
the operation of its Business that materially and adversely affect the use, functionality, or performance of such Software.
(k)
Schedule 3.14(k) accurately identifies and describes each item of open source, free, shared or public library Software (“ Open Source
Software ”), including any version of any Software licensed pursuant to any GNU public license, that is contained in, integrated with, distributed with, or used by
the Company Group in the development or provision of any products or services, and for each such item, the license by which it is bound and whether it has been
modified or distributed or made accessible to third parties. To the extent that any proprietary Software of the Company Group incorporates any Open Source
Software, the proprietary Software complies with, and has been developed in accordance with, any and all rules, policies, requirements (including notice
requirements), and procedures (including the terms of any license agreements or terms of use) governing the use of such Software. No product or service of the
Company Group contains, is derived from, is integrated, distributed or made accessible with, or is being developed using any Open Source Software that is licensed
or made accessible under terms or used in such a manner that as the Business is currently conducted, (i) imposes a requirement or condition that any such product
or service or part thereof (A) be disclosed or distributed in source code form to any third party, (B) be licensed for the purpose of making modifications or
derivative works, (C) be available for use by any third party, or (D) be redistributable at no charge, or (ii) otherwise imposes any other material limitation,
restriction, or condition on the right or ability of the Company Group to use, provide access to, or distribute any such product or service (including the rights to
license, sublicense, resell, distribute, or make accessible any of the products or services of the Company Group, including on a SaaS or software as a service basis,
related to its Business, or charge license or subscription fees for any of the foregoing) or the ability of the Company Group to enforce any rights to Company IP.
(l)
No Software owned by the Company Group and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no third-party Software or Open Source
Software licensed to or used by the Company, contains any program routine, device, or other undisclosed feature, including a time bomb, virus, software lock, back
door, drop-dead device, termination logic, malicious logic, worm, Trojan horse, or trap door, that is capable of deleting, disabling, deactivating, interfering with, or
otherwise harming such Software, or any of the Company Group’s hardware, data, or computer programs or codes, or that is capable of providing access or
producing modifications not authorized by the Company Group.
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(m)
The computer, information technology and data processing systems, facilities and services used by the Company Group, including all
Software, hardware, networks, communications facilities, platforms and related systems (collectively, the “ Systems ”), are sufficient for the operation of the
Business of the Company Group. The Systems are in working condition and sufficiently perform the computing, information technology and data processing
operations necessary for the operation of the Business of the Company Group. During the 12 month period ending on the date hereof, there has been no material
failure, breakdown or continued substandard performance of any Systems that has caused a material disruption or interruption in or to any customer’s use or the
Company Group’s use of the Systems and about which the Company Group has been notified or otherwise has Knowledge. The Company Group makes
commercially reasonable back-up copies of data and information critical to the conduct of the Business of the Company Group that is contained on Company
Group servers and otherwise maintains commercially reasonable disaster recovery and business continuity plans, procedures, and facilities in connection with the
operation of the Business of the Company Group, act in compliance therewith, and have taken commercially reasonable steps to test such plans and procedures, and
such plans and procedures have been proven effective upon such testing in all material respects.
(n)
The Company Group is, in connection with the conduct of the Business of the Company Group, in compliance with, and for the last
three years has been in compliance with, all Data Security Requirements in all material respects. In the last three years, no Person or entity (including any
Governmental Entity) has commenced any Action or investigation relating to the Company Group’s information privacy or data security practices, including with
respect to alleged noncompliance with any Data Security Requirement or the access, disclosure or use of any sensitive or confidential information, including
Personal Information, maintained by or on behalf of the Company Group, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened any such Action, or made any
complaint, investigation or inquiry relating to such practices or alleged noncompliance with any Data Security Requirements.
(o)
The Company Group has not, in the past three years, experienced any loss, damage, or unauthorized access, disclosure, use or breach
of security of any sensitive or confidential information, including Personal Information, in the Company Group’s possession, custody or control or otherwise held
or processed on its behalf by independent contractors. The Company Group has had no event or occurrence which resulted in the requirement under any Data
Security Requirement that it notify Persons or entities, including without limitation any Governmental Entity, of any unauthorized access, disclosure, use or breach
of security of any sensitive or confidential information, including Personal Information in the Company Group’s possession, custody or control, or otherwise held
or processed on its behalf.
Section 3.15
Brokerage . Except for the amounts being paid to William Blair & Company, L.L.C. or Financial Technology Partners LP and FTP
Securities LLC in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the Company Group has not entered into any other agreement
pursuant to which a brokerage commission or finders' fee will be payable in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
Section 3.16
Related Party Transactions . Except (a) for the Advisory Services Agreement and Stockholders Agreement, (b) for Contracts with
directors, officers and employees in respect of employment, Options, Shares, restrictive covenants and other agreements related to employment or the provision of
services to the Company Group in the Ordinary Course of Business, (c) for advances to employees in ordinary course, (d) as contemplated by the transactions set
forth herein and the SPV Merger Agreement, (e) to the Knowledge of the Company, (1) no director, officer, employee or Equityholder has entered into, since
December 31, 2014, any material business arrangement or Contract with the Company or the Company Subsidiaries, (2) no current or former director, officer or
Equityholder owns any material asset, tangible or intangible, directly or indirectly, that is used by the Company or the Company Subsidiaries in the Business and
(3) to the Knowledge of the Company, no director, officer or employee of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries has any material interest in, or is a director or
officer of, any Person that is a material customer, supplier, lessor or lessee of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries. Except for the Advisory Services
Agreement, there is no outstanding Indebtedness owed by or to the Company or the Company Subsidiaries to or from any director, officer, employee or
Equityholder of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries; and (f) as set forth on Schedule 3.16.
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Section 3.17

Customers and Suppliers .

(a)
Schedule 3.17(a) sets forth each customer that has paid aggregate consideration to the Company or either Company Subsidiary for
products and services rendered in an amount greater than or equal to $500,000 in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, and lists each such customer's
associated revenues for such fiscal year (" Significant Customers "). Except as set forth on Schedule 3.17(a) and, to the Knowledge of the Company, (i) all
Significant Customers continue to be customers of the Company Group and no Significant Customer has since April 1, 2016, materially reduced or definitively
informed the Company Group that it is reducing materially its business with the Company Group from the levels achieved during the fiscal year ended December
31, 2016, or has adversely changed in any material respect or definitively informed the Company Group that for calendar year 2017 it is adversely changing in any
material respect the terms of the business that it does with the Company Group in any material respect; (ii) no Significant Customer has in the last six months
terminated its relationship with the Company Group or has threatened in writing to do so, in each case, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business; (iii) no
Significant Customer has in the last six months provided written notice to the Company Group that, in the event of a merger or sale of the Company Group or the
Business, the Company Group or the Business such Significant Customer would cease to be a customer and (iv) no Significant Customer has in the last six months
given the Company Group written notice that it is subject to any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceeding, and no such proceeding is pending or threatened.
(b)
Schedule 3.17(b) sets forth each supplier to whom the Company or a Company Subsidiary has paid aggregate consideration for
products and services rendered in an amount greater than or equal to $150,000 in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, and lists each such supplier's associated
costs for such fiscal year (" Significant Suppliers "). Except as set forth on Schedule 3.17(b) and, to the Knowledge of the Company, (i) all Significant Suppliers
continue to be suppliers or vendors of the Company Group and no Significant Supplier has since April 1, 2016, materially reduced or definitively informed the
Company Group that for calendar year 2017 it is reducing materially its business with the Company Group from the levels achieved during the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2016, or has adversely changed in any material respect or definitively informed the Company Group that it is adversely changing in any material
respect the terms of the business that it does with the Company Group in any material respect; (ii) no Significant Supplier has in the last six months terminated its
relationship with the Company Group, or has threatened in writing to do so; (iii) no Significant Supplier has in the last six months provided written notice to the
Company Group that, in the event of a merger or sale of the Company Group or the Business, the Company Group or the Business would lose or suffer diminution
in the amount supplied from the Significant Supplier and (iv) no Significant Supplier has in the last six months given the Company Group written notice that it is
subject to any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceeding, and no such proceeding is pending or threatened.
Section 3.18

Material Contracts .
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(a)

Except as set forth on Schedule 3.18(a) , the Company Group is not a party to any:

(i)
employment Contract providing for an annual base salary in excess of $200,000, any commission plan or commission
agreement that provides for targeted annual commissions in excess of $200,000, or any employment Contract providing for annual base salary
plus targeted annual commissions in excess of $200,000;
(ii)
$200,000;

Contract for individual independent contractors or consultants providing for guaranteed annual compensation in excess of

(iii)
Contract involving the settlement of any Action in an aggregate amount of $200,000 or more with respect to which (A) any
amount remains unpaid (except to the extent the same will be covered by insurance); (B) conditions precedent to the settlement thereof have not
been satisfied or (C) any material outstanding financial obligations will remain after the Closing Date;
(iv)

Contract that is a collective bargaining agreement with a labor organization;

(v)
Contract relating to Indebtedness for Borrowed Money or the guarantee, endorsement or repayment by the Company or any
Company Subsidiaries of Indebtedness or indebtedness (in the case of a guarantee) of any Person or the granting of Liens (other than Permitted
Liens) on any material property or assets of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries;
(vi)
Contract containing covenants prohibiting the Company or a Company Subsidiary from engaging in any line of business in
competition with any Person in any geographic area or market or to sell any products or services of or to any other Person;
(vii)
Contract involving a joint venture, partnership or other arrangement pursuant to which the Company or a Company
Subsidiary shares profits or losses with any other third Person;
(viii)
Contract that contains a readily ascertainable obligation or commitment of the Company or a Company Subsidiary to make
any capital expenditure after the date hereof in excess of $200,000;
(ix)
Contract that obligates the Company or a Company Subsidiary to pay an amount of $175,000 or more after the date hereof
and cannot be terminated on 90 days or less prior written notice without payment or penalty;
(x)
Contract involving the acquisition by the Company Group of any business enterprise whether via equity securities, merger,
consolidation, asset purchase or otherwise, other than purchases or acquisitions of assets or properties in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(xi)

Contract that is a Government Contract; or

(xii)

Contract with any Significant Customer or Significant Supplier.
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(b)
(i) Each Contract listed on Schedule 3.18(a) (each, a " Material Contract ") is binding on the Company or the Company Subsidiary
party thereto and, to the Knowledge of the Company, each other party thereto, except to the extent enforceability may be subject to or limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general equitable principles, (ii) to the
Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company Group nor any other party thereto is in default under or in violation of a Material Contract; and (iii) to the
Knowledge of the Company, the Company Group has not received any written notice from another party to a Material Contract indicating such party's intention to
terminate such Material Contract. " Material Contracts " shall not include any Contract that will be fully performed or satisfied as of or prior to Closing.
Section 3.19
Insurance . The Company Group has provided or made available to Parent true and correct copies all policies of, and binders evidencing,
any material life, fire, workmen's compensation, real and personal property, vehicular, product liability, director's and officer's liability, fiduciary liability, cyber
liability, general liability and other forms of material insurance owned or maintained by the Company or either Company Subsidiary (collectively, the " Insurance
Policies "). To the Knowledge of the Company, such Insurance Policies are in full force and effect and no notice of cancellation or termination or non-renewal has
been received with respect to any such Insurance Policy. All premiums due for such Insurance Policies have been paid, and neither the Company nor either of the
Company Subsidiaries is in default with respect to the obligations under any of the Insurance Policies or has otherwise failed to comply in any material respect with
the terms and conditions of the Insurance Policies. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.19 , to the Knowledge of the Company there have been no claims made under
any of the Insurance Policies since December 31, 2015.
Section 3.20
Environmental Matters . (a) The Company Group is and, in the two years prior to the date hereof, has been, in material compliance with
applicable Environmental Laws, (b) the Company Group has obtained and is in compliance with all material permits required by applicable Environmental Laws
for the present operation or occupation of its properties, assets and business, (c) in the two years prior to the date hereof, the Company Group has not received any
written notice from any Governmental Entity of any material violation of, or material liability under, any applicable Environmental Law, (d) the Company Group is
not subject to any outstanding material Order issued by a Governmental Entity pursuant to any applicable Environmental Law and (e) there are no Actions pending,
or to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, against the Company Group pursuant to applicable Environmental Laws. The representations and warranties set
forth in this Section 3.20 are the sole and exclusive representations and warranties with respect to environmental matters or Environmental Laws in respect of the
Company Group.
Section 3.21
(a)

Real Property .
The Company Group does not own any real property.

(b)
Schedule 3.21(b) sets forth the address of each Leased Real Property and a complete list of all leases for such Leased Real Property.
Except as set forth on Schedule 3.21(b) , (i) the Company or Company Subsidiary party thereto, as the case may be, has not subleased any portion of the Leased
Real Property, (ii) such leases are binding, enforceable and in full force and effect, subject to proper authorization and execution of such leases by the respective
parties thereto and except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting creditors' rights generally and
by general equitable principles, (iii) the Company Group's possession and quiet enjoyment of the Leased Real Property under such leases has not been disturbed;
(iv) neither the Company or either Company Subsidiary party thereto, nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any other party to such leases, has materially
breached such leases; and (v) to the Knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred and no condition exists that might, with the giving of notice or the passage
of time, or both, constitute a material default under such leases by the Company or Company Subsidiary party thereto. The Leased Real Property identified in
Schedule 3.21(b) comprises all of the real property used in the business of the Company Group.
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Section 3.22

Healthcare and Privacy Regulatory Compliance .

(a)
To the Company’s Knowledge, the Company Group is not and has not been in violation in any material respect of any applicable
privacy policy or terms of use or of any Law to which it is subject relating to the privacy and security of patient identifiable healthcare information and personal
data, including, to the extent applicable, the Privacy Act of 1974, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-191, as
amended, including the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act at Section 13400 et seq. of the American Recovery and
Reinvestment Act of 2009 (“ HIPAA ”), and all rules or regulations promulgated thereunder, regulations and any guidance that has the force of law issued by the
Federal Trade Commission, and any other privacy and security of personal information Laws, including state data breach notification Laws, state social security
number protection Laws, and all other applicable Laws, including the Telemarketing Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act of 1994, applicable state and
federal wiretap laws, the Telemarketing Sales Rule, Telephone Consumer Protection Act and the CAN-SPAM Act of 2003, governing the ability to contact
individuals (collectively, the “ Healthcare Information Laws ”). To the Company's Knowledge, the Company Group has not in the last four years received any
written notice of or any oral communication of any material default or material breach under any Contract (including any business associate agreement) relating to
privacy and security of patient identifiable healthcare information and personal data. The Company Group has such policies, programs, procedures, Contracts and
systems, as are necessary to comply with the Healthcare Information Laws and with the obligations of the Contracts and HIPAA business associate agreements
currently in effect that the Company Group is party to; to the Knowledge of the Company such policies, programs, procedures, Contracts and systems have been in
effect for all periods required by Law, with such updates as necessary to comply with Healthcare Information Laws and with the requirements of such Contracts
and business associate agreements. The Company Group has entered into a written agreement as described in 45 C.F.R. § 164.504(e)(2) in each case in which the
Company Group is acting as a business associate as defined in 45 C.F.R. § 160.103 or in which the Company Group is required by any such written agreement to
enter into a subcontract agreement with a third party as described in 45 C.F.R. § 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(D). In the last four years the Company Group has not received
written notice from or, to the Company’s Knowledge, any oral communication from any Governmental Entity of any violation or alleged violation by Company
Group of any Healthcare Information Laws. To the Knowledge of the Company the Company Group has not discovered (as that term is used in 45 C.F.R. §
164.404) any breach of information security that would constitute (i) a “breach of security” (as defined in 16 C.F.R. § 318.2), (ii) a “breach” (as defined in 45
C.F.R. § 164.402) or (iii) a breach under Healthcare Information Laws that require notification.
(b)
Except as set forth on Schedule 3.22(b) , to the Knowledge of the Company in the last seven years the Company Group has not
received any written or oral communication from a Governmental Entity that alleges the Company Group is not in compliance with any Healthcare Law. In the last
four years, neither the Company Group nor any director or officer, nor, to the Company's Knowledge, any employee or agent of the Company Group has been
subpoenaed, charged, subject to a written inquiry, audit, investigation, or any other regulatory or enforcement Action by, a Governmental Entity in connection with
any Healthcare Law. To the Company's Knowledge, in the last four years no Person has filed or has threatened to file against the Company Group an Action under
any federal or state whistleblower statute including under the False Claims Act of 1863 (31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq.).
(c)
The Company Group has not (i) caused to be made, or made, any contributions, payments or gifts to, or for the private use of, any
government official, employee or agent in violation of any Healthcare Law, (ii) maintained any unrecorded fund or asset for the purpose of violating any
Healthcare Law, or (iii) offered, paid, received or solicited any remuneration; or established or maintained any client, reseller or other relationship in a manner that
constitutes a violation by the Company Group of the Federal Health Care Program Anti-Kickback Statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b) or the Federal False Claims Act
31 U.S.C. §§ 3729–3733.

34

(d)
Neither the Company Group, nor to the Knowledge of the Company, any director or officer, employee, or agent of the Company
Group: (i) has been charged with or convicted of any criminal offense related to the delivery of an item or service under a state or federal health care program
(including, but not limited to, Medicare or Medicaid); (ii) has been debarred, excluded or suspended from participation in any state or federal health care program
(including, but not limited to, Medicare or Medicaid); (iii) has had a civil monetary penalty assessed against it, him or her under Section 1128A of the Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7a); (iv) is currently listed on the U.S. General Services Administration published list of parties excluded from federal
procurement programs and non-procurement programs, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Inspector General, List of Excluded
Individuals/Entities, or any debarment or exclusion list maintain by a state agency; or (v) is the target or subject of any current or potential investigation or Action
relating to Medicare, Medicaid, or any other state or federal health care program-related offense. The Company Group has not been involved in the production or
distribution of any item that is actively regulated by FDA as a "device," as that term is defined in Section 201(h) of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, 21
U.S.C. § 321(h).
ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT
Parent hereby represents and warrants to the Company as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing as follows:
Section 4.1

Due Organization, Corporate Power and Qualification .

(a)
Parent is a corporation duly incorporated under the Laws of Delaware and Merger Sub is a corporation duly incorporated under the
Laws of Delaware and each of Parent and Merger Sub has the requisite power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as
now being conducted.
(b)
Each of Parent and Merger Sub is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its
business makes such qualification necessary, other than in such jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified or good standing would not be reasonably likely to
(i) prevent, or result in any delay in the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) have a material adverse effect on Parent or Merger Sub or (iii)
result in any liability to the Company or any Equityholder in connection therewith.
(c)
clear of any Liens.
Section 4.2

All of the issued and outstanding equity interests of Merger Sub are owned directly by Parent's wholly owned subsidiary, free and

Authorization; Noncontravention .

(a)
Parent has the requisite corporate power and authority, and has taken all corporate action necessary or required, to execute and
deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. Merger Sub has the requisite corporate
power and authority, and has taken all corporate action necessary or required, to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub, the consummation by
each of them of the transactions contemplated hereby and the performance by each of them of their respective obligations hereunder have been duly authorized and
approved by the boards of directors of Parent and Merger Sub and by the sole stockholder of Merger Sub. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by
each of Parent and Merger Sub and, assuming that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Company and Representative, constitutes a valid
and binding obligation of each of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against each of Parent and Merger Sub in accordance with its terms, except to the extent that
its enforceability may be subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors'
rights generally, and by general equitable principles.
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(b)
The execution and delivery of this Agreement do not, and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub on the Closing Date of the
transactions contemplated hereby will not: (i) conflict with any of the provisions of the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or any shareholders agreement of Parent
or the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of Merger Sub, (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of or default under any material contract to which Parent or Merger
Sub is a party or (iii) subject to the filings required under the Antitrust Laws and the termination of applicable waiting periods, contravene any law applicable to
Parent or Merger Sub which, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) above, would be reasonably likely to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect
on Parent or Merger Sub or affect in any material respect their ability to timely consummate the transactions contemplated by the Agreement.
Section 4.3
Consents and Approvals . Assuming all filings required under the Antitrust Laws are made and any waiting periods thereunder have
been terminated or expired, no consent of or filing with any Governmental Entity or any other third party which has not been received or made, is necessary or
required by or with respect to Parent or Merger Sub in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub or the
consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of any of the transactions contemplated hereby, except for the filing of the Company Merger Certificate, or any other
consents or filings which, if not made or obtained, would be reasonably likely to (a) prevent, or result in any delay of the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby, (b) have a material adverse effect on Parent or Merger Sub or (c) result in any liability to the Company or any Equityholder in connection
therewith.
Section 4.4
Brokerage . Except for the amounts being paid by Parent to Citi Corporate and Investment Banking – Global Healthcare Group in
connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, no banker, broker, agent or other Person acting for or on behalf or at the behest of
Parent or Merger Sub or any Affiliate thereof is, or will be, entitled to any fee or commission (including any broker's or finder's fees) in connection with this
Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby.
Section 4.5
Merger Sub's Operations . Merger Sub has not engaged in any business activities or conducted any operations, and has not incurred
liabilities or obligations of any nature, other than in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.
Section 4.6
Funds . It is the intention of the Parties that the obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the transactions contemplated
hereby are not in any way contingent upon or otherwise subject to Parent's or Merger Sub's consummation of any financing arrangement, Parent's or Merger Sub's
obtaining of any financing or the grant, provision or extension of any financing to Parent or Merger Sub. As of the execution of this Agreement, Parent and Merger
Sub have, and as of the Closing, Parent and Merger Sub will have, sufficient unrestricted cash on hand and availability under the revolving credit facility of Parent
and its Affiliates available for use by Parent to complete the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and pay the Merger Consideration and all fees and
expenses required to be paid by Parent in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the aggregate amount of Indebtedness for Borrowed
Money and Transaction Expenses, and such payments would not be in violation of the terms of the Contract or instrument governing the terms of such revolving
credit facility.
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Section 4.7
Solvency . Parent and Merger Sub are not entering the transactions contemplated hereby with actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud
either present or future creditors. After giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereby, Parent and the Surviving Corporation and its subsidiaries will be
Solvent.
Section 4.8
Litigation . There is no lawsuit before any Governmental Entity pending against or affecting Parent or its Affiliates that could
adversely affect in any material respect the transactions contemplated hereby.
Section 4.9
Contact with Customers and Vendors . No Parent Person has, without the prior consent of the Company, directly or indirectly
contacted any current or former vendor, customer, reseller, distributor, contractor, employee or other business relation of the Company Group prior to the date
hereof or engaged in any discussions with any vendor, customer, reseller, distributor, contractor, employee or other business relation of the Company Group in
connection with or related to the transactions contemplated hereby.
Section 4.10
Investment Intent . Parent is acquiring shares of common stock of the Surviving Corporation for its own account, for investment
purposes only and not with any present intention of distributing or selling such shares in violation of the federal securities Laws or any applicable foreign or state
securities law. Parent qualifies as an "accredited investor," as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act. Parent understands
that the acquisition of the shares being acquired hereunder involves substantial risk. Parent and its Affiliates have substantial knowledge and experience in financial
and business matters and are fully capable of evaluating the merits and risks of its investment in such shares. Parent can bear the economic risk of its investment
(which may be for an indefinite period). Parent understands that the shares it is acquiring have not been registered under the Securities Act and therefore may not
be transferred, sold, offered for sale, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of without registration under the Securities Act and any other provision of
applicable state securities Laws or pursuant to an applicable exemption therefrom. Parent acknowledges that there is no public market for the shares and that there
can be no assurance that a public market will develop.
ARTICLE V
COVENANTS AND OTHER AGREEMENTS
Section 5.1

Interim Covenants .

(a)
Operating Covenant . The Company covenants and agrees that, during the period from the date of this Agreement until the Closing,
except as required by Law or otherwise expressly contemplated, required or permitted by this Agreement, or unless Parent shall otherwise consent in writing
(which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), (i) the Business of the Company Group shall be conducted only in the Ordinary Course
of Business, (ii) to the extent consistent with conducting the Business in the Ordinary Course of Business, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts
on behalf of itself and the Company Subsidiaries to preserve substantially intact its and their business organization, material properties, assets and technology,
maintain or renew existing insurance policies, preserve and protect from infringement its and their Intellectual Property, perform in all material respects its and
their obligations under all material Contracts and maintain all material Licenses, and (iii) to the extent consistent with conducting the Business in the Ordinary
Course of Business, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve its and the Company Subsidiaries' present relationships with material
customers, clients, vendors, suppliers, distributors, and other Persons with which it has or the Company Subsidiaries have material business relations except for
changes in the Ordinary Course of Business. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, between the date of this Agreement and the Closing, except as
otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement, as set forth on Schedule 5.1, as required by Law, neither the Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries
shall, directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of Parent, which will not be unreasonably withheld:
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(i)
amend or otherwise change its Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws or any similar governing instruments or enter into,
amend, modify or terminate any agreement with any stockholders in their capacity as such, except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement;
(ii)
issue, deliver, sell, pledge, dispose of, grant or award any options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights or equity
securities of any kind (including stock appreciation rights, phantom stock or similar instruments) of the Company or any of the Company
Subsidiaries (except for the issuance of Shares upon the exercise of Options as outstanding as of the date of this Agreement and as required by
the terms of the Option Plans);
(iii)
(A) enter into, materially amend, modify, grant a waiver under, accelerate or terminate (other than as a result of a lapse of
time or automatically by its terms) any Contract that contains a readily ascertainable obligation of (x) the Company to pay a supplier an amount
of $100,000 or more after the date hereof or (y) a customer to pay the Company an amount of $300,000 or more after the date hereof or (B) enter
into, materially amend, modify, grant a waiver under, accelerate or terminate or engage in any transactions set forth in Section 3.16 , which if
taken prior to the date hereof would require disclosure on Schedule 3.16 , if such transactions would result in liability of the Company Group
after Closing;
(iv)
other than (A) as required pursuant to any existing Contract, (B) in respect of amounts that will be included in Transaction
Expenses, (C) in respect of the Company's 2017 forecasted merit-based compensation pool, (D) in respect of the Company Group's 2016 annual
corporate bonus program or (E) in respect of the Company Group's 2017 sales compensation plans, (1) increase the salary, wages, severance,
bonus or commission opportunity or other compensation payable or to become payable to any officer, employee at the vice president level or
higher, director of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries, (2) enter into any new written employment or consulting agreement with any of its
present or former directors, officers, employees, consultants or contractors that would involve any cash payments after the Closing; (3) grant any
material increase in benefits under any Employee Benefit Plan, materially amend or terminate any Employee Benefit Plan or adopt or become
obligated with respect to any new Employee Benefit Plan, (4) enter into any agreement with any labor organization; or (5) hire, promote, or
terminate the employment of (other than for cause, as determined by the Company consistent with past practice) any (x) sales employee who has
target annual compensation greater than $250,000 or (y) officer or employee at the vice president level or higher (other than a sales employee)
who has target annual compensation greater than $175,000;
(v)
other than the matter set forth on Schedule 6.2(a) , (A) settle or compromise any Action except where (1) the amount paid
in settlement or compromise of such matter, in each case, would not exceed $100,000 and, in all such cases, would not exceed $250,000 in the
aggregate and (2) such settlement or compromise only involves monetary relief; (B) knowingly and intentionally waive or release any material
right of the Company or either of its Company Subsidiaries under any Material Contract (other than as a result of a lapse of time or automatically
by its terms); or (C) institute any Action (other than pursuant to or in respect of this Agreement); provided that the Company will use
commercially reasonable efforts to consult with a designated representative of Parent as to the matters listed in Items 1 and 3 of Section 5.1(a)(v)
of Schedule 5.1 and will not settle the matter set forth in Item 3 of Section 5.1(a)(v) of Schedule 5.1 without the written consent of Parent (which
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed);
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(vi)
enter into any agreement which contains any provisions requiring the Company or either Company Subsidiary to indemnify
any other Person (excluding the Company Group and indemnities contained in agreements for the purchase, sale or license of products or
services entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business);
(vii)
enter into any Contracts (A) containing any non-competition, exclusivity or other similar restrictions on the Company or
either Company Subsidiary, (B) containing a “most-favored-nation” or similar term that requires preferential pricing or treatment, (C) containing
take-or-pay obligations, or (D) prohibiting freely engaging in any business anywhere in the world;
(viii)

enter into any lease for real property;

(ix)
lease, license, transfer, encumber or otherwise dispose of, abandon or fail to maintain, or agree to lease, license, transfer,
encumber or otherwise dispose of, abandon, allow to lapse or fail to maintain, or to grant or suffer to exist any Lien or encumbrance on, any of its
assets, properties or rights, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(x)
make any material changes to its cash management customs and practices (including the timing of collection of receivables
and payment of payables and other current liabilities and the management of working capital);
(xi)
enter into any agreement granting any rights of first refusal, right of first offer, right of first negotiation or similar rights to
any Person with respect to the sale of any assets material to the Company or the Company Subsidiaries taken as a whole;
(xii)

enter into any hedge, swap, derivative or similar Contract;

(xiii)
take any action set forth in Section 3.7(b) which if taken prior to the date hereof and after March 31, 2016 would require
disclosure on Schedule 3.7 ; or
(xiv)

agree to take (whether by Contract or otherwise) or authorize any of the actions described in Section 5.1(a)(i) through (xiii) .

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall: (A) give Parent, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct in any manner the operations of the Company Group;
(B) prohibit or restrict the Company Group's ability to make withdrawals, borrow funds or make payments or pre-payments under any agreement related to
Indebtedness (including any revolving line of credit or similar facility provided for thereunder) in the Ordinary Course of Business; (C) require the Company or any
Company Subsidiary to make capital expenditures or (D) except with respect to declaring or paying cash dividends due and owing in respect of the Series A Shares,
restrict the ability of the Company Group to declare or pay any cash dividends out of cash reflected on the 2016 Unaudited Financial Statements and cash generated
from operations by the Company thereafter if the Company is also in compliance with subsection (x) as to collection of receivables and payment of payables or pay
any Transaction Expenses or Indebtedness, in each case, prior to the Adjustment Time. For purposes of clarity, compliance by the Company Group with the various
restrictions set forth in Sections 5.1(a)(i) through (a)(xiv) shall not be deemed to be a breach of any of the affirmative obligations set forth in the first sentence of
Section 5.1(a) .
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(b)
Reasonable Best Efforts . Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, and to applicable legal requirements, the Parties shall
cooperate and use their respective reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action, and do, or cause to be done, and assist and cooperate
with each other in doing, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective, in the most expeditious manner practicable, the transactions
contemplated hereby, including the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 2.7 . The Company and Representative shall take all actions necessary to
consummate the SPV Merger immediately prior to the Effective Time.
(c)
Exclusivity . From the date hereof until the earlier of (i) the date this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Article VII and (ii) the
Closing Date, the Company Group shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates and direct its Agent to not, directly or indirectly: (i) encourage, solicit, initiate, facilitate
or continue inquiries regarding an Acquisition Proposal; (ii) enter into discussions or negotiations with, or provide any information to, any Person concerning a
possible Acquisition Proposal; or (iii) enter into any agreements or other instruments (whether or not binding) regarding an Acquisition Proposal. The Company
Group shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated, and shall direct its Agents and cause its Affiliates to immediately cease and cause to be terminated, all
existing discussions or negotiations with any Persons conducted heretofore with respect to, or that could lead to, an Acquisition Proposal. For purposes hereof, "
Acquisition Proposal " shall mean any inquiry, proposal or offer from any Person (other than Parent, Merger Sub or any of their Affiliates) concerning (i) a merger,
consolidation, liquidation, recapitalization, share exchange or other business combination transaction involving the Company or either Company Subsidiary; (ii) the
issuance or acquisition of shares of capital stock or other equity securities of the Company or either Company Subsidiary; or (iii) the sale, lease, exchange or other
disposition of any significant portion of the Company Group's properties or assets, in each case, other than in respect of the transactions contemplated hereby or by
the Ancillary Documents. The Company Group agrees that the rights and remedies for noncompliance with this Section 5.1(c) shall include having such provision
specifically enforced by any court having equity jurisdiction, it being acknowledged and agreed that any such breach or threatened breach shall cause irreparable
injury to Parent and that money damages would not provide an adequate remedy to Parent.
(d)
Access to Information . From the date hereof until the earlier of (i) the date this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Article VII and
(ii) the Closing Date, the Company shall grant to Parent and its authorized Agents reasonable access, during normal business hours and upon reasonable notice, to
senior management, the properties and the books and records of the Company Group; provided that (A) such access does not unreasonably interfere with the
normal operations of the Company Group, (B) all requests for access shall be directed to William Blair & Company, L.L.C. or Financial Technology Partners LP
and FTP Securities LLC or such other Persons designated by the Company in writing and (C) nothing herein shall require the Company Group to provide access to,
or to disclose any information to, Parent or any other Person if such access or disclosure (1) would be in violation of applicable laws or regulations of any
Governmental Entity (including Antitrust Laws), (2) would be a violation or constitute a breach of any provision of any Contract to which the Company or any
Company Subsidiary is a party or (3) could jeopardize any attorney/client privilege (provided that the Company shall, to the extent reasonably feasible, advise
Parent in writing of the subject matter of any information the Company is not furnishing to Parent pursuant to the foregoing and shall to the extent reasonably
feasible enter into arrangements with Parent to allow Parent access to such information).
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(e)
Communications . Prior to the Closing, Parent and John Shagoury, the president and chief executive officer of the Company (or his
successor in the event of death or disability), will coordinate and mutually agree upon a communications plan in respect of the employees, customers and other
material business relations of the Company Group and in accordance therewith Parent and its Agents will be provided with reasonable access to such Persons;
provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, nothing herein is intended to prohibit Parent and its Agents from communicating with, or engaging in business with, any
customers or suppliers that are also customers or suppliers of the Company Group so long as such communication is in the Ordinary Course of Business and
unrelated to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(f)
With respect to the matter set forth on Schedule 6.2(a) , the Company covenants and agrees that, during the period from the date of
this Agreement until the Closing, the Company shall (i) promptly notify Parent of each substantive communication made to or received by the Company Group
from the claimant in such matter, each pleading or filing with or submission to any Governmental Entity by the claimant or the Company Group and any
communication received by the Company Group from any Governmental Entity with respect to such matter; (ii) permit Parent to review in advance each proposed
material written communication by the Company Group to the claimant and each proposed pleading or filing with or submission to any Governmental Entity by the
Company Group with respect to the matter and incorporate reasonable comments of Parent thereto; (iii) not admit any liability with respect to such matter without
the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed); and (iv) not, without the prior written consent of the
Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), consent to a settlement of, or the entry of any judgment arising from, such
matter that (A) does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant to the Company Group of a complete release from all liability in
respect of such matter, (B) includes any relief (including any amendment of any restrictive covenant to which the claimant is a party) other than (x) payment of a
monetary amount that is paid by the Company Group prior to Closing or, if payable after Closing, the Company agrees at or prior to Closing to reduce the Closing
Merger Consideration otherwise payable to Equityholders hereunder by such payment or (y) in respect of confidentiality (except for disclosure required by law)
and a release by the Company Group of claims against claimant in respect of such matter, or (C) includes a finding or admission of any violation of Law or any
violation of the rights of any Person by the Company Group or any employee of the Company Group.
Section 5.2
Confidentiality . Subject to Section 5.5 , each of the Company (on behalf of itself, the Company Subsidiaries and their respective
Agents) and Parent (on behalf of itself, Merger Sub and their respective Agents) acknowledges that it remains bound by the provisions of the Confidentiality
Agreement by and between the Company and Parent, dated November 8, 2016 (" Confidentiality Agreement ") until the Closing, at which time the Confidentiality
Agreement will terminate and be of no further force and effect. The terms of the Confidentiality Agreement shall survive the termination of this Agreement and
continue in full force and effect thereafter for the two years from the date of termination of this Agreement; provided, however, nothing therein shall be deemed to
limit disclosures in connection with legal proceedings between the Parties, including to the extent necessary to enforce the Parties' rights hereunder.
Section 5.3

Antitrust Laws .

(a)
Each of Parent and the Company shall (i) as promptly as practicable, but in no event later than three business days after the date
hereof, take all actions necessary to file or cause to be filed any filings required of it or any of its Affiliates under any applicable Antitrust Laws in connection with
this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Notification and Report Forms required pursuant to the HSR Act (and, in connection
therewith, request early termination); (ii) use reasonable best efforts to take all actions necessary to obtain the required consents from Antitrust Authorities and (iii)
at the earliest practicable date, comply with any formal or informal written request for additional non-privileged information or non-privileged documentary
material received by it or any of its Affiliates from any Antitrust Authority. Subject to applicable Law, each of Parent and the Company will: (A) promptly notify
each other of any written communication made to or received by Parent or the Company, as the case may be, from any Antitrust Authority regarding any of the
transactions contemplated hereby; (B) permit each other to review in advance any proposed written communication to any such Antitrust Authority and incorporate
reasonable comments thereto; (C) not agree to participate in any substantive meeting or discussion with any such Antitrust Authority in respect of any filing,
investigation or inquiry concerning this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby unless, to the extent reasonably practicable, it consults with the other
Party in advance and, to the extent permitted by such Antitrust Authority, gives the other Party the opportunity to attend and (D) furnish each other with copies of
all correspondence, filings (other than attachments to each Party's Notification and Report Form under the HSR Act) and written communications between such
Party and their Affiliates and their respective Agents, on one hand, and any such Antitrust Authority, on the other hand, in each case, with respect to this Agreement
and the transactions contemplated hereby.
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(b)
Without limiting the foregoing, Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to avoid or eliminate any impediment under any Antitrust
Law so as to (i) enable the Parties hereto to close the transactions contemplated hereby as promptly as possible and (ii) avoid any lawsuit by any Governmental
Entity which would otherwise have the effect of preventing or materially delaying the Closing beyond the End Date. In furtherance of the foregoing, Parent's efforts
shall include (A) defending through litigation on the merits, including appeals, any Action under any Antitrust Law asserted against Parent in any court; (B)
proposing, negotiating, committing to and effecting, by consent decree, hold separate Order or otherwise, the sale, divestiture or disposition of such assets or
businesses of Parent, its Affiliates or the Company Group, including entering into customary ancillary agreements on commercially reasonable terms relating to any
such sale, divestiture or disposition of such assets or businesses; (C) agreeing to any limitation on the conduct of Parent, its Affiliates and the Company Group; and
(D) using its commercially reasonable efforts to take any other action as may be required by a Governmental Entity in order to (1) obtain all necessary consents,
approvals and authorizations as soon as reasonably possible, and in any event before the End Date; (2) avoid the entry of or to have vacated, lifted, dissolved,
reversed or overturned any decree, judgment, injunction or other Order, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, that is in effect as part of any lawsuit and
that prohibits, prevents or restricts consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and (3) effect the expiration or termination of any waiting period, which
would otherwise have the effect of preventing or materially delaying the Closing beyond the End Date. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement,
including this Section 5.3 , in no event will Parent or any of its Affiliates be required to (x) sell, divest, lease, license, transfer, dispose of or hold separate any
portion of the assets or businesses of Parent or any of its Affiliates or the Company Group representing, in the aggregate, in excess of $15,000,000 of revenue
generated by Parent and its Affiliates and the Company Group on a combined basis between (and inclusive of) January 1, 2016 and December 31, 2016, (y) agree
or consent to any restriction or limitation on the conduct of Parent, its Affiliates and the Company Group or otherwise take or commit to take any action, including
any action that limits Parent’s or any of its Affiliates’ freedom of action with respect to, or their ability to retain and operate, the businesses or the assets of Parent
and its Affiliates (including the Company Group) to the extent such restrictions, limitations and actions, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be
expected to increase the costs of Parent and its Affiliates (including the businesses and assets of the Company Group) by over $2,000,000 in any 12-month period
or to reduce the revenue of Parent and its Affiliates (including the businesses and assets of the Company Group) by over $15,000,000 in any 12-month period or (z)
agree or consent to any limitations or restrictions on Parent's ability to own, vote, transfer, receive dividends or otherwise exercise full ownership rights with
respect to the stock of the Surviving Corporation. For the avoidance of doubt, except as expressly set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, in no event will
Parent or any of its Affiliates be required to sell, divest, dispose of or hold separate any portion of its or their assets or businesses or the assets and business of the
Company Group or agree to any restriction or limitation on the conduct of Parent, its Affiliates and the Company Group or take any action, including any action
that limits in any way Parent's or any of its Affiliates' freedom of action with respect to, or their ability to retain and operate, the assets and businesses of Parent and
its Affiliates and the assets and businesses of the Company Group. The Company Group shall not agree or consent to the sale, divestiture or disposition of assets or
businesses of the Company Group or any limitation on the conduct of the Company Group without the prior written consent of Parent (such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Section).
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(c)
Subject to Parent’s obligations under clause (b) above, Parent’s and the Company’s obligations under this Section 5.3 shall include
the obligation to cooperate and use their respective reasonable best efforts to defend any Actions, whether judicial or administrative, challenging the consummation
of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby, including any Action under the HSR Act or pursuant to federal or state antitrust laws; provided that
the Parties shall not be obligated to appeal or to pursue any proceedings to vacate, lift, reverse or overturn any permanent or final Order that prohibits, prevents, or
restricts the consummation of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby. In the event any such Action is commenced against any member of the
Company Group, Parent shall have the right, at its own expense, to participate therein, and the Company will not settle any such Action without the consent of
Parent, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
Section 5.4
Directors' and Officers' Insurance . With respect to the ForeFront Portfolio 3.0 insurance policy, No. 8223-9803, issued by Federal
Insurance Company for the policy period of July 1, 2016-July 1, 2017 (" Policy No. 8223-9803 "), at or prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall purchase and
maintain an extended reporting period or other similar applicable run-off coverage provision extending coverage under the "Directors & Officers and Entity
Liability Coverage Part" and the "Fiduciary Liability Coverage Part" of Policy No. 8223-9803 for claims made for a period of six years after the Closing Date
based on alleged wrongful acts occurring through the Closing Date (" Run-Off Coverage "); provided, however, that Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall not
be required to pay annual premiums for any such policy or policies in excess of 300% of the last annual premium for Policy No. 8223-9803 paid by the Company
Group prior to the date hereof. If any future annual premiums exceed 300% of the last annual premium for the coverage provided by Policy No. 8223-9803, then
Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall remain obligated to provide and maintain the broadest amount of coverage as may be obtained to replace such policy for
an annual premium equal to 300% of the last annual premium for Policy No. 8223-9803. Parent shall upon receipt thereof furnish a copy of such insurance policy
to Representative to provide to each current beneficiary thereto. The Surviving Corporation shall control in good faith all claims submitted for coverage under the
Run-Off Coverage or any replacement insurance policy; provided that the Surviving Corporation may not settle any such claims without the prior written consent
of the Representative, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
Section 5.5
Press Release . The Parties agree that (i) there will be an initial press release with respect to the execution of this Agreement to be
mutually agreed upon and issued at a date to be mutually agreed upon by Parent and Representative following the execution and delivery of this Agreement, which
shall be a release by Parent and (ii) there will be press releases with respect to the closing of the transactions contemplated hereby to be mutually agreed upon and
issued promptly following the Closing by both Parent and Representative. Nothing herein shall restrict or prohibit (A) the Company Group from making
announcements to its employees, customers and other business relations in accordance with Section 5.1(e) to the extent such it determines in good faith that such
announcement is necessary or advisable or (B) Representative and its Affiliates from providing information about the subject matter of this Agreement and the
Company Group (including their performance and improvements) in connection with fund raising marketing, informational or reporting activities. Nothing herein
limits any Party from making announcements, statements or acknowledgements that such Party is required by applicable Laws or the requirements of any national
securities exchange to make, issue or release, or limit Parent from making any disclosures that it deems necessary or advisable to be made in filings with the SEC.
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Section 5.6
Expenses . Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, each Party shall be liable for and pay all of its own costs and
expenses (including attorneys', accountants' and investment bankers' fees and other out-of-pocket expenses) in connection with the negotiation and execution of this
Agreement, the performance of such Party's obligations hereunder and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; provided that, Parent shall pay
(or reimburse the Company) and be fully responsible for (a) all filing fees under the Antitrust Laws; (b) the premiums and any other costs related to the policy
providing for Run-Off Coverage pursuant to Section 5.4 and any other tail policies required to be obtained pursuant to the R&W Policy; and (c) all premiums,
commitment, diligence, underwriting and similar fees or expenses incurred with respect to the R&W Policy.
Section 5.7
Preservation of Records . For a period of seven years after the Closing Date or such other longer period as required by applicable law,
the Surviving Corporation and its subsidiaries shall preserve and retain all corporate, accounting, legal, auditing, human resources and other books and records of
the Company Group (including (a) any documents relating to any lawsuits or investigations and (b) all Tax Returns, schedules, work papers and other material
records or other documents relating to Tax matters of the Company Group for all Pre-Closing Tax Periods) relating to the conduct of the business and operations of
the Company Group prior to the Closing Date.
Section 5.8

Tax Matters .

(a)
Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelter . Parent will not take any action with respect to the Company Group that would cause the
transactions contemplated hereby to constitute part of a transaction that is the same as, or substantially similar to, the " Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelter "
described in Internal Revenue Service Notices 2001-16 and 2008-111.
(b)
Post-Closing Actions . Following the Closing, none of Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of its or their subsidiaries or
Affiliates shall make any election under Code Sections 336(e) or 338 (or any similar provision of local, state, or non-U.S. law) with respect to the transactions
contemplated hereby. Following the Closing, none of Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of its or their subsidiaries or Affiliates shall, without the prior
written consent of Representative (which written consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, it being understood that it would be
unreasonable to withhold consent if any such action is required by applicable Tax Laws): (i) amend any Tax Return to the extent that such Tax Return relates to the
activities of the Company in any Pre-Closing Tax Period, (ii) make or change any Tax election or Tax accounting method or practice with respect to or that has
retroactive effect to the activities of the Company in any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Pre-Closing Straddle Period, or (iii) initiate or participate in any voluntary
disclosure (or other communication reasonably expected to have a similar effect) with any taxing authority with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period or PreClosing Straddle Period; provided, in each case, however, that following (A) either the expiration of the applicable survival period pursuant to Section 6.1 or (B) if
earlier, the time at which Parent or its Affiliates could no longer make a claim against the Indemnity Escrow Amount, Parent, the Surviving Corporation, or any of
its or their subsidiaries or Affiliates may take such action without the consent of the Representative if such action does not adversely affect the Equityholders.
(c)

Responsibility for Filing Tax Returns .
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(i)
Parent shall prepare and timely file or cause to be prepared and timely filed all Tax Returns of the Company and the
Company Subsidiaries for Pre-Closing Tax Periods after giving effect to any valid extensions of the due date for filing any such Tax Returns.
Such Tax Returns will be prepared in a manner consistent with the Tax positions taken by the Company and the Company Subsidiaries in prior
years so long as such Tax positions are in compliance with applicable Law. Such Tax Return will treat the SPV Merger in a manner consistent
with such tax treatment as set forth in the SPV Merger Agreement. Parent will submit such Tax Returns to Representative for review and
approval at least 20 business days prior to the due date (after giving effect to any valid extensions), which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed; provided, in each case, however, that following either (A) the expiration of the applicable survival period
pursuant to Section 6.1 or (B) if earlier, the time at which Parent or its Affiliates could no longer make a claim against the Indemnity Escrow
Amount, Parent, may take such action without the consent of the Representative if such action does not adversely affect the Equityholders.
Within 10 business days after receipt thereof, Representative will give notice to Parent of any dispute with respect to such Tax Returns. Parent
and Representative will attempt to resolve any disputes with respect thereto within 10 business days. Any matters unresolved after such period
will be resolved using the dispute resolution procedures set forth in Section 2.5(c) mutatis mutandis . If any dispute with respect to a Tax Return
is not resolved prior to the due date of such Tax Return, such Tax Return shall be filed in the manner which Parent deems correct without
prejudice to the resolution of such dispute; provided that, once resolution of such dispute has been determined, such Tax Return shall be
amended, if necessary, to include the final resolution of such dispute. Transaction Tax Deductions shall be claimed on the U.S. federal (and
applicable state, local and non-U.S.) tax returns of the Company Group for the Pre-Closing Tax Period ending on the Closing Date to the extent
such items are "more likely than not" deductible in such Pre-Closing Tax Period. To the extent the Transaction Tax Deductions are not fully
utilized in such period, Parent shall cause the Company Group to elect to carry back any item of loss, deduction or credit from any Transaction
Tax Deductions to prior taxable years to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law.
(ii)
Parent will prepare and file in a timely manner all Tax Returns required to be filed by the Company and the Company
Subsidiaries for any Straddle Period after giving effect to any valid extensions of the due date for filing any such Tax Returns. Such Tax Returns
will be prepared in a manner consistent with the Tax positions taken by the Company and the Company Subsidiaries in prior years so long as
such Tax positions comply with applicable Law. Parent will submit such Tax Returns to Representative for review and approval at least 10
business days prior to the due date (after giving effect to any valid extensions), which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned
or delayed; provided, in each case, however, that following either (A) the expiration of the applicable survival period pursuant to Section 6.1 or
(B) if earlier, the time at which Parent or its Affiliates could no longer make a claim against the Indemnity Escrow Amount, Parent, may take
such action without the consent of the Representative if as such action does not adversely affect the Equityholders. Within 10 business days after
receipt thereof, Representative will give notice to Parent of any dispute with respect to such Tax Returns. Parent and Representative will attempt
to resolve any disputes with respect thereto with 10 business days. Any matters unresolved after such period will be resolved using the dispute
resolution procedures set forth in Section 2.5(c) mutatis mutandis . If any dispute with respect to a Tax Return is not resolved prior to the due
date of such Tax Return, such Tax Return shall be filed in the manner which Parent deems correct without prejudice to the resolution of such
dispute; provided that, once resolution of such dispute has been determined, such Tax Return shall be amended, if necessary, to include the final
resolution of such dispute.
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(d)
Straddle Period Allocation . In the case of any Taxes based on or measured by income, gross or net sales payments or receipts, or
payroll that are payable with respect to a Straddle Period, the portion of such Taxes attributable to the Pre-Closing Straddle Period will be determined on the basis
of a deemed closing of the books and records of the Company Group as of the close of business on the Closing Date. In the case of any other Taxes that are payable
with respect to a Straddle Period, the portion of such Taxes attributable to the portion of such Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date will be equal to the
product of all such Taxes multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the Pre-Closing Straddle Period, and the denominator of which
is the number of days in the entire Straddle Period.
(e)
Cooperation . Parent, the Surviving Corporation, Representative and their respective Agents will provide each other with such
cooperation and information (including copies of Tax Returns, together with accompanying schedules, related work papers and documents relating to rulings or
other determinations by Tax authorities) as any of them reasonably may request in connection with any Tax matters relating to the Company Group. Any
information obtained under this Section 5.8(e) shall be kept confidential except as may be otherwise necessary in connection with the filing of Tax Returns or
claims for refund or in conducting an audit or other proceeding. Parent, the Company and Representative shall, upon request, use their commercially reasonable
efforts to obtain any certificate or other document from any Person as may be necessary to mitigate, reduce or eliminate any Tax that could be imposed on the
Company Group (including with respect to the transaction contemplated thereby).
(f)
Tax Claims . Parent will promptly notify Representative in writing of the commencement of any audit or examination of any Tax
Return for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Pre-Closing Straddle Period and any other proposed change or adjustment, claim, dispute, arbitration or litigation in
respect of Taxes for a Pre-Closing Tax Period or Pre-Closing Straddle Period (each, a " Tax Claim "). Such notice shall describe the asserted Tax Claim in
reasonable detail and include copies of any documents received from any taxing authority in respect of any such asserted Tax Claim. Parent shall have the right to
control any such Tax Claims, with Representative having the right to observe such proceedings and be kept informed of all correspondence between the parties.
Parent shall not settle or otherwise compromise any such Tax Claim without the prior written consent of Representative (which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed), provided, in each case, however, that following (A) the expiration of the applicable survival period pursuant to Section 6.1 of
this Agreement or (B) if earlier, the time at which Parent or its Affiliates could no longer make a claim against the Indemnity Escrow Amount, Parent may settle
any Tax Claim without the consent of the Representative if such action does not adversely affect the Equityholders. In the event that Parent does not exercise its
right to control any such Tax Claim, Representative shall control such Tax Claim; provided , however, that Representative shall inform Parent of the status and
progress of such Tax Claim and Parent will have the opportunity to participate in such Tax Claim at its expense. Parent shall not settle any Tax Claim (either at the
audit or examination stage or thereafter) without first obtaining Representative's written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed,
provided, in each case, however, that following (A) the expiration of the applicable survival period pursuant to Section 6.1 or (B) if earlier, the time at which Parent
or its Affiliates could no longer make a claim against the Indemnity Escrow Amount, Parent may settle such Tax Claim without the consent of the Representative if
such action does not adversely affect the Equityholders. Representative shall not settle any Tax Claim (either at the audit or examination stage or thereafter)
controlled by Representative without first obtaining Parent's written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
(g)
Payments . The parties hereto agree to treat payments made pursuant to this Section 5.8 and payments made pursuant to Section 2.5
as adjustments to the Final Purchase Price for all Tax purposes. The payments to Equityholders under this Agreement with respect to their Options are intended to
satisfy the requirements of Section 409A of the Code in accordance with the rules for certain transaction-based compensation in Treasury Regulation Section
1.409A-3(i)(5)(iv)(A), and the provisions of this Agreement related to the payments to Equityholders under this Agreement with respect to their Options shall be
interpreted and administered in accordance with such intention.
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(h)

Tax Sharing Agreements . The Company Group shall terminate at Closing any tax sharing agreements to which the Company Group

is a party.
Section 5.9
Employee Compensation . During the period beginning on the Closing Date and ending on December 31, 2017, Parent shall cause
employees of the Operating Company who are employed at the Closing (the " Company Employees ") to be provided with base compensation that is no less
favorable in the aggregate than the base compensation provided to such employees immediately prior to the Closing (excluding opportunities for bonus and
commission and equity-based compensation). Parent further agrees that, from and after the Closing Date, Parent shall cause the Company Employees to be granted
credit for all service with the Operating Company (including any predecessors of the Operating Company) earned prior to the Closing Date for all purposes (except
benefit accrual for a defined benefit pension plan) under any compensation plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement that is sponsored by or may be
established or maintained by Parent, the Surviving Corporation, its subsidiaries or any of their Affiliates on or after the Closing Date; provided, however, such
service shall not be recognized to the extent that such recognition would result in a duplication of benefits. Nothing in this Section 5.9 , express or implied, shall
confer upon any Company Employee, any beneficiary, or any other Person (other than the Parties to this Agreement) any rights or remedies of any nature
whatsoever under or by reason of this Section 5.9 . For the avoidance of doubt, and without limiting any remedies of Parent for breach of any representations and
warranties in this Agreement, other than in respect of the matter set forth in Schedule 6.2(a) , the Company Group shall be solely responsible for any liability or
legally binding obligation that arises as a result of the termination by Parent or the Company Group, or the resignation, in each case, of any Company Employees
following the Closing. Nothing contained herein, express or implied: (i) shall be construed to establish, amend, or modify any benefit plan, program, agreement, or
arrangement; (ii) subject to complying with this Section 5.9 , shall alter or limit the ability of the Surviving Corporation, Parent or any of their respective Affiliates
to amend, modify, or terminate any benefit plan, program, agreement, or arrangement at any time assumed, established, sponsored, or maintained by any of them;
(iii) shall prevent the Surviving Corporation, Parent, or any of their respective Affiliates from terminating the employment of any Company Employee following
the Effective Time; or (iv) shall require Parent or the Company Group or their Affiliates to accept any rollovers of distributions from the Eliza Corporation 401(k)
Profit Sharing Plan and Trust.
Section 5.10
Termination of Eliza Corporation 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan and Trust . The Operating Company shall cause to be terminated, effective
as of the date immediately before the Closing Date, the Eliza Corporation 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan and Trust by having the Board of Directors of the Operating
Company adopt the resolutions attached hereto as Exhibit 6 .
Section 5.11
Board Resolutions and Stockholder Consents . Within 48 hours of the execution of this Agreement, each of the Parties shall deliver to
the other Parties the board resolutions and stockholder consents, including the Stockholder Approval, evidencing the authorization, approval and adoption of this
Agreement, the SPV Merger Agreement, the Merger and the SPV Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, together with written certification
of an officer of the applicable Party.
Section 5.12
Investigation; No Other Representations; Non-Reliance . Parent and the other Parent Persons have substantial familiarity with the
business of the Company Group and understand the risks inherent therewith. Furthermore, Parent and the other Parent Persons have conducted an independent
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investigation, verification, review and analysis of the business, operations, properties, technology, assets, liabilities, results of operations, financial condition, and
prospects of the Company Group and Parent Persons have had access to the personnel, properties, premises and records of the Company Group for such purpose. In
entering into this Agreement, Parent and the other Parent Persons have relied solely upon the aforementioned investigation, review and analysis and not on any
factual representations or opinions of the Company Group or any Stockholder or any of their respective Agents or any other Person, except for the specific
representations and warranties expressly made by the Company in Article III , in each case, as qualified by the Schedules (" Express Representations "). Parent (for
itself and on behalf of the other Parent Persons and each of the successors and assigns of the foregoing): (a) specifically acknowledges and agrees that, except for
the Express Representations, none of the Company, either Company Subsidiary, any Stockholder or any other Person is making and has not made any
representation or warranty, expressed or implied, at law or in equity, in respect of the Company, the Company Subsidiaries or any of their respective businesses,
assets, liabilities, operations, prospects or condition (financial or otherwise), including with respect to merchantability or fitness for any particular purpose of any
assets, the nature or extent of any liabilities, the prospects of the business, the effectiveness or the success of any operations, or the accuracy or completeness of any
confidential information memoranda, management presentations, projections, documents, material or other information (financial or otherwise) regarding the
Company and the Company Subsidiaries furnished or made available to any Parent Person in any data room, management presentation or in any other manner or
form in expectation of, or in connection with, the transactions contemplated hereby; (b) except for the Express Representations, specifically and irrevocably
disclaims that Parent is relying upon or has relied upon any such other representations or warranties that may have been made by any Person and acknowledges that
the Company, the Company Subsidiaries, the Stockholders and their respective Affiliates hereby specifically disclaim any such other representation or warranty
made by any Person; (c) specifically and irrevocably disclaims any obligation or duty by the Company, the Company Subsidiaries, the Stockholders and their
respective Affiliates or any other Person to make any disclosures of fact not required to be disclosed by the Express Representations; and (d) specifically
acknowledges and agrees that Parent is entering into this Agreement and acquiring the Company and the Company Subsidiaries subject only to the Express
Representations, all of which representations shall expire and terminate as set forth in Article VI . Without limiting the generality of any of the foregoing, Parent
(for itself and on behalf of the other Parent Persons and each of the successors and assigns of the foregoing) hereby agrees that: (i) except for the Express
Representations, none of the Company, the Company Subsidiaries, the Stockholders or any of their Affiliates or Agents makes any representation or warranty
regarding any third party beneficiary rights or other rights which Parent or any other Parent Person might claim under any studies, reports, tests or analyses
prepared by any third parties for the Company, the Company Subsidiaries or any of their Affiliates, even if the same were made available for review by the Parent
Persons; and (ii) none of the documents, information or other materials provided to Parent at any time or in any format by the Company, the Company Subsidiaries,
the Stockholders or any of their Affiliates or Agents constitutes legal advice and Parent (for itself and on behalf of the other Parent Persons and each of the
successors and assigns of the foregoing) waives all rights to assert that it received any legal advice therefrom or that it had any sort of attorney-client relationship
with any of such Persons.
Section 5.13
Notification . From the date hereof until the earlier to occur of the Closing and the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article VII
, (a) the Company shall disclose to Parent in writing any matter arising or discovered after the date hereof which would cause any of the conditions set forth in
Section 2.7(a) or Section 2.7(b) not to be satisfied on the day the Closing is required to occur pursuant to Section 2.3 , and (b) Parent shall disclose to the Company
in writing any matter arising or discovered after the date hereof which would cause any of the conditions set forth in Section 2.7(a) or Section 2.7(c) not to be
satisfied on the day the Closing is required to occur pursuant to Section 2.3 . No such disclosure shall eliminate the Company's or Parent's remedies hereunder or
right, if any, to terminate this Agreement; provided, however, that the failure to notify Parent or the Company of a breach of any representation or warranty or
covenant pursuant to this Section 5.13 shall not be deemed to constitute a failure of the condition set forth in Section 2.7(b)(i) or (c)(i) , as the case may be, to be
satisfied.
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Section 5.14
280G . Prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to submit to the Stockholders, for approval
by the Stockholders holding the number of Shares required by the terms of Section 280G(b)(5)(B) of the Code, a written consent in favor of a single proposal to
render the parachute payment provisions of Section 280G of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (collectively, " Section 280G ") inapplicable to any
and all payments or benefits provided pursuant to Employee Benefit Plans or other Contracts to which the Company or either Company Subsidiary is a party or is
otherwise bound that are reasonably likely to result, separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of any amount or the provision of any benefit that would not be
deductible by reason of Section 280G or that would be subject to an excise Tax under Section 4999 of the Code; provided that in no event shall this Section 5.14 be
construed to require the Company or either Company Subsidiary to compel any Person to waive any existing rights under any contract or agreement that such
Person has with the Company or such Company Subsidiary, and in no event shall the Company or either Company Subsidiary be deemed in breach of this Section
5.14 if any such Person refuses to waive any such rights or such stockholder approval is not obtained. Any such stockholder approval shall be sought by the
Company in a manner that satisfies all applicable requirements of Section 280G(b)(5)(B) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder, including Q-7 of
Section 1.280G-1 of the Treasury Regulations. The form and substance of all stockholder approval documents contemplated by this Section 5.14 , including the
waivers, shall be subject to the prior review and reasonable approval of Parent which will not be unreasonably delayed or withheld.
Section 5.15
Representations and Warranties Insurance . Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the R&W Policy at the Closing
consistent with the terms set forth in the conditional binder attached hereto as Exhibit 2 . The Company Group shall, and shall direct its Agents to, cooperate and
promptly provide the insurer under the R&W Policy and its attorneys with access to all information reasonably requested during normal business hours to complete
the due diligence process with respect to the R&W Policy (in a manner so as not to interfere with the normal business operations of the Company).
Section 5.16
Capitalization . Prior to the Closing, the Company shall deliver to Parent an updated Schedule 3.3(a)-1 to reflect the capitalization of the
Company as of the Closing and after giving effect to the SPV Merger, which shall be the basis for the Equityholder Payment Schedule.
ARTICLE VI
SURVIVAL; INDEMNIFICATION
Section 6.1
Survival . The representations and warranties of the Parties in this Agreement shall survive until, and shall expire upon, the first
anniversary of the Closing Date (" Expiration Date "); provided that, the Expiration Date for the Tax Representations and the Fundamental Representations shall be
the date that is eighteen months after the Closing Date. All covenants of the Parties and Representative requiring performance after the Closing contained herein
shall survive the Effective Time until such covenants are performed or performance thereof has been duly waived. Following the Effective Time, no Party shall be
entitled to any recovery under this Article VI in respect of any inaccuracy or breach of any representation or warranty or to make any claim in respect thereof
(whether in contract, in tort or at law or in equity) unless such claim is asserted with reasonable specificity (to the extent known at such time) in writing from the
non-breaching Party to the breaching Party on or prior to the applicable Expiration Date (whether or not a claim has been filed in court at the expiration of the
specified period of survival), in which case the representation or warranty pursuant to which an inaccuracy or breach has been claimed shall survive (but solely for
purposes of such claim) until the final resolution thereof.
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Section 6.2

General Indemnity .

(a)
Subject to the limitations, conditions and other provisions set forth in this Article VI , after the Effective Time, if Parent or the
Company Group or their respective stockholders, members, partners, officers, managers, directors or employees after the Effective Time (each a “ Parent
Indemnitee ”) suffers any Losses, whether or not involving a third party claim, arising out of any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty of the
Company contained in Article III (as qualified by the Schedules and without giving effect to any limitation or qualification on any representation or warranty
indicated by the words Material Adverse Effect, materially or material (which shall be disregarded both for purposes of determining the amount of any Losses
under this Article VI and the existence of any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty); provided that such materiality read-out shall not apply to
the representations and warranties contained in Section 3.5 (Financial Statements), the first sentence of Section 3.7 (Absence of Certain Changes), the first sentence
of Section 3.11(a) (Employee Benefit Plans), Section 3.17 (Customers and Suppliers) or the defined term " Material Contracts "), then subject to the Minimum
Claim Amount and Deductible (except for Fundamental Representations and Tax Representations, which are not subject to the Minimum Claim Amount and
Deductible) and Section 6.2(d) , Parent Indemnitees shall be entitled to recover such Losses from the Indemnity Escrow Amount until the Indemnity Escrow
Amount has been exhausted.
(b)
From and after the Effective Time, Parent shall indemnify the Equityholders for any Losses arising out of any breach of any
representation or warranty of Parent contained in Article IV or any non-fulfillment or breach of any covenant in this Agreement requiring performance after the
Effective Time by Parent or the Company.
(c)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, except with respect to Losses in respect of any third party claim
relating to any inaccuracy in or breach of the Fundamental Representations or to Losses relating to any inaccuracy in or breach of the Tax Representations (subject
to Section 5.8(b) ), Parent Indemnitees shall not be entitled to recover on any claim for indemnifiable Losses pursuant to Section 6.2(a) unless the Losses relating to
such claim (or series of claims arising from the same or substantially similar facts or circumstances) exceed $50,000 (" Minimum Claim Amount "); and if a claim
for indemnifiable Losses pursuant to Section 6.2(a) exceeds the Minimum Claim Amount, Parent Indemnitees shall not be entitled to recover such Losses unless
and until Parent Indemnitees have suffered indemnifiable Losses pursuant to Section 6.2(a) in aggregate in excess of $850,000 (" Deductible "), in which case
Parent Indemnitees shall be entitled to recover from the Indemnity Escrow Amount all Losses relating to such claim in excess of the Deductible up to but in no
event in excess of the Cap, in the aggregate.
(d)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in the event Parent Indemnitees incur Losses resulting from any
inaccuracy in or breach of any Fundamental Representation or any Tax Representation, Parent Indemnitees shall be entitled to recover such Losses from the
Indemnity Escrow Amount until the Indemnity Escrow Amount has been exhausted; provided, that in the event such Losses in respect of any inaccuracy in or
breach of Fundamental Representations exceeds the coverage under the R&W Policy (i.e., after exhausting the Indemnity Escrow Amount and the coverage then
available under the R&W Policy), then Parent Indemnitees shall be entitled to recover such excess Losses directly from the Equityholders on a several (and not
joint and several) basis; provided further, that in no event shall any Equityholder's liability in respect of such Losses exceed 95% of the net proceeds received by
such Equityholder.
(e)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement and solely if the matter set forth on Schedule 6.2(a) has not been
resolved or settled prior to Closing by the Company, the Special Indemnity Escrow shall be set aside to provide funds for the defense, settlement and payment of
amounts with respect to the matter set forth on Schedule 6.2(a) . Parent shall, in good faith and in reasonable consultation with John Shagoury, control the defense
and settlement of such matter on behalf of Parent, the Company Group and their respective Affiliates. For the avoidance of doubt, Parent shall not be required to
obtain the approval of John Shagoury with respect to Parent's handling of the defense or settlement of such matter. Upon any such settlement or final resolution of
such matter, Representative and Parent shall direct the Escrow Agent to pay from the Special Indemnity Escrow Amount the amounts payable for the defense,
settlement or payment of awards relating to such matter and any remaining amount shall be paid to the Paying Agent for further payment to the Equityholders
pursuant to Section 2.5 .
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(f)
Losses in respect of which Parent would otherwise be entitled to indemnification shall be offset by: (i) any amounts or benefits
actually received by Parent (whether in the form of cash, credit or some other beneficial arrangement) from any third party in respect of such Loss less the
reasonable costs incurred in obtaining such amounts or benefits; (ii) the aggregate amount of any insurance proceeds actually received by Parent (whether in the
form of cash or credit) in respect of such Loss less the reasonable costs incurred in obtaining such proceeds, provided that insurance proceeds actually received by
Parent under the R&W Policy shall not offset the portion of Losses which are not covered by the R&W Policy because they are less than the retention amount of
the R&W Policy; and (iii) the aggregate amount of any Tax benefit actually realized by Parent or the Company Group through a reduction in Taxes paid in respect
of such Loss in the year of Loss or the two subsequent years (in which case the amount of such offset under this clause (iii) shall be repaid to Representative on
behalf of Equityholders to the extent indemnification has already been paid to Parent on behalf of the Equityholders under Article VI ). In furtherance of the
foregoing, in respect of any Losses covered by insurance or for which an indemnity, contribution or other similar right against a third party is available, Parent and
the Company Group shall use commercially reasonable efforts to seek recovery under such insurance or indemnity, contribution or similar right (and, in the case of
the R&W Policy, consistent with this Article VI ).
(g)
Parent shall not be entitled to recover under Section 6.2(a) for any Losses: (i) consisting of or relating to Taxes with respect to any
Post-Closing Tax Period, as a result of any breach of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.13 (other than the representations and warranties set
forth in Section 3.13(h) ), including, consisting of or relating to Taxes incurred as a result of actions outside the Ordinary Course of Business taken after the
Closing; or (ii) consisting of or relating to Taxes that are due to the unavailability in any Post-Closing Tax Period of any net operating losses, credits or other Tax
attributes from a taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or prior to the Closing Date).
(h)
extent paid to a third party).

In no event shall any Party (or any successor or assign thereof) be entitled to any punitive or exemplary damages (except to the

(i)
For purposes of clarity, and notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, neither Parent nor the Company Group
shall be deemed to have suffered any Loss arising from any liability to the extent such liability was included in the determination of Final Working Capital, Final
Indebtedness or Final Transaction Expenses, as it is the intent of the Parties that the procedures set forth in Section 2.5 shall provide the sole and exclusive remedy
for claims relating thereto.
(j)
Parent shall provide Representative with written and reasonably detailed notice of any event, state of facts, circumstances or
developments of which Parent has knowledge that is reasonably likely to result in any claim for indemnification under Section 6.2(a) promptly after Parent has
knowledge of such potential claim. Representative shall provide Parent with written and reasonably detailed notice of any event, state of facts, circumstances or
developments of which Representative has knowledge that are reasonably likely to result in any claim for indemnification under Section 6.2(b) promptly after
Representative has knowledge of such potential claim. To the extent consistent with the common law doctrine of mitigation, Parent and the Company Group shall
take, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to take, all commercially reasonable steps to mitigate any Loss upon becoming aware of any event, state of facts,
circumstances or developments giving rise thereto and, to the extent curable without materially adversely affecting any relationship of Parent or the Company
Group with any senior employee, material customer, supplier or other Person having a material business relationship with any of them as determined in good faith
by Parent and Representative, Parent shall provide Representative and its Agents a reasonable opportunity to cure any breach. Parent shall control the defense of
any third party claim unless such third party claim is in respect of Taxes of the Company (including, but not limited to, any such claim in respect of a breach of the
representations and warranties in Section 3.13 hereof or any breach or violation of or failure to fully perform any covenant, agreement, undertaking or obligation in
Section 5.8 ) in which case control thereof shall be governed exclusively by Section 5.8 hereof. In no event shall Parent or the Company Group enter into (or permit
any Person to enter into) any settlement in respect of any third party claim that could result in any claim against the Indemnity Escrow Amount or against the
Equityholders under Section 6.2(d) without the prior written consent of Representative (such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
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(k)
Any amount finally determined to be due and owing under Section 6.2(a) shall be satisfied, subject to the Minimum Claim Amount
and Deductible (other than in respect of breaches of the Fundamental Representations or Tax Representations, which shall not be subject to the Minimum Claim
Amount or Deductible), solely from (A) first, the then-remaining balance of the Indemnity Escrow Amount, (B) second, the R&W Policy to the extent covered
thereby, subject, in each case, to the other limitations set forth in this Article VI and (C) third, solely with respect to Fundamental Representations, as provided in
Section 6.2(d) .
(l)

Any amount finally determined to be due and owing under Section 6.2(b) shall be satisfied directly by Parent or the Company

Group.
(m)
From and after the Closing, the sole and exclusive remedies for any and all claims arising under, out of, related to or in connection
with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be the remedies provided in Section 2.5 , Section 5.8 , this Section 6.2 , the last sentence of
Section 8.4 , Section 8.6 , Section 8.10(d) and good faith claims for Fraud, and no Person will have any other entitlement, remedy or recourse, whether in contract,
tort or otherwise against any Contracting Party or any other Person, it being agreed that all such other remedies, entitlements and recourse are expressly waived and
released by the Parties to the fullest extent permitted by law; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, this Section 6.2(m) shall not affect the rights of any party
under any Letter of Transmittal, OCA, restrictive covenant agreement, employment agreement, the Escrow Agreement or the Advisory Services Agreement
Termination Agreement entered into in connection with this Agreement, which shall be governed by the terms thereof and available remedies therein. For the
avoidance of doubt, no Party shall be entitled to a rescission of this Agreement (or any agreements contemplated hereby). The provisions of this Section 6.2(m) and
the limited remedies provided in Section 2.5 , Section 5.8 , this Section 6.2 , the last sentence of Section 8.4 , Section 8.6 and Section 8.10(d) were specifically
bargained for by the Parties and were taken into account by them in arriving at the Enterprise Value and the terms and conditions of this Agreement. For purposes
of clarity, with respect to any claim for Fraud (i) except in respect of the Sections 6.2(f) through (j) , the provisions of this Article VI shall not be applicable and (ii)
consistent with Section 6.2(f) , Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to seek recovery for any Losses against the R&W Policy or any other insurance of
the Parent or the Company Group to the fullest extent covered thereby.
(n)
On the first anniversary of the Closing Date, Parent and Representative shall jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to disburse to the
Paying Agent (for further payment to the Equityholders pursuant to Section 2.5(f) ) an aggregate amount equal to: (i) $850,000; minus (ii) the sum of (A) the
aggregate amount of all indemnifiable Losses paid from the Indemnity Escrow Amount prior to such first anniversary (if any) plus , (B) if applicable, the estimated
amount of any then-unresolved good faith claims, in each case, made solely in respect of any breach of any Fundamental Representations or any Tax
Representation under Section 6.2(d) prior to such date. On the date that is eighteen months after the Closing Date, Parent and Representative shall jointly instruct
the Escrow Agent to disburse to the Paying Agent (for further payment to the Equityholders pursuant to Section 2.5(f) ) an aggregate amount equal to the: (1) the
then-remaining balance of the Indemnity Escrow Amount; minus (2) the aggregate amount of all Losses specified or reasonably estimated in good faith in any thenunresolved good faith claims made in accordance with this Agreement prior to such date. Any such amount paid to the Equityholders shall be paid without interest
and as if such amounts had been included in the Closing Merger Consideration; provided that any amounts payable to the Option Holders shall be paid to the
Operating Company and the Operating Company shall pay such amounts to the Option Holders net of any applicable withholding amount pursuant to Section 2.4 ,
in each case as determined by the Operating Company and Representative. In respect of any amounts that are not released from the Indemnity Escrow Amount
because claims are pending or otherwise unresolved, any such amounts not paid with respect to any indemnification claim shall be released promptly upon the
settlement or resolution thereof and paid to the Paying Agent for further payment to the Equityholders pursuant to Section 2.5(f) ; provided that any amounts
payable to the Option Holders shall be paid net of the applicable withholding amount pursuant to Section 2.4 .
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ARTICLE VII
TERMINATION
Section 7.1

Termination . This Agreement may be terminated and the transactions contemplated hereby may be abandoned, at any time prior to the

Closing:
(a)

by mutual written consent of the Company and Parent;

(b)

by either Parent or the Company if:

(i)
any applicable Law is in effect making the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby illegal or any final and
non-appealable Order is in effect preventing the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; provided , however, that the right to
terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(b)(i) shall not be available to any Party whose breach of any of its representations,
warranties, or covenants contained in this Agreement results in or causes such Order or other action; or
(ii)
the Closing shall not have occurred on or prior to the date that is 45 calendar days following the date of this Agreement ("
End Date "); provided , however, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(b)(ii) shall not be available to any Party
that is then in material breach of any of its representations, warranties or covenants contained in this Agreement;
(c)
by the Company, if Parent breaches in any material respect any of its representations or warranties contained in this Agreement or
breaches or fails to perform in any material respect any of its covenants contained in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would render a
condition precedent to the Company's obligations to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby set forth in Section 2.7(a) or Section 2.7(c) not capable of
being satisfied and (ii) after the giving of written notice to Parent by the Company of such breach or failure to perform, cannot be cured or has not been cured by
the earlier of the End Date and 10 business days after the delivery of such notice; provided , however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section
7.1(c) shall not be available to the Company, if the Company is then in material breach of any of its representations, warranties or covenants contained in this
Agreement;
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(d)
by Parent, if the Company breaches in any material respect any of its representations or warranties contained in this Agreement or
breaches or fails to perform in any material respect any of its covenants contained in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would render a
condition precedent to Parent's obligations to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby set forth in Section 2.7(a) or Section 2.7(b) not capable of being
satisfied and (ii) after the giving of written notice to the Company by Parent of such breach or failure to perform, cannot be cured or has not been cured by the
earlier of the End Date and 10 business days after the delivery of such notice; provided , however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section
7.1(d) shall not be available to Parent if Parent is then in material breach of any of its representations, warranties or covenants contained in this Agreement;
(e)
by the Company, if (i) all of the conditions to Closing set forth in Section 2.7(a) and Section 2.7(c) were satisfied or waived as of the
date the Closing should have been consummated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement (other than those conditions that by their terms are to be satisfied at the
Closing and could have been satisfied or would have been waived assuming a Closing would occur), (ii) the Company has notified Parent that the Company is
ready, willing and able to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and (iii) Parent fails to complete the Closing within two business days after the
delivery of such notification; or
(f)

by Parent if the Stockholder Approval is not delivered to Parent within 48 hours following the execution of this Agreement.

Section 7.2
Effect of Termination . In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1 , this Agreement shall become void
and have no effect, and there shall be no liability hereunder on the part of any Party, except that Section 5.2 (Confidentiality), Section 5.5 (Press Release), Section
5.6 (Expenses), Article VIII (Miscellaneous) and this Section 7.2 shall survive any termination of this Agreement; provided , however no such termination shall
relieve any Party from any liability arising out of or incurred as a result of its breach in any material respect of the terms of this Agreement prior to such
termination.
ARTICLE VIII
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 8.1

Entire Agreement; Amendment; Severability; Counterparts .

(a)
This Agreement, together with the Exhibits, Annexes and Schedules hereto, contains the entire understanding of the Parties with
respect to the subject matter contained herein and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, oral and written, with respect thereto, other than the
Confidentiality Agreement.
(b)

This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by a written instrument executed by all Parties.

(c)
If any term, provision, covenant or restriction contained in this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction or other
authority to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions contained in this Agreement shall remain in full
force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated, and this Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction as if
such invalid, illegal or unenforceable term, provision, covenant or restriction or any portion thereof had never been contained herein. Upon such a determination,
the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to give effect to the original intent of the Parties as closely as possible in a reasonably
acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby may be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.
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(d)

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts and delivered via fax or email.

Section 8.2
Waiver . Subject to the express limitations herein, at any time prior to the Closing, (a) the Company may extend the time for the
performance of any of the obligations or other acts of Parent, or waive compliance by Parent with any covenant or condition thereof or a breach by Parent of any
representation or warranty contained herein and (b) Parent may extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the Company, or
waive compliance by the Company with any covenant or condition thereof or a breach by the Company of any representation or warranty contained herein. Any
agreement on the part of any Party or Representative to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by such Party
or Representative. No failure or delay on the part of any Party or Representative in the exercise of any right hereunder shall impair such right or be construed as a
waiver of, or acquiescence in, any breach of any representation, warranty or covenant contained herein, and no single or partial exercise of any such right shall
preclude other or further exercise thereof or of any other right.
Section 8.3

Non-Recourse; Releases .

(a)
All claims, obligations, liabilities or causes of action (whether in contract or in tort, in law or in equity or granted by statute) that
may be based upon, in respect of, arise under, out or by reason of, be connected with, or relate in any manner to this Agreement, or the negotiation, execution or
performance of this Agreement (including any representation or warranty made in, in connection with, or as an inducement to, this Agreement) and the transactions
contemplated hereby, may be made, subject to Section 2.5 , Section 5.8 , Article VI , this Section 8.3 , Section 8.10(d) , and, solely to the extent applicable to
Representative, the last sentence of Section 8.4 and Section 8.6 , only against (and such representations and warranties are those solely of) the Persons that are
expressly identified as Parties in the preamble to this Agreement (" Contracting Parties "). Except as provided in the provisos set forth in Section 6.2(d) , and postClosing covenants of Representative expressly set forth in this Agreement, no Person who is not a Contracting Party, including any past, present or future member,
partner, equityholder, Affiliate, Agent or assignee of, and any financial advisor or lender to, any Contracting Party, or any past, present or future member, partner,
equityholder, Affiliate, Agent or assignee of, and any financial advisor or lender to, any of the foregoing (collectively, " Nonparty Affiliates "), shall have any
liability (whether in contract or in tort, in law or in equity, or granted by statute) for any claims, obligations, liabilities or causes of action based upon, in respect of,
arising under, out or by reason of, in connection with, or relating in any manner to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby or based on, in respect
of or by reason of this Agreement or its negotiation, execution, performance or breach of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, and, to the
maximum extent permitted by law, each Contracting Party hereby waives and releases all such claims, obligations, liabilities and causes of action against any such
Nonparty Affiliates.
(b)
Effective as of the Effective Time, each of Parent, the Company and the Surviving Corporation on its own behalf and on behalf of
each of the Company Subsidiaries and their Affiliates and the successors and assigns of each of the foregoing (collectively, the “ Company Releasors ”) hereby
irrevocably and unconditionally waives, releases and forever discharges, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law, each Stockholder and former and
current director and officer of the Company Group and each other Person owing fiduciary duties to the Company Group at any time prior to and through the
Closing (collectively, the " Company Releasees ") of and from any and all liabilities and obligations to, or Actions, claims, causes of action and demands by, such
Company Releasor of any kind or nature whatsoever, whether in law or in equity, whether known or unknown to such Company Releasor, whether absolute or
contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, in respect of any cause, matter or thing relating to the Company Group or its Business and occurring, existing or arising up
until and through the Closing, including arising out of such Company Releasee's ownership of capital stock of the Company or service as a director, officer or
fiduciary of the Company Group; provided that the Company Releasors do not release (i) any Equityholder in respect of the provisos set forth in Section 6.2(d) or
such Equityholder's Letter of Transmittal or OCA, as applicable, (ii) any employee or former employee of the Company Group in respect of any (x) restrictive
covenant agreement, invention or intellectual property assignment or license agreement, confidentiality agreement or employment agreement to which such
employee or former employee is bound or (y) outstanding loan or advanced amount payable by such employee or former employee to the Company Group, (iii)
Representative, in respect of the post-Closing covenants of Representative expressly set forth in this Agreement or (iv) PCP L.P., in respect of the Advisory
Services Agreement Termination Agreement (it being understood that each of the foregoing agreements shall be governed by their terms).
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(c)
As part of the consideration for and as a condition to Parent's entry into this Agreement, effective as of the Effective Time, each
Stockholder, on its, his or her own behalf and, to the extent applicable, on behalf of its, his or her heirs, administrators, executors, successors and assigns
(collectively, the “ Stockholder Releasors ”) hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, releases and forever discharges, to the fullest extent permitted under
applicable Law, the Company Group and its Affiliates, successors and assigns and each of their respective current and former directors, officers, employees,
partners, members, shareholders, successors and assigns (collectively, the " Stockholder Releasees ") of and from any and all liabilities and obligations to, or
Actions, claims, causes of action and demands by, such Stockholder Releasor of any kind or nature whatsoever, whether in law or in equity, whether known or
unknown to such Stockholder Releasor, whether absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, in respect of any cause, matter or thing relating to the Company
Group or its business and occurring, existing or arising up until and through the Closing, provided that this waiver, release and discharge is given solely with
respect to such Stockholder's ownership of equity interests in the Company and the Company Subsidiaries, and provided, further that the Stockholder Releasors do
not release any rights such Stockholder has under this Agreement or under any Letter of Transmittal, Escrow Agreement, OCA, restrictive covenant agreement or
employment agreement or other agreement entered into in connection with this Agreement.
Section 8.4
Binding Effect; Benefit; Assignment; Prevailing Party . This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties
and, except as expressly set forth herein, including in respect of Section 5.4 , Article VI , Section 8.3 , Section 8.6 and Section 8.10 , nothing in this Agreement,
express or implied, is intended to or shall confer any other Person any rights, benefits or remedies of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.
Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any of the Parties without the prior written consent of each of
the other Parties (and in the case of the Company, without the prior written consent of Representative); provided , however, that Representative may assign its
rights and obligations under this Agreement to any of its Affiliates ( provided , however, that any such assignment shall not relieve Representative of any liability
or obligation in connection with this Agreement) without prior written consent and Parent may assign its rights under this Agreement to any of its Affiliates (
provided , however, that any such assignment shall not relieve Parent of any liability or obligation in connection with this Agreement). Any attempted assignment
in violation of this Section 8.4 will be void. The party prevailing in any Action under this Agreement against the other party shall be entitled to recover from the
non-prevailing party, in addition to any damages the prevailing party may have been awarded, all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket attorneys' fees and
expenses that the prevailing party may have incurred in connection with such Action (it being understood that the intent of this provision is to discourage claims not
made in good faith or otherwise made for an improper purpose by awarding the party prevailing in such litigation attorneys' fees incurred thereby).
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Section 8.5
Applicable Law; Waiver of Jury Trial . This Agreement and the legal relations between the Parties shall be governed by and construed
in accordance with the Laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the conflict of laws rules thereof, except that the DGCL shall apply to the extent required
in connection with the Merger. The state and federal courts located within the state of Delaware shall have exclusive jurisdiction over any and all disputes between
the parties, whether in law or in equity, arising out of or relating to this Agreement and the agreements, instruments and documents contemplated hereby and the
Parties and Representative consent to and agree to subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts. The Parties and Representative hereby waive to the fullest
extent permitted by applicable Law, and shall not assert in any such dispute, any claim that (a) such Party or Representative is not personally subject to the
jurisdiction of such courts, (b) such Party or Representative and such Party's or Representative's property is immune from any legal process issued by such courts or
(c) any Action commenced in such courts is brought in an inconvenient forum. The mailing of process of other papers in connection with any such Action in the
manner provided in Section 8.12 (or in such other manner as may be permitted by law) shall be valid and sufficient service thereof and the Parties and
Representative hereby waive any objections to service accomplished in the manner provided herein. The Parties and Representative hereby irrevocably waive all
right to a trial by jury in any Action or counterclaim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.
Section 8.6
Specific Enforcement . The Parties and Representative hereby stipulate that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any
provision of this Agreement is not performed in accordance with its specific terms or is otherwise breached or threatened to be breached and that an award of
money damages would be inadequate in such event. Accordingly, it is acknowledged that the Parties, Representative and the third party beneficiaries of this
Agreement shall be entitled to equitable relief, without proof of actual damages, including an injunction or Orders for specific performance to prevent breaches of
this Agreement (including any Order sought by any Party or Representative to cause the other Parties or Representative to perform their obligations and covenants
contained in this Agreement) and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement, in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at
law or in equity as a remedy for any such breach or threatened breach. Each Party and Representative further agrees that no other Party or any other Person shall be
required to obtain, furnish or post any bond or similar instrument in connection with or as a condition to obtaining any remedy referred to in this Section 8.6 and
each Party and Representative hereby irrevocably waives any right it may have to require the obtaining, furnishing or posting of any such bond or similar
instrument. The only objection that a Party or Representative may raise in response to any Action for equitable relief is that such Party or Representative contests
the existence of a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement. For purposes of clarity, Equityholders are third party beneficiaries to this Agreement by virtue of
the Merger Consideration that they are entitled to receive and for the purposes of seeking specific performance and other remedies to which they are entitled at law
or in equity, it being understood that this Agreement may be enforced for the benefit of Equityholders by the Company and Representative.
Section 8.7
Rules of Construction . The parties have been represented by counsel during the negotiation and execution of this Agreement and have
participated jointly in the drafting of this Agreement and, therefore, waive the application of any law, holding or rule of construction providing that ambiguities in
an agreement or other document will be construed against the party drafting such agreement or document. Exhibits, Annexes and Schedules to this Agreement are
attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein for all purposes. Any reference in this Agreement to an "Article," "Exhibit," "Annex," "Section" or
"Schedule" refers to the corresponding Article, Exhibit, Section or Schedule of or to this Agreement, unless expressly provided otherwise. The table of contents and
the headings of Articles, Annexes, Exhibits and Sections of this Agreement are for convenience only, do not constitute any part of this Agreement and shall be
disregarded in construing the language herein. The words "this Agreement," "herein," "hereby," "hereunder" and "hereof," and words of similar import, refer to this
Agreement as a whole and not to any particular subdivision unless expressly so limited. The word "including" (in its various forms) means "including without
limitation." Where this Agreement states that a Party or Representative "shall," "will" or "must" perform in some manner or otherwise act or omit to act, it means
the Party or Representative is legally obligated to do so in accordance with this Agreement. Any reference to a statute is deemed also to refer to any amendments or
successor legislation as in effect at the relevant time and any reference to any law includes the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Any reference to an
agreement or other document as of a given date means the agreement or other document as amended, supplemented and modified from time to time through such
date; provided that each such amendment, supplement or modification is disclosed to the other Parties to this Agreement. All references to "$" and dollars shall be
deemed to refer to U.S. currency unless otherwise specifically provided.
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Section 8.8
Schedules . Matters reflected in the schedules attached hereto (" Schedules ") are not necessarily limited to matters required by this
Agreement to be reflected in the Schedules. To the extent any such additional matters are included, they are included for informational purposes and do not
necessarily include other matters of a similar nature. Headings and subheadings have been inserted in the Schedules for convenience of reference only and shall not
have the effect of amending or changing the express description thereof as set forth in this Agreement. Disclosure of any fact or item in this Agreement or any
Schedule referenced by a particular Section in this Agreement shall be deemed to have been disclosed with respect to every other Section in this Agreement to the
extent that it is reasonably apparent from the face of such disclosure that such disclosure would apply to such other Sections. Neither the specification of any dollar
amount in the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement nor the inclusion of any specific item in any Schedule is intended to imply that such
amounts, higher or lower amounts, or the item so included or other items, are or are not material or are within or outside the Ordinary Course of Business, and no
Party shall use the fact of the setting forth of such amounts or the fact of the inclusion of any such item in any Schedule in any dispute or controversy between the
Parties as to whether any obligation, item or matter is or is not required to be disclosed (including, whether such amounts or items are or are not material), or may
constitute an event or condition which could be considered to have a Material Adverse Effect. No matter or item disclosed on a Schedule admitting or indicating a
possible breach or violation of any Contract, law or Order shall be construed as an admission or indication that an actual breach or violation exists, has actually
occurred or will occur. The Parties do not assume any responsibility to any Person that is not a party to this Agreement for the accuracy of any information set forth
in the Schedules. Subject to applicable law, the information on the Schedules is disclosed in confidence for the purposes contemplated in this Agreement and is
subject to the confidentiality provisions of any other agreements, including the Confidentiality Agreement, entered into by the Parties or their Affiliates. Moreover,
without limiting the rights of the other Parties to this Agreement with respect to such information, in disclosing the information in the Schedules, each Party
expressly does not waive any attorney-client privilege associated with such information or any protection afforded by the work-product doctrine with respect to any
of the matters disclosed or discussed therein.
Section 8.9
Time of the Essence . Time is of the essence in this Agreement. If the date specified for giving any notice or taking any action is not a
business day (or if the period during which any notice is required to be given or any action taken expires on a date which is not a business day), then the date for
giving such notice or taking such action (and the expiration date of such period during which notice is required to be given or action taken) shall be the next date
which is a business day.
Section 8.10

Representative .

(a)
At the Effective Time, and without further act of any Equityholder, Representative shall be appointed as the exclusive agent and
attorney-in-fact to act on behalf of each Equityholder, in connection with and to facilitate the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, which shall
include the power and authority to (i) negotiate, execute and deliver such waivers, consents and amendments under this Agreement and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby as Representative, in its sole discretion, may deem necessary or desirable, (ii) enforce and protect the rights and interests of the
Equityholders, (iii) take any and all actions, or waive or refrain from enforcing any and all rights, which Representative believes are necessary, reasonable or
appropriate under this Agreement for and on behalf of the Equityholders including, consenting to, compromising or settling any such claims, conducting
negotiations with Parent, the Surviving Corporation and their respective Agents regarding such claims and any other actions that Representative may consider
necessary or proper or convenient in connection with, or to carry out the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement, (iv) engage outside counsel, accountants
and other advisors and incur such other expenses on behalf of the Equityholders in connection with any matter arising under this Agreement and (v) collect, hold
and disburse the Indemnity Escrow Amount, Adjustment Escrow Amount, the Expense Holdback Amount and, solely to the extent the matter set forth on Schedule
6.2(a) is not resolved and all claims related thereto satisfied or released prior to the Closing, the Special Indemnity Escrow Amount in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement. The grant of authority provided for herein (A) is coupled with an interest and shall be irrevocable and survive the death, incompetency, bankruptcy
or liquidation of any Equityholder and (B) shall survive the consummation of the Merger, and any action taken by Representative pursuant to the authority granted
in this Agreement shall be effective and binding on each Equityholder notwithstanding any contrary action of or direction from such Equityholder.
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(b)
Representative shall be entitled to receive reimbursement from, and be indemnified by, the Equityholders for certain expenses,
charges and liabilities as provided below. In connection with this Agreement, and in exercising or failing to exercise all or any of the powers conferred upon
Representative hereunder, (i) Representative shall incur no responsibility whatsoever to any Equityholders by reason of any act or omission performed or omitted
hereunder, excepting only responsibility for any act or failure to act which represents willful misconduct in bad faith and (ii) Representative shall be entitled to rely
on the advice of counsel, accountants or other independent experts experienced in the matter at issue, and any act or omission of Representative pursuant to such
advice shall in no event subject Representative to liability to any Equityholder. Each Equityholder shall indemnify, severally and not jointly, based on such
Equityholder's portion of the Merger Consideration, Representative against all Losses, damages, liabilities, claims, obligations, costs and expenses, including
reasonable attorneys', accountants' and other experts' fees and the amount of any judgment against them, of any nature whatsoever, arising out of or relating to any
acts or omissions of Representative hereunder. The foregoing indemnification shall not apply in the event of any lawsuit which finally adjudicates the liability of
Representative hereunder for its willful misconduct in bad faith. Representative shall have the right to recover, at its sole discretion, from the Expense Holdback
Amount, prior to any distribution to the Equityholders, any amounts to which it is entitled pursuant to the expense reimbursement and indemnification provisions of
this Section 8.10(b) . All of the indemnities, immunities and powers granted to Representative under this Agreement shall survive the Effective Time or any
termination of this Agreement.
(c)
Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall have the right to conclusively rely upon all actions taken or omitted to be taken by
Representative pursuant to this Agreement, all of which actions or omissions shall be legally binding upon the Equityholders. Parent, Merger Sub and the Surviving
Corporation are hereby relieved from any liability to any Person (including any Equityholder) for any acts done by them in accordance with any written notice,
consent or instruction of Representative.
(d)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, each of the Company, Merger Sub and Parent acknowledges and agrees that
Representative is a party to this Agreement solely to perform certain administrative functions in connection with the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby. Accordingly, Representative shall have no liability to, and shall not be liable for any Losses of, any of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub in
connection with any obligations of Representative under this Agreement or otherwise in respect of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, in each
case, in its capacity as Representative, except to the extent such Losses shall be proven to be the direct result of the knowing and willful breach of this Agreement
by Representative or willful misconduct in bad faith by Representative in connection with the performance of its obligations hereunder.
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Section 8.11

Legal Representation .

(a)
Parent and the Company hereby expressly agree, on behalf of themselves and the Surviving Corporation, its Affiliates and
subsidiaries and their respective current and future members, partners, equityholders, Agents and each of the successors and assigns of the foregoing (all such
Persons, “ Waiving Parties ”), that Kirkland & Ellis LLP (or any successor thereto) may represent Representative, any Equityholder or any other Nonparty Affiliate
in connection with any dispute, litigation, claim, proceeding or obligation arising out of or relating to this Agreement, any agreement entered into in connection
herewith or the transactions contemplated hereby (any such representation, “ Post-Closing Representation ”) notwithstanding its representation of the Company
Group prior to the Closing, and each of Parent and the Company on their own behalf and on behalf of the Waiving Parties hereby consents thereto and irrevocably
waives (and will not assert) any conflict of interest or any objection arising therefrom or relating thereto. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision
hereof, no conflict of interest or objection is waived arising from any representation other than solely representation of the Company Group prior to the Closing.
(b)
Parent and the Company, on behalf of themselves and the Waiving Parties, hereby acknowledge and agree that all Sale Materials are
the exclusive property of Representative and, as such, Representative shall have exclusive control over access, disclosure and use thereof. In furtherance of the
foregoing, Parent and the Company (on behalf of themselves and the Waiving Parties) hereby stipulate that in no event shall any Sale Materials be admissible by
any of them (or any other Person purporting to act on behalf thereof or any of the other Waiving Parties) in any action or proceeding.
(c)
Parent and the Company, on behalf of themselves and the Waiving Parties, hereby acknowledge and agree that all emails and other
communications that are subject to the attorney-client privilege and/or the attorney work product doctrine among Kirkland & Ellis LLP, the Company Group,
Representative, any Equityholder or any other Nonparty Affiliate made in connection with, and concerning the subject matter of, the negotiation, preparation,
execution, delivery and performance under, or any dispute or proceeding arising out of or relating to, the sale process, this Agreement, any agreement entered into
in connection herewith, the transactions contemplated hereby or any matter relating to any of the foregoing, are privileged communications and the attorney-client
privilege and the expectation of client confidence belongs solely to Representative, Equityholder and/or other Nonparty Affiliate, as applicable, and, subject to the
exceptions set forth below, shall be exclusively controlled thereby and shall not pass to or be claimed by Parent, the Surviving Corporation or a Company
Subsidiary thereof and from and after the Closing none of Parent, the Surviving Corporation, a Company Subsidiary thereof or any other Person purporting to act
on behalf thereof or any of the Waiving Parties will seek to obtain the same by any process. From and after the Closing, Parent and the Company, on behalf of
themselves and the Waiving Parties, hereby waive and will not assert any attorney client privilege with respect to any files, emails or other communications.
Section 8.12
Notices . Except as otherwise provided herein, all notices, requests, claims, demands, waivers and other communications hereunder shall
be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service or sent by email as set forth below:
if, prior to the Closing, to the Company, at:
Eliza Holding Corp.
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75 Sylvan Street
Danvers, Massachusetts 01923
Fax: 978-777-7963
Attn:
John Shagoury
Email:
jshagoury@elizacorp.com
with copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:
c/o Parthenon Capital Partners
One Federal Street, 21st Floor
Boston, Massachusetts 02110
Fax: 617-960-4010
Attn:
General Counsel
Email:
p.marnoto@parthenoncapital.com
and
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
555 California Street
San Francisco, California 94104
Attention:
Jeffrey Seifman, P.C.
Benjamin P. Clinger, P.C.
Joseph K. Halloum
Email:
jeffrey.seifman@kirkland.com
benjamin.clinger@kirkland.com
joseph.halloum@kirkland.com
if to Representative, to:
c/o Parthenon Capital Partners
One Federal Street, 21st Floor
Boston, Massachusetts 02110
Fax: 617-960-4010
Attn:
General Counsel
Email:
p.marnoto@parthenoncapital.com
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
555 California Street
San Francisco, California 94104
Attention:
Jeffrey Seifman, P.C.
Benjamin P. Clinger, P.C.
Joseph K. Halloum
Email:
jeffrey.seifman@kirkland.com
benjamin.clinger@kirkland.com
joseph.halloum@kirkland.com
if to Parent or, after the Closing, the Surviving Corporation, at:
HMS Holdings Corp.
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5615 High Point Drive
Irving, Texas 75038
Fax: 214-253-3281
Attention:
Chief Financial Officer
Email:
jeff.sherman@hms.com
with copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:
HMS Holdings Corp.
5615 High Point Drive
Irving, Texas 75038
Fax: 214-313-1217
Attention:
General Counsel
Email:
meredith.bjorck@hms.com
and
Stinson Leonard Street LLP
1201 Walnut Street
Suite 2900
Kansas City, Missouri 64106
Attention:
Jim Swenson
Scott Gootee
Email:
jim.swenson@stinson.com
scott.gootee@stinson.com
Any party may specify by written notice in accordance with this Section 8.12 to each of the other parties a different email or physical address at any time. Written
notice shall be effective and deemed to have been given (a) when sent by email before 6:00 p.m. Eastern Time on any business day, on such business day, (b) when
sent by email between 6:00 p.m. and midnight Eastern Time on any business day or at any time on a day that is not a business day, on the next business day and (c)
when delivered by overnight courier service, on the business day such notice is delivered.
*

*

*
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*

*

Each of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company and Representative has executed this Agreement and Plan of Merger as of the date first above written.
ELIZA HOLDING CORP.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ John Shagoury
John Shagoury
Chief Executive Officer

PARTHENON INVESTORS III, L.P.,
solely in its capacity as the Representative
By: PCap Partners III, LLC, its General Partner
By: PCap III, LLC, its Managing Member
By: PCP Managers, LLC, its Managing Member
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Dave Ament
Dave Ament
Managing Partner

HMS HOLDINGS CORP.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Jeffrey S. Sherman
Jeffrey S. Sherman
Executive Vice President,
Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer

ECHO ACQUISITION SUB, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Jeffrey S. Sherman
Jeffrey S. Sherman
Executive Vice President,
Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]

List of Schedules and Similar Attachments Omitted from Agreement and Plan of Merger

ANNEXES
Annex A
Annex B
Annex C

Stockholders and Option Holders
Permitted Liens Schedule
Working Capital Schedule

EXHIBITS
Exhibit 1
Exhibit 2
Exhibit 3
Exhibit 4
Exhibit 5
Exhibit 6
Exhibit 7

Form of Escrow Agreement
R&W Policy Conditional Binder
Form of Company Merger Certificate
Form of Letter of Transmittal
Form of Option Cancelation Acknowledgement
Board Resolutions Re: 401(k) Termination
Advisory Services Agreement Termination Agreement

SCHEDULES
Schedule 2.3
Schedule 3.1
Schedule 3.2
Schedule 3.3
Schedule 3.5
Schedule 3.7
Schedule 3.8
Schedule 3.10
Schedule 3.11
Schedule 3.12
Schedule 3.13
Schedule 3.14
Schedule 3.16
Schedule 3.17
Schedule 3.18
Schedule 3.19
Schedule 3.21
Schedule 3.22
Schedule 5.1
Schedule 6.2

Closing Deliverables; Payments
Due Organization, Power and Qualification
Authorization; Charter Documents; Noncontravention
Capitalization
Financial Statements
Absence of Certain Changes
Compliance with Laws
Litigation
Employee Benefit Plans
Labor Matters
Tax Matters
Intellectual Property Rights
Related Party Transactions
Customers and Suppliers
Material Contracts
Insurance
Real Property
Healthcare and Privacy Regulatory Compliance
Interim Covenants
General Indemnity

Upon request, the company agrees to furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission a copy of any omitted schedule or similar attachment to
the Agreement and Plan of Merger; provided, however, that the company may request confidential treatment of omitted items prior to any public disclosure.

Exhibit 10.1
Execution Version
AMENDMENT NO. 1
AMENDMENT NO. 1, dated as of March 8, 2017 (this “ Amendment ”), by and among HMS Holdings Corp. (the “ Borrower ”), the
subsidiaries of the Borrower party hereto (the “ Guarantors ”), and the Lenders (as defined below) party hereto, to the Credit Agreement referred to below.
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Guarantors, the financial institutions from time to time party thereto (the “ Lenders ”) and Citibank, N.A., as
administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, the “ Administrative Agent ”) are parties to that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of
May 3, 2013 (the “ Credit Agreement ”), pursuant to which the Lenders have agreed to make, and have made, certain loans and other extensions of credit to the
Borrower; and
WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested, and the Lenders and the Administrative Agent have agreed, to amend Section 6.01 of the Credit
Agreement as set forth herein.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Section 1.
Definitions . Unless otherwise defined herein, terms defined in the Credit Agreement (as amended pursuant to Section 2 below) and used herein shall
have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement.
Section 2.

Amendments . The Credit Agreement is hereby amended, effective as of the date hereof as follows:

(a) The lead-in paragraph to Section 6.01 is hereby amended by deleting the phrase “the Administrative Agent and each Lender” therefrom and inserting
in lieu thereof the following phrase “the Administrative Agent (which shall promptly furnish to each Lender)”.
(b) Section 6.01(a) is hereby amended by inserting the following language immediately following the phrase “within 90 days”:
“(or, in the case of the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2016, within 180 days)”.
(c) Section 6.01(b) is hereby amended by inserting the following language immediately following the phrase “within 45 days”:
“(or, in the case of the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2017, simultaneously with the delivery of the audit for the Fiscal Year ended December
31, 2016 as required by Section 6.01(a) hereof)”
(d) The definition of “Arrangers” is hereby amended by inserting the following language immediately following the phrase “Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner
& Smith Incorporated”:
“(or any other registered broker-dealer wholly owned by Bank of America Corporation to which all or substantially all of Bank of America
Corporation’s or any of its subsidiaries’ investment banking, commercial lending services or related businesses may be transferred following the date of this
Agreement)”

Section 3. Effectiveness . This Amendment shall become effective as of the date first written above upon receipt by the Administrative Agent of duly executed
counterparts signature pages to this Amendment by each the Required Lenders, the Borrower and the Guarantors.
Section 4. Representations and Warranties . By its execution of this Amendment, each Loan Party hereby represents and warrants (x) that this Amendment
has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by it and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Loan Party, enforceable against such Loan Party
in accordance with its terms, subject to (i) the effects of bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization, fraudulent conveyance or other similar laws affecting
creditors’ rights generally, (ii) general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or in equity) and (iii) implied
covenants of good faith and fair dealing, (y) after giving effect to this Agreement, no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and (z) all of the
representations and warranties contained in Article IV of the Credit Agreement are true and correct as of the date hereof in all material respects, unless such
representation or warranty relates to a prior date, in which case, such representation and warranty shall be true and correct in all material respects as of that date.
Section 5.

Effect of Amendment.

(a) Except as expressly set forth herein, this Amendment shall not by implication or otherwise limit, impair, constitute a waiver of or otherwise affect
the rights and remedies of the Lenders or the Administrative Agent under the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, and shall not alter, modify, amend or
in any way affect any of the terms, conditions, obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the Credit Agreement or any other provision of the Credit
Agreement or of any other Loan Document, all of which are ratified and affirmed in all respects and shall continue in full force and effect (including the
Obligations of the Guarantee under Article III of the Credit Agreement) and the validity of Liens granted by each Loan Party pursuant to the Security Documents to
which it is party. Nothing herein shall be deemed to entitle any Loan Party to a consent to, or a waiver, amendment, modification or other change of, any of the
terms, conditions, obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document in similar or different circumstances. This
Amendment shall not constitute a novation of the Loan Agreement or any of the Loan Documents.
(b) On and after the date hereof, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof”, “herein”, or words of like import,
and each reference to the Credit Agreement in any other Loan Document shall be deemed a reference to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby. This
Amendment shall constitute a “Loan Document” for all purposes of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents.
Section 6.

General.

(a) GOVERNING LAW . THIS AMENDMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES UNDER THIS AMENDMENT
SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.
SECTIONS 10.12 AND 10.13 OF THE CREDIT AGREEMENT ARE HEREBY INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO THIS AMENDMENT AND
SHALL APPLY HERETO.
(b) Costs and Expenses . The Borrower agrees to reimburse the Administrative Agent for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection with this
Amendment, including the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of counsel for the Administrative Agent.
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(c) Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the parties to this Amendment on any number of separate counterparts, and all
of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed signature page of this Amendment by email
or facsimile transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof.
(d) Headings . The headings of this Amendment are used for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Amendment and shall not affect the
construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Amendment.
[remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered by their respective duly authorized
officers as of the day and year first above written.

HMS HOLDINGS CORP., as Borrower

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Jeffrey S. Sherman
Jeffrey S. Sherman
EVP, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

GUARANTORS:
ALLIED MANAGEMENT GROUP SPECIAL INVESTIGATION UNIT, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Jeffrey S. Sherman
Jeffrey S. Sherman
EVP, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

ESSETTE, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Jeffrey S. Sherman
Jeffrey S. Sherman
EVP, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

HEALTH MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Jeffrey S. Sherman
Jeffrey S. Sherman
EVP, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

[HMS – Signature Page to Amendment No. 1]

HEALTHDATAINSIGHTS, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Gary Call
Gary Call
Interim President

HMS CARE ANALYTICS, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Jeffrey S. Sherman
Jeffrey S. Sherman
EVP, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

INTEGRIGUARD, LLC

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Michele Carpenter
Michele Carpenter
Senior Vice President

PERMEDION, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Jeffrey S. Sherman
Jeffrey S. Sherman
EVP, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

[HMS – Signature Page to Amendment No. 1]

CITIBANK, N.A.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Alvaro De Velasco
Alvaro De Velasco
Vice President

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Amie L. Edwards
Amie L. Edwards
Senior Vice President

BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY, as Lender

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Sterling B. Pierce, III
Sterling B. Pierce, III
Senior Vice President

CITIZENS BANK, N.A.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Prasanna Manyem
Prasanna Manyem
Vice President

FIFTH THIRD BANK

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Vera B. McEvoy
Vera B. McEvoy
VP

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Gregory T. Martin
Gregory T. Martin
Executive Director

[HMS – Signature Page to Amendment No. 1]

MIZUHO BANK, LTD.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Bertram H. Tang
Bertram H. Tang
Authorized Signatory

MUFG UNION BANK, N.A.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Scott O’Connell
Scott O’Connell
Director

SUNTRUST BANK
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Tyler Stephens
Tyler Stephens
Vice President

TD BANK, N.A.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Shivani Agarwal
Shivani Agarwal
Senior Vice President

[HMS – Signature Page to Amendment No. 1]

Exhibit 31.1
Certification
I, William C. Lucia, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of HMS Holdings Corp.;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date:

June 6, 2017

/s/ WILLIAM C. LUCIA
William C. Lucia
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
Certification
I, Jeffrey S. Sherman, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of HMS Holdings Corp.;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date:

June 6, 2017

/s/ JEFFREY S. SHERMAN
Jeffrey S. Sherman
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
Certification Pursuant To 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 As Adopted Pursuant To Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of HMS Holdings Corp. (the “ Company ”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31,
2017 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ Report ”), I, William C. Lucia, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)
the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
/s/ WILLIAM C. LUCIA
William C. Lucia
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
June 6, 2017

Exhibit 32.2
Certification Pursuant To 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 As Adopted Pursuant To Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of HMS Holdings Corp. (the “ Company ”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31,
2017 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ Report ”), I, Jeffrey S. Sherman, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)
the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
/s/ JEFFREY S. SHERMAN
Jeffrey S. Sherman
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
June 6, 2017

